

A Framework for Countering Organized Crime

Strategy, Planning, and the Lessons of Irregular Warfare

David H. Ucko and Thomas A. Marks



A Framework for Countering Organized Crime

A Framework for Countering Organized Crime: Strategy, Planning, and the Lessons of Irregular Warfare

David H. Ucko and Thomas A. Marks



National Defense University Press Washington, D.C. July 2025 Opinions, conclusions, and recommendations expressed or implied within are solely those of the contributors and do not necessarily represent the views of the North Atlantic Treaty Organization, U.S. Defense Department, or any other agency of the Federal Government. Cleared for public release; distribution unlimited.

Portions of this work may be quoted or reprinted without permission, provided that a standard source credit line is included. NDU Press would appreciate a courtesy copy of reprints or reviews.

Cover: Title page of *Le Petit Journal*, October 20, 1907, with original caption translated as, "The Apache is the sore of Paris. More than 30,000 prowlers against 8,000 city policemen."

First printing: July 2025

Contents

Acknowledgments1
Executive Summary
Chapter 1: Introduction5
Chapter 2: Countering Terrorism, Insurgency, and Crime:
Common Hurdles and Lessons11
Chapter 3: Introducing the Irregular Warfare Lens and the
Framework for Analysis and Action41
Chapter 4: The Strategic Estimate of the Situation57
Chapter 5: The Strategic Response73
Chapter 6: A Comparative Evaluation of the Framework for
Analysis and Action
Chapter 7: Conclusion
Appendix: User's Guide: The Framework for Analysis and Action 103
Notes 113
About the Authors

Acknowledgments

The approach discussed in this monograph would not be what it is without the interaction and engagement provided by two sources of inspiration. First, we are indebted to the Serious Organised Crime & Anti-Corruption Evidence (SOC ACE) Research Programme and the stimulating guidance and interaction provided by Professor Heather Marquette and her team at the University of Birmingham, and by Tom Rodwell. Second, our time at the College of International Security Affairs (CISA) of the National Defense University in Washington, DC, provided the ideal opportunity to discuss and refine our ideas with an international network of irregular warfare practitioners. Among CISA's faculty, this latest work has benefited significantly from the fortunate secondment of Scott Douglas, from the Naval War College, and Erol Smith, from the National Counterterrorism Center.

By way of disclaimer, the positions represented herein do not necessarily represent those of our respective employers, the North Atlantic Treaty Organization and the U.S. Department of Defense (or any of its components). The SOC ACE Research Programme is funded by the United Kingdom (UK) Foreign, Commonwealth & Development Office. The views expressed here also do not necessarily reflect the UK Government's official policies.

Executive Summary

States continue to struggle in their efforts to counter organized crime. Despite states having scored successes at the operational level, organized crime has proven too adaptable and too resilient to be seriously affected. Instead, ground has been lost politically, societally, and even territorially to armed gangs, cartels, and other illicit structures. The result is a steady erosion of the rule of law, of norms of sovereignty, of governance, and of human security.

This monograph is based on the urgent need for a more effective response to organized crime. Its key contributions are twofold. First, it applies an "irregular warfare" lens to the problem of organized crime. This lens helps situate the divergent criminal activity within its crucial political context. It frames "threat actors" not as isolated problems but as symptoms of a socioeconomic-political system that must be understood and addressed. Treating legitimacy as the strategic center of gravity, irregular warfare focuses attention on the political drivers of illicit behavior, the contested narratives among the actors involved, and the need for a broader response than typically employed.

Second, we propose an analytical framework, designed for irregular warfare challenges, to aid practitioners in their assessment of, and their response to, organized crime. This approach—the Framework for Analysis and Action—builds on an instructional method long used within the College of International Security Affairs at the U.S. National Defense University in Washington, DC, to prepare practitioners for insurgency, terrorism, and state-based subversion. It has proven utility, both in the classroom and in the field. Here, it is adapted specifically for organized crime, to guide the analysis and planning of those who are charged with responding to this challenge.

The Framework for Analysis and Action offers a sequence of prompts, informed by two decades of recent analytical experience with irregular warfare. It consists of two parts: the Strategic Estimate of the Situation (which maps the problem; explores its drivers, frames, and strategies; and critiques the current response) and the Course of Action (which uses the Strategic Estimate to design an appropriate strategy, with a theory of success, and an assessment of assumptions, legal authority, metrics, phasing, and risk mitigation). Based on a critical review of current practice, we contend that existing processes for analysis and action are currently weak—to the detriment of strategic effectiveness. Though an analytical framework is no panacea for the current crisis of strategy, it is an indispensable starting point for all that must follow.

To assist application of our framework to the problem of organized crime, this monograph walks through each section of the adapted approach. Throughout, reference is made to cases of organized crime to demonstrate the insight thus gained. An abbreviated "user's guide" for the framework is included in Appendix A to facilitate its rapid employment.

Chapter 1: Introduction

The effort to counter organized crime is struggling. According to the 2021 Global Organized Crime Index, "the global illicit economy [has] simply continued along the upward trajectory it has followed over the past 20 years, posing an everincreasing threat to security, development and justice—the pillars of democracy."¹ At present, more than four-fifths of the world's population live in countries with "high levels of criminality," and almost two-thirds live in countries with "low resilience to organized crime."² According to the advocacy group Global Financial Integrity, transnational criminal groups rake in between \$1.6 trillion and \$2.2 trillion per year.³

Though organized crime is often out of sight, it is also everywhere. It both preys upon and caters to human need, making it resilient and versatile. Wherever governments draw the line, criminal actors find profitable ways of crossing it. Wherever governments fail to deliver on human need, criminal actors capitalize on people's desire or despair. Indeed, while organized crime is corrosive and exploitative, it is also empowering. For those excluded from the political economy, from patronage systems or elite bargains, organized crime can offer opportunity and possibly also protection. On aggregate, the associated activity provides an illicit form of governance, furnishing alternative services to a wide range of clients, whether the vulnerable and weak or a covetous elite. Reflecting the strength of this illicit order, those who stand in its way—individuals, institutions, even states find themselves corrupted, co-opted, or violently eliminated.

The wide variety of forms assumed by organized crime, its clandestine nature, and its blending of creative and destructive effects present acute analytical and policy-related challenges. Faced with this complexity, efforts to assess and respond to the phenomenon often adopt a narrow focus on the scourge itself, paying inadequate attention to its social and political drivers and the functions it plays. Seeking to demonstrate resolve, yet uncertain of how to proceed, policymakers jump to narrow solutions to "deal with the problem," rather than query what might be most appropriate for the context at hand. Existing strategies for countering organized crime therefore tend toward the reactive and palliative, producing cycles of desperation that ultimately benefit those who feed on despair. As with organized crime, our response to terrorism, especially following 9/11, has often been stymied by three factors: conceptual uncertainty of the problem at hand; an urge to address the challenge head-on without acknowledging its socioeconomic-political context; and, therefore, unquestioned pursuit of approaches that miss the point, whose progress is difficult to measure, and that may even be counterproductive. In the case of counterterrorism, the concept of irregular warfare emerged as a corrective to prevailing practice. Reintroduced as a term by the Pentagon in 2006, *irregular warfare* was explored more fully in a 2007 Joint Operating Concept that defined it as "a violent struggle among state and nonstate actors for legitimacy and influence over the relevant populations."⁴ This definition placed the terroristic violence within the essential context of a political struggle. For those paying attention, casting the problem in this manner encouraged a broader and more informed counter.

It is our contention that the lens of irregular warfare is helpful also to our understanding of organized crime. For the purposes of this monograph, organized *crime* is defined as any group with some degree of structure whose primary objective is profit and whose methods include illegal activity; the use or threat of violence; and the corruption of public officials. This definition captures the phenomenon's four key components: its collective action, its pecuniary objective, its predatory ways, and its corrupting and exploitative effects. These components allow organized crime to nest conceptually within irregular warfare. Much like terrorism and insurgency, organized crime has a clandestine component but survives because of the functions and tangible benefits it provides to populations with few other options. Though organized crime is not consciously political in its motivation, it is like insurgency-deeply political in its origins, activities, and effects. Also, much like insurgency, organized crime is oppositional to the rule of law and feeds on the state's weaknesses and vulnerabilities. Going further, organized crime and insurgency both expose deep cracks in an international system supposedly governed by benevolent state actors exercising sovereign control of their peoples and lands. Thus, much like our efforts to counter terrorism and insurgency, interventions to counter organized crime must also operate both under- and aboveground, must

counter a threat and address its drivers, and must proceed with far greater awareness of what constitutes success—and for whom.

The relevance of irregular warfare goes one step further. Traditionally, irregular warfare has been thought the preserve of nonstate armed groups, desperate to find a way forward against states and the resources they can harness. Particularly since 2018, however, the Pentagon has used "irregular warfare" to describe state use of subversion, manipulation, and other covert methods to build or erode power. As should be evident, state actors also face the dilemma of exerting themselves against conventionally superior foes. For the United States, the concern is principally with the Russian, Chinese, or Iranian use of proxies, interference, and other indirect methods that, while aggressive, remain below the threshold of outright war and are analytically difficult to discern and to counter.⁵ An underresearched component of this approach is state sponsorship or use of organized criminal groups, which allows governments to impose costs, make money, and get things done, often with minimal attribution. Examples include, but are by no means limited to, the Chinese sponsorship of organized criminal groups in Taiwan, as well as Russia's use of European criminal groups to assassinate critics of the Kremlin.⁶ The problem is such that "state involvement in criminality," in particular by authoritarian states, is now "the most pervasive force in driving organized crime."7 Viewing organized crime through an irregular warfare lens helps to highlight this function and sheds light on the broader political context of the phenomenon.

Based on these commonalities, we propose a Framework for Analysis and Action, originally designed for irregular warfare, to assist practitioners engaged in understanding and countering organized crime. This framework finds its origins within the College of International Security Affairs (CISA) at the National Defense University (NDU) in Washington, DC. CISA has been focused on irregular warfare since its establishment in 2002. To fulfill its mandate of producing strategists capable of countering irregular challenges, we devised, and have based our curriculum on, an analytical framework of assessment and action.⁸ The framework builds on lessons—negative and positive—deduced from years of experience with stemming insurgency, illicit state behavior, and criminal groups operating in conflict environments. It has evolved over the years, via repeated testing and use

in classroom settings and beyond, to evaluate irregular problems and arrive at a viable response.

The framework consists of two parts: the Strategic Estimate of the Situation (which maps the problem; explores its drivers, frames, and methods; and critiques the current response) and the Course of Action (which uses the Strategic Estimate to design an appropriate strategy, guided by a theory of success). This monograph adapts the framework for organized-crime problem sets, to enable the *mapping* of relevant actors and the *crafting* of a viable response. Even so, its central purpose remains what it always was: to capture the bewildering aspects of irregular warfare—its ambiguity, unconventionality, and intangibility—so as to better mount a response.

Structure and Argument in Brief

This monograph is split into three parts. First, following chapter 1's introductory remarks, chapter 2 makes the case that efforts to counter insurgency and to counter organized crime have faced strikingly similar hurdles. The chapter lays out six major lessons from various irregular warfare experiences and relates these lessons to the field of countering organized crime. Based on these commonalities, the chapter argues that both types of experiences would benefit from a more political and systemic framing of the problem and a more strategic approach to the crafting of response, whence the need for better tools to encourage a different tack.

With the link between irregular warfare and organized crime established, the second part of the monograph introduces a framework that assists with the assessment of such challenges and the crafting of strategies of response. Chapter 3 justifies the utility of planning frameworks and explains the structure and rationale of the product that this volume presents. In short, the Framework for Analysis and Action is based on the nature of irregular warfare as a violent struggle for legitimacy. It incorporates and seeks to correct for the pitfalls discussed in chapter 2 by prompting analysts and planners to ask the right questions and seek the necessary answers. The chapter also explains how we have tweaked this irregular warfare framework to fit better to the world of organized crime; though there is vast commonality between these types of challenges, we have made several minor changes.

In the second part of the monograph, chapters 4 and 5 lay out, respectively, the two parts of the adapted framework: first, the Strategic Estimate of the Situation (or the assessment of the problem), and then, the Course of Action (or the plan for how to address it). These chapters demonstrate how the prompts of the framework—the questions it requests that practitioners ask—assist in integrating the lessons learned through experience and explored in chapter 2. These lessons speak to the need for a more political response, a focus on drivers and on narratives, and the need to map threats in a strategically holistic manner rather than focus on the criminal activity in isolation. In turn, prompts are presented for how to build a strategy based on such assessment, producing a plan that accounts for phasing, logic, resourcing, and sustainability. The ability to craft strategic products in this manner is crucial, even if our plans often require adaptation in the face of a fleeting and nebulous reality. Indeed, it is precisely this fog and friction that call for strategic literacy, as swift reaction and acute understanding will be a prerequisite for success.

In the third section of the monograph, chapter 6 performs a gap analysis, whereby we compare our framework to other leading toolkits available to practitioners working on organized crime. We realize that many (though not all) organizations already have planning processes to grapple with the problem of organized crime and that wholesale adoption of our framework may therefore be unnecessary and/or difficult. The purpose of this section is therefore to illustrate the added value of the Framework for Analysis and Action vis-à-vis other toolkits, so that it can complement existing working methods or inspire new ways of approaching the challenge. Based on our review of existing practice, we are confident and excited to contribute to the field.

A concluding chapter reflects on the potential and limitations of frameworks such as that presented here, and a final appendix provides a "user's guide" to our product that, as a synopsis of the whole, should facilitate adoption and use.

Chapter 2: Countering Terrorism, Insurgency, and Crime: Common Hurdles and Lessons

This monograph asserts that organized crime can be understood and addressed as a problem of irregular warfare. There are commonalities between various irregular outfits—insurgent groups, terrorists—and those of organized crime: both are collective actors who use violence and coercion among their methods and who have corrupting or outright destructive effects on society. Irregular warfare is also concerned with the fusion of licit and illicit power structures and can therefore shed light on the types of fractured, contested, and unpredictable environments where organized crime thrives.

More profoundly, the irregular warfare lens provides a corrective view of the practical problems seen in countering terrorism and insurgency—problems that are equally apparent in efforts to counter organized crime. In both settings, states have revealed a dearth of strategic thinking and know-how, leading to responses that do not work or are counterproductive. The CISA Framework for Analysis and Action integrates the lessons of irregular warfare to enable better assessment of and response to the relevant problem sets. It is because these same lessons are relevant to efforts to counter organized crime that we propose an adapted framework to aid practitioners engaged with this particular challenge. In both settings, the framework encourages a more comprehensive and politically informed assessment of the problem and of how to respond.

To explain and justify the relevance of the irregular warfare framework for organized crime, this chapter identifies six key irregular warfare lessons from recent operational experience and demonstrates their applicability to the alternative challenge at hand. Because the hurdles are the same, and the lessons very similar, we make the case that a corrective framework designed for irregular warfare challenges can be equally useful for efforts to understand and to build strategies to counter organized crime. The point is clearly not that adopting an irregular warfare lens for the problems either of insurgency or of organized crime will eliminate the complexity of response. Instead, we proceed on the notion that a better analytical starting point may avoid some of the most severe missteps seen in both settings and thus help produce more effective strategies.

Lesson 1: The Socioeconomic and Political Context

Terrorism and Insurgency. It became clear soon after the 9/11 attacks that the United States and many of its European allies had unlearned much of what they might once have known about irregular warfare, particularly the matter at hand: terrorism. In responding to attacks by al Qaeda, no real distinction was made between the use of terrorism as *part of a strategy* and the use of terrorism as a *strategy in and of itself.* As Wieviorka and others have argued, "terrorism is always a method" in challenging the existing order, but in some cases, it is but one of many methods within a broader strategy, while in others it is all-consuming and becomes the "logic" of the political project, subsuming all else.⁹ We can term the former set of actors as *insurgents* and the latter *terrorists*. In the end, the labeling is secondary to the implications raised, particularly for the response.

Indeed, with *terrorism* (also once known as "pure terrorism"), armed politics is structurally divorced from the purported mass base in whose name action is undertaken. These groups have so isolated themselves that they have no social standing and can express themselves only via attacks, one after the other, with no socioeconomic or political follow-up or legitimacy gained. In such circumstances, the state can focus on the perpetrators themselves because these clandestine actors are the total of the movement. With *insurgency*, however, a focus on rooting out "the terrorists," to the exclusion of finding *political* solutions to sources of conflict, often leads to new cycles of violence that the operationally astute challenger will exploit to mobilize additional support.¹⁰ With insurgency, it also becomes important to understand the functions that the group serves for its constituents and to design a response that addresses these aspects of its strategy along with its use of violence.

The American-led response to the 9/11 attacks struggled to distinguish between these two forms of terrorism. The so-called war on terror, some sophisticated efforts notwithstanding, did little to address the reasons for isolated yet significant pockets of support for al Qaeda or the factors that might spread such support further.¹¹ Al Qaeda was not a terrorist group: it was an insurgency that led with terrorism. As Lindholm and Zúquete convincingly argue, its self-proclaimed jihad exploited a transnational social movement within Islam and propelled its concerns onto the global stage, awakening, extending, and radicalizing a preexisting network.¹² Yet not only was the war on terror negligent of al Qaeda's *focoist* insurgent approach to strategy, it was also conducted in a bullish manner that all but ensured the empowerment of al Qaeda's counterhegemonic ideology.¹³

This problematic approach to insurgency characterized early operations in Iraq and Afghanistan. U.S. forces were certainly capable of defeating the Taliban on the battlefield, but it proved far more difficult to address the continued instability in Afghanistan, never mind the geostrategic factors that sustained the Taliban's struggle. In Iraq, for several years following the overthrow of Saddam Hussein, the U.S. military treated the insurgency as if its members were both finite and few, as if enough operations to round up former regime "dead-enders" would surely do the job.¹⁴ U.S. troops confined to large forward-operating bases launched discrete raids to "kill/capture" suspected insurgents, but gains made in this manner did nothing to change the political motivation for insurgency nor the opportunity for continued mobilization.¹⁵ Ironically, the U.S. drone program has followed a similar logic, that "if only we can get enough of these bastards, we'll win the war."¹⁶

Missed in all these contexts were the political and social drivers of insurgency. The purpose of security forces must be to provide the shield behind which the government enacts the political action necessary to mobilize support and gain legitimacy, thereby marginalizing violent hardliners. This attempt at political action, all while bullets are flying, is also what makes counterinsurgency so demanding. In many cases, elites are more interested in retaining power and privilege than carrying out the political or social efforts deemed necessary for success. Even where there is political will, and the right steps have been identified, one cannot underestimate the challenges of sequencing, of balancing short- and long-term goals, of pushing change through a bureaucratic system, and of measuring progress appropriately—and yet these are often the steps needed to address entrenched rebellion and social strife. All of this is compounded in settings where the state is weak or never truly exercised sovereign control to begin with.

Organized Crime. As with challenges of irregular warfare, efforts to counter organized crime often neglect the socioeconomic and political context in which this phenomenon unfolds. Rather than being a stand-alone problem of illicit

behavior, organized criminal enterprises are enmeshed within social and political networks that must be acknowledged in analysis and in the overall response. A comprehensive response, one that seeks to address rather than displace the problem, must speak to its drivers, or roots, as well as its symptoms. Thus, it becomes necessary to query the social embeddedness of criminal actors or behavior. What drivers lead people to participate in or rely on crime? What is the role of the state in perpetuating this function?

Though these questions may appear commonsensical, they too seldom inform practice. Efforts to combat wildlife crime in sub-Saharan Africa, for instance, generally advance the poachers as the problem to be suppressed and fail to consider the local embeddedness of this practice. To illustrate, in northern Kenya, poaching occurs within a context of "cattle rustling, road banditry, and inter-communal conflict," and therefore requires a broader and more political response.¹⁷ For similar reasons, "commercial poaching" must be distinguished from "subsistence poaching," because while both threaten local fauna, each has its own drivers and dynamic.¹⁸ Where poaching is perceived locally as a legitimate coping mechanism because of the state's failure to govern, a response targeting the activity in isolation risks further polarization, desperation, and—potentially—conflict.¹⁹ Similarly, state efforts to counter corruption must also account for the social and political acceptance of such practices in contexts where the licit order is failing. If patrimonialism, nepotism, and corruption are simply the way to get things done, suppressing these practices risks displacement and chaos.²⁰

Here and elsewhere, organized crime provides a safety valve for populations with few other options. Similarly, the cultivation and trade in narcotics—in Afghanistan, Peru, Colombia, for instance—reflects the vulnerability of abandoned communities. As Buxton describes, these circumstances make the cultivation of drugs an obvious choice, given the minimal start-up costs or technical requirements, the durability of the product, the ease of its transport, and, of course, the reliability of its market.²¹ Absent viable alternatives, crop eradication is unlikely to affect this coping mechanism over the longer term. Indeed, it may only exacerbate vulnerability and thereby encourage exactly the type of criminal activity that it seeks to prevent.²²

Likewise, the smuggling of people is rooted in profound global inequalities and intense insecurity in the origin countries. To crack down on the illicit service provided by smugglers, rather than address its demand, is to suppose that the journey to safety can be made more miserable than what is being fled. In the face of imminent danger and possibly death at home, even the marginal possibility of successful migration will remain the preferred option. In the meantime, the added pressures on the smuggling networks will force greater countermeasures and higher costs, compelling those still desperate for this service to do whatever it takes—crime, prostitution, or predation—to raise the necessary funds.²³ As but one example, the International Crisis Group demonstrates how a Nigerien law to curb illegal migration made the criminal activity more dangerous and more lucrative: "Smugglers avoid the main roads and use tracks across the desert to travel to Libya, leading to more deaths and more passengers abandoned somewhere in the sands. The cost of passage has also increased by as much as four times."²⁴

Criminal gangs, too, provide functions that must be understood and accounted for in any response, namely employment, protection, and even a sense of belonging.²⁵ When the Rio-based gang Comando Vermelho was at its height, it blended coercion with co-option and provided job opportunities, some degree of government service, and even entertainment to the disadvantaged citizens of the city's favelas. As in many other slums, enforcement against the gangs has been perceived as an attack upon the community (not least because of its "collateral damage"), resulting in alienation and the lionization of the gang as local heroes.²⁶ Again, the social embeddedness of the crime matters greatly in terms of response, which is why Skaperdas recommends viewing criminal inner-city gangs as "essentially part of the larger problem of the successful integration of such areas into mainstream society and the modern nation-state."²⁷

The overriding lesson is that organized crime "is *not* an extension of a foreign body to the existing system, country or infrastructure. If anything, it is the product of a country's history, its social conditions, its economic system, its political elite and its law enforcement regime."²⁸ It must therefore be asked what it is about the social contract and existing political opportunity structure that allows organized crime to flourish. This is not an invitation to moral relativism. Instead, framing organized crime as socially embedded should encourage a distinction between coping mechanisms and exploitation.

This inquiry must engage with two lines of interrogation. The first concerns the ways in which the illicit world connects with its licit counterpart, or how a state's own systems and institutions have become complicit within a criminalized incentive structure. The large sums involved, the threat of violence, and the weakness of government often turn the very institutions charged with response into the enabler of criminal enterprises. This situation not only challenges the supposedly bright line that ought to divide "cops" from "robbers," but highlights another way in which strategies of response must go beyond the criminal activity itself and consider also its drivers and roots.

Second, analysts must also consider a distinction between foot-soldiers, who in dysfunctional conditions can readily be replaced, and the organizers of criminal activity, who will be more difficult to reach and may even enjoy some level of protection by the state, but who also play a far more strategically meaningful role. In this context, embeddedness touches upon the transnational nature of illicit money flows, requiring a "mapping" of players and networks extending across borders. For example, when the Philippine government brutally cracked down on the drug users within its own country, affecting the availability of narcotics proved difficult without addressing the transnational connections of that archipelago nation, not least to the lawless parts of Myanmar where the product is cultivated, or to the seas over which it is shipped. Former President Rodrigo Duterte's strategy of killing an ever-growing number of poor Filipino drug users, or even low-level operators, did not do the job.²⁹ Similarly, naval patrols in Southeast Asia can catch low-level pirates, but their bosses, investors, and fixers sit in the big cities of Indonesia, Malaysia, and Singapore and can readily replace lost earners.³⁰ Many of the poachers arrested in South Africa are from the lowest rungs of an enterprise that also includes more evasive crime lords, who keep their distance to the action, benefit from political and business protection, and will not so easily be caught.³¹

The final point to make on this lesson is that addressing the roots, or drivers, of organized crime will typically be far more challenging than engaging with its symptoms. Acknowledging this reality presents policymakers with a dilemma. Either they map out and ambitiously seek to address the totality of the problem, with the potential of fostering meaningful change, or they limit their objectives to the strictly palliative, with the strong likelihood of simply displacing or mutating the challenge. Perhaps the worst outcome is not to realize the systemic embeddedness of organized crime at all, and to pursue it tactically while expecting strategic results. This is often the situation.

Lesson 2: Militarization of Response

Counterterrorism and Counterinsurgency. Counterinsurgency was introduced as a corrective to the narrower counterterrorist lens of the war on terror, yet a review of its application in the 2000s and 2010s reveals the second major lesson of irregular warfare, namely the tendency to militarize even our "whole of government" endeavors. In Iraq and Afghanistan, counterinsurgency was executed in a way that, at best, shaped only *military* operations. The very label "counterinsurgency" was problematic, as it evoked associations with military campaigning rather than political action. Outside of the Pentagon (and even within the Pentagon, albeit for different reasons), there was minimal appetite and resources to carry the political center, which made the military efforts a "moon without a planet to orbit."³²

The militarization of counterinsurgency deprived the campaigns in Iraq and Afghanistan of political content, leading to the political failure of mostly military "surges" in both theaters. In Iraq, despite improving security, the United States never truly addressed the sectarian nature of the Shiite officials it had anointed as the future leaders of the country.³³ This political contradiction undid the hard-won military gains of the surge and fueled schisms and violent conflict well beyond the departure of U.S. troops.³⁴ The jury is still out as to whether the latest mowing of the grass—the military dismantling of the counterstate established by the so-called Islamic State (IS)—will be politically sustained or have a more transient effect.³⁵

In Afghanistan, no political plan emerged to address the conflict's regional dimension or to de-conflict the myriad contradictory Western aims.³⁶ Despite a strategy that hinged on establishing the legitimacy of the Kabul government, efforts to address its corruption and the abuses by its security forces never took root. Similarly, the political plan constructed in the West paid scant attention to Afghan

norms, resulting in a highly centralized national government that ran counter to the fragmented nature of the Afghan state. It did not help that, in both theaters, the United States gave counterinsurgency only 2 or 3 years to work, showcasing misguided faith in this concept as a quick, expeditionary military fix to deep-rooted political problems.

The charge of militarization in the U.S. and allied response should not be taken to mean the military has no role to play in countering irregular challenges. There is a clear need for such forces in targeting predatory actors and in providing security for contested populations. The issue with counterinsurgency in practice, however, is that the former typically receives far more resources and attention than the latter, as strategies seek victory through tactical strikes rather than by changing conditions on the ground. Whatever its contribution, the deployment of this force should be linked with a viable political process that gives military activity strategic meaning. Such an approach may also call for military forces structured, equipped, and trained in new ways.³⁷

Organized Crime. Much as with the irregular campaigns in Iraq and Afghanistan, the struggle against organized crime typically takes on a militarized form. "Militarization," in this context, does not speak exclusively to the use of military forces, though this happens, but rather to the theory of victory at hand. Specifically, a militarized theory of victory relies on a purely suppressive logic, hoping thereby to increase costs on active criminals and deter those who might consider following in their footsteps or using their services. Be it in counterinsurgency or countercrime, unless these efforts also address the *reasons* behind the behavior, or the system of which it is a part, they typically confront the "hydra effect" of eliminating one target only to find another. Also, as the threat adapts, the response must give chase, leading to an escalating game of cat-and-mouse.³⁸

Examples of this approach include antipoaching efforts, which often apply the search-and-destroy mentality seen in the war on terror, resulting in hunting expeditions to hunt down those who themselves hunt the animals. On the seas, well-intended expeditions to stop the killing of whales proceed by the same logic—that by locating the actors involved and obstructing their business model, the activity will stop or at least be reduced. In both cases, a necessary (but often absent) component

would be to address the political economy sustaining the market. Unless this need is addressed, our countermeasures may make the crime more profitable, as those involved can demand higher prices because of the elevated risk.³⁹

In a similar vein, efforts to stem illegal migration often address the collective *reaction* to hardship rather than the hardship itself and end up targeting those caught up in misery rather than those who benefit from it. One can see this approach in the deployment of warships to fight smugglers in the Mediterranean, the Australian effort to hold migrants in offshore detention centers, the deployment of Turkey's military on its beaches, and the mining of the Turkish-Syrian border. Unless the push factors for illegal migration are in some way addressed, efforts such as these can fall victim to the balloon effect,⁴⁰ prompting criminal networks to adapt, and charge more, to meet an undiminished demand.⁴¹

The same dynamic can be seen in various countergang operations in Central and South America. Operating from tightly packed slums where opportunity is lacking, the gangs use their local population as a source of labor, creating a symbiosis—but also a human shield to deter enforcement. When states do launch into these areas to pursue the gangs, the operation is hugely dislocating to the local community and ineffectual in weakening the criminal structures. In most cases, it either empowers the gangs by cementing their bonds with a beleaguered population or creates a power vacuum within which new gangs fight for control.⁴² Yet these strategies are remarkably common, as can be seen with the so-called *mano duro* (firm hand) or *cero tolerancia* (zero tolerance) strategies adopted by Guatemala, Honduras, Haiti, and El Salvador.⁴³

The mention of El Salvador forces an important discussion, as its latest hardline policy against the powerful gangs operating in the country has in fact succeeded in significantly cutting the crime and homicide rates in the country. Other governments facing upticks in violent crime are therefore looking at the "Bukele model," named after El Salvador's authoritarian-leaning yet wildly popular president who introduced the change in approach.⁴⁴ That crime is down in El Salvador is incontestable, but before one draws conclusions about the strategic utility of this "militarized approach," three observations are necessary. First, it cannot be denied that, at a certain point of intensity, massive levels of coercion will make it impossible or too painful for criminals to act. As Josef Stalin once put it, "Death solves all problems. No man, no problem."⁴⁵ And yet, for most states, borrowing strategic guidance from Stalin is not in their best interest or in line with their values. Bukele has overseen indiscriminate imprisonment, with 1 to 2 percent of the country's entire population locked up, reaching at times "the highest incarceration rate in the world."⁴⁶ He is also dismantling political checks and balances, fundamentally impairing the democracy hard won by El Salvador. Others will prefer a method that does not, in itself, harm the very society it is meant to protect.

Second, a deeper look at Bukele's approach reveals specific conditions for "success." Beyond the small size of the country and limited resources of the gangs both important factors—the effectiveness of Bukele's approach relied also on the government's previous pacts with the gangs, which duped them into expecting another mild dose of repression rather than the far more aggressive crackdown that followed.⁴⁷ Bukele's unusual familiarity and access to key leaders means that, while sheer and indiscriminate coercion certainly featured as a major motif, the approach was broader and more sophisticated than meets the eye.

Third, as the socioeconomic conditions in El Salvador are, at best, slow to change, it is still an open question whether this particular strategy will prove more sustainable than other militarized approaches. At the very least, the incarceration of so many imposes tremendous financial burdens and costs the government legitimacy because of the many innocent citizens swept up in raids and mass arrests. Enforcement of this type *could* be framed as an unseemly yet defendable first phase of a longer-term consolidation, yet there are few signs at this point of such a transition. The question of El Salvador's future—in terms of criminality and human security—are therefore still in doubt.

Similar points can be made about the U.S. attempt to stem illegal migration across its southern border. Following pledges to solve the problem, recent policy has been characterized by doubling down on punitive actions, including the cancellation of immigration programs, intense pressure on Latin American governments, and the promotion of harsh treatment and deportation for migrants detained by U.S. authorities. Adding further pressure, the effort has been literally militarized, with many Active-duty personnel deployed to patrol the border as part of Joint Task Force–Southern Border.

Response on this scale appears to have an effect, as the number of border crossings has dropped precipitously.⁴⁸ As in El Salvador, however, we have yet to witness how the approach will be sustained. Already, prior to the new measures, the strategy of Customs and Border Protection (CBP) was one of "enforcement only," with deterrence promoted as the theory of success. Though not a military unit, CBP was even in 2024 the "largest police force in the world," accounting for 60,000 personnel and boasting a fleet of 240 planes, helicopters, and drones. Yet, as Erickson explains, this effort at deterrence "failed to address the complexity behind people's decision to move, struggled to measure success in relation to recidivism and reaped immeasurable human costs and daunting economic ones."⁴⁹ It also made the services provided by smugglers more lucrative.⁵⁰

These factors would appear difficult to displace through further intensity. Many of the migrants who are opting not to enter the United States remain stranded south of the border. Facing low odds of gaining asylum, some will likely seek to furtively cross the border, making the lower number of observed border crossings an incomplete measure of success.⁵¹ Others will adopt a "wait-and-see" approach that will require the surged border-control operations to be sustained indefinitely.⁵²

Though the fate of current policy remains uncertain, it is easy to see why states adopt militarized approaches despite their poor track record over time. First, there is an unquestioned link between criminal behavior and traditional policing, which has the job of stopping and deterring crime. In criminology, deterrence requires the *credible* threat of *swift* and *severe* punishment, leading therefore to increasingly harsh strategies.⁵³ Second, in an unfolding crisis, there is an undeniable appeal to the speed with which security forces can be deployed to "deal with it." A more comprehensive response would imply a more protracted timeline. Finally, once a security response is deployed, it is all too tempting for governments to consider the crisis "managed" and move on, rather than transition to a longer-term, less reactive, and more effective strategy. As such, what might have been intended as crisis response becomes the whole response.

Militarization is seldom effective, but it can also be harmful, as it encourages a warfighting lens that corrupts standards of law enforcement and due process, both for criminals and their clients. Following mounting incidences of abuse and corruption within CBP, the Barack Obama administration formed an Integrated Advisory Panel to professionalize the force. The body's interim and final reports spoke of a complex entity with uncertain standards that, despite progress, struggled with managing the power and resources it had been given. Indeed, stories from the southern border reveal the mass dehumanization of migrant populations, as the response seeks to make their experience increasingly difficult. As the provider and user of criminal services are conflated, and the focus remains punitive, the result devolves into the targeting, incarceration, or worse of entire populations.

Because these strategies produce the expectation of change, there is also a danger of spiraling costs and commitment if conditions remain the same. Already in fiscal year 2023, the United States was channeling more funds to "immigration enforcement agencies (more than \$25.9 billion) than all other enforcement agencies combined, including the FBI [Federal Bureau of Investigation], DEA [Drug Enforcement Administration], ATF [Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms, and Explosives], U.S. Marshals, and Secret Service."54 Over time, the militarization of response becomes so entrenched as to become, perhaps, irreversible, not least if it leads organized crime to escalate in response.⁵⁵ Also fueling the approach is the fact that militarized strategies tend to poll well, even when they do not work, for they give the appearance of decisiveness (the same applies within the context of counterterrorism). In the Philippines, for example, a drug war that caused officially at least 6,000 deaths (and as many as 30,000, when death-squad figures are tallied), and which patently did not solve the drug problem in the country, nonetheless obtained approval ratings of 81.6 percent among the country's population.⁵⁶ In extremis, militarization creates a nation at war with itself.

The deep problem of militarization does not mean that states should eschew enforcement measures altogether. Take the example of gangs. While *mano duro* approaches have seldom worked, the attempt to address gang problems via negotiations or nonviolent measures has hardly fared better. In the latter approach, the state is forced to operate by the gang's rule, which severely limits what can be achieved. As the International Crisis Group points out, bargaining with the gangs assumes, at least implicitly, that they are willing to "abandon extortion and other criminal practices, and eventually disarm and demobilize," and this is unlikely when the state is engaging from a position of weakness.⁵⁷ As for community violence reduction programs, which aim to provide employment and political inclusion, such initiatives face strategic and ethical hazards when attempted in gang-owned territory. In effect, the state must then choose between working with the gangs, even paying them off, and seeking to avoid them altogether—and thereby missing the most at-risk demographic.⁵⁸ It is in part for this reason that crime experts question the impact of violence prevention initiatives within contexts of chronic insecurity.⁵⁹

The point, then, is not to reject enforcement but to integrate it within a broader strategy that addresses the push factors and pull factors of organized crime, as well as its manifestations. Much as with various irregular warfare missions, this requirement raises difficult questions regarding the type of force needed and alongside what other actors it must be deployed. This balancing act is what informs the traditional counterinsurgency principles of "minimum use of necessary force" (or applying only as much coercion as is needed) to achieve strategic objectives, and of maintaining "political primacy" (that is to say, ensuring that military operations support a viable political process). Even then, this also assumes that security forces, when deployed, adhere to strict rules of engagement, can properly define what level of force is correct, and understand their supporting role within the strategy, which further must be resourced with the necessary nonmilitary means. The absence of such aptitude and awareness on the part of the security forces, or of their civilian partners in the field, almost ensures that the coercive component will backfire or lack follow-up. In either case, the result will be more insecurity and illegitimacy, and the perceived need for more enforcement.

Lesson 3: Mirror-Imaging: State, Society, and Politics

Counterinsurgency: Ours and Theirs. A third irregular warfare lesson, from Afghanistan and Iraq but also elsewhere, lies in the tendency of intervening states to confuse their own interests and norms with those of the state where the conflict

is unfolding. Mirror-imaging takes many forms. Militarily, the United States and other outsiders have typically evinced insufficient understanding of the abilities and needs of the institutions they seek to support. Lacking in-depth awareness of local institutions and organizational culture, assistance instead defaults to the norms and practices of the intervening institution, which often are not appropriate for the setting at hand.⁶⁰ One problem, reflecting U.S. military culture, is the reliance on high-technology capabilities as silver bullets to irregular warfare challenges. Elsewhere, the U.S. military has provided operational advice based not on the requirements of the recipient force but on what constitutes military effectiveness for the United States. As Greentree notes, "It is hard to get around the fact that militaries can only attempt to transfer what they know."⁶¹

This military dimension is emblematic of a broader political problem. It simply is not clear that the interests and objectives fueling a Western intervention are matched by the local governments through which action is to be taken. Early in the occupation of Iraq, the United States presumed that both it and the fledgling Baghdad government were united in seeking a representative democracy, and yet the parties in charge were the same that were sponsoring radical Iran-backed militias.⁶² Following the surge, it quickly became clear that the Maliki regime had no interest in using the security gains achieved to reconcile with the Sunni tribal leaders and political elite that the U.S. military had empowered.⁶³

In Afghanistan, a large part of the problem for the North Atlantic Treaty Organization (NATO) and the international community was the uncertainty of their own political aims and how to achieve them, with counterterrorist prerogatives often conflicting with, or eclipsing entirely, efforts to establish local institutions capable of sustaining peace and security.⁶⁴ On that basis, it was never clear which goals, if any, enjoyed support from Kabul. Certainly, Karzai's theft of the 2009 election and his government's close relation to organized crime suggested significant differences of opinion on two of the campaign's major fronts.⁶⁵ Given this brittle political foundation, NATO's mission too often devolved into peripatetic charity services in the rural hinterland in the hope of thereby winning hearts and minds (but for what?).⁶⁶ At the broadest level, this concerns not only divergent political interests but completely different conceptions of the state. Take Mali. For years, the West provided counterterrorism assistance to the government in Bamako in the belief that the political elite would move to spread "good governance" to the areas most affected by extremism, in the north of the country. Instead, observers found it extremely challenging to sway the "indifferent political elite in Mali," which was perceived as doing "the bare minimum . . . to invest in the violence-wracked north and central regions of the country."⁶⁷ The verdict speaks to an uncomfortable reality affecting most states facing insurgency. In Nigeria, most of the Sahel, Mozambique, and the Democratic Republic of Congo—and in Asia, in Pakistan, Thailand, Afghanistan, and the Philippines—instability drags on in part because the areas affected are not a core concern to the government. Third-party efforts at "state-building" do not often acknowledge this reality and instead assume a level of political ownership that may not obtain.

Mirror-Imaging in Countering Organized Crime. As with irregular warfare, efforts to counter organized crime often involve a better resourced state assisting one that is less able and more directly threatened. Taking this commonality one step further, in both contexts such relationships can do much good but also fall victim to mirror-imaging, whereby the intervening party confuses its own interests and norms with those of the party receiving help. This tendency can have counterproductive—or even disastrous—consequences.

As with counterinsurgency, a major root of the problem is that not all states are equally seized by the problem of organized crime. Reflecting the very weakness that triggers the attempts to help, some states have long accepted the need for various arrangements with organized criminal groups so that they and the state can both function. In defining this equilibrium, it is not lost on the government that the criminal group sometimes has the edge, be it in terms of "wealth, organization, communications," or "weaponry," all of which "can create qualitatively different bargaining relationships with regional or even national governments."⁶⁸ Given the dangers of confrontation, maintaining a stable pact with the enemy may seem like the better alternative. This is particularly the case in states where organized crime is estimated to bring in as much as 40 to 50 percent of the national income,⁶⁹ but it occurs also in wealthy nations where white-collar crime appears to be accepted as a cost of doing business.⁷⁰

Where third-party states miss the nature of such arrangements, their efforts are likely to disappoint. The role of corruption looms large and must be understood from the local perspective. As some scholars have stressed, corruption can mask "a vast and intricate system of patronage," and so "to assail it (especially without proffering any alternative framework of political access or economic redistribution) is to endanger the livelihood of millions of people, including those who otherwise denounce corruption stridently."⁷¹ A necessary starting point is to interrogate local norms and the local political economy and to appraise what constitutes "societally approved of, or at least socially ignored, forms of corruption."⁷² This does not mean abandoning law-enforcement efforts, but rather ensuring they have acknowledged the societal and political functions of that which they seek to thwart.

Afghanistan provides a stark illustration of mirror-imaging and its pernicious effects. As the West sought to counter the crippling problem of corruption in Afghanistan, it came to realize that the host-nation government viewed the issue very differently. It should be said that it was initially the United States that, for reasons of counterterrorism, had invited into the Afghan government the very warlords that would haunt its later state-building efforts. Still, in seeking to undo this damage and address the criminalization of the state, its partner in Kabul emerged as a major impediment. Key targets for countercorruption were effectively untouchable, such as Ahmed Wali Karzai, the president's half-brother.⁷³ Warlords whom the United States now worked to marginalize were invited back in by the Karzai regime. Stephen Hadley, President Bush's one-time national security adviser, put it starkly: "Karzai was never sold on democracy and did not rely on democratic institutions, but instead relied on patronage." Christopher Kolenda also reflects the American frustration, recalling that by 2006, the Afghan government had "self-organized into a kleptocracy."⁷⁴

The frustration in Afghanistan reflects not just the teething pains of a largely improvised experiment with "nation-building" but the compromises that each state makes in relation to organized crime. In Nigeria, for example, the state elected to pay off armed gangs in the country's oil-rich south rather than address their largely legitimate grievances of neglect and abuse.⁷⁵ In Russia, write Finckenauer and Voronin, organized crime includes gangsters but also businesspeople and government officials;⁷⁶ it "has penetrated all layers of society and the economy."⁷⁷ In Dubai, and in Marbella, Spain, the local authorities are said to turn a blind eye to a booming organized-crime scene so as to avoid confrontation and to soak up the cashflow.⁷⁸ As Peter Andreas notes, conventional wisdom frames criminal enterprises as "an easy and convenient villain," yet such a lens can easily lead to "sloppy analysis and a false diagnosis." He continues: "Pointing an accusing finger at illicit business also tends to deflect attention and blame away from the deeper political roots of conflict and motivation for international intervention."⁷⁹

The vast variety of ways in which states are involved in organized crime will forcefully challenge any external effort to address the drivers sustaining this problem. Indeed, there is typically deep institutional and political resistance on the part of the elite to precisely such action. The attempt to wish away or subvert such resistance is likely to be destabilizing, forcing those seeking change to balance carefully the preservation of order and the quest for justice. Any attempt to move from the former to the latter must appreciate that deeply conservative forces will mobilize to protect the institutions that legitimize and protect their privilege. Rather than engage with unfounded assumptions, the interests and incentives at play—within both the intervening and host government—must be carefully assessed.⁸⁰ This approach has also been termed a "political-economy" lens and is increasingly acknowledged as indispensable to any intervention.⁸¹ Even then, the analytical, ethical, and strategic implications of such a lens remain considerable.

Lesson 4: Community Mobilization

State and Periphery in Counterinsurgency. Since insurgency typically erupts in contested and fragile political settings, it makes it even more difficult to find strong political foundations that might address the grievances fueling the problem. Wishing for a strong and functional state to emerge from the midst of such conflict can be overly aspirational and ignore historical patterns of politics. Therefore, in most cases, there is a need to think creatively on how to mobilize the people in support of a state that they may never have recognized as a legitimate authority.⁸²

If, in these contexts, the Weberian ideal of the state is extremely weak, or even nonexistent, how can insurgency-threatened governments nonetheless exercise control over their territory and govern their people?

Some scholars suggest an alternative basis for order, one that acknowledges the contested authority of the state yet retains sufficient central oversight over people and land to avert conflict. A possible recourse lies in what Ken Menkhaus terms the "mediated state," one in which "the government relies on partnership (or at least coexistence) with a diverse range of local intermediaries and rival sources of authority to provide core functions of public security, justice, and conflict management in much of the country."⁸³ Others have called such arrangements "hybrid political orders" and lauded this lens as a pragmatic recognition of how many states function in reality, rather than in theory: by sharing power within the context of a highly decentralized entity still ostensibly led by the state government.⁸⁴

These terms not only reflect the artificiality of the state in many of the countries threatened by insurgency, but also that in such contexts the attempted imposition of central governance can be dramatically counterproductive. In Somalia, a major reason for popular resistance to the strong state sought through various interventions is that, historically, that same state has acted as "a catalyst for criminality, violence, and communal tensions."⁸⁵ In Afghanistan, local communities also rejected the authority imposed upon them by the center, in part owing to vivid memories of abuse, injustice, and cruelty perpetrated by the state.⁸⁶ In post-war Iraq, the continued empowerment of an increasingly sectarian Shiite government to deal with a Sunni insurgency led to predictable outcomes, with death squads in government uniforms cleansing entire neighborhoods and pushing their Sunni compatriots into the arms of al Qaeda.⁸⁷ Here and elsewhere, "more state" is no recipe for more stability.

This insight runs counter to counterinsurgency theory, which tends to equate progress with the gradual expansion of governance to previously "ungoverned areas." This type of thinking can be dangerous. For one, while the theory emphasizes that government control spread like ink spots across paper, it does not evince much concern for what was on that paper before the ink reached it. In fact, "the analogy is critically flawed," as "there is really no societal equivalent to a blank piece of paper.³⁸⁸ Instead, each human locality teems with activity, intrigue, and politics.

The point matters, because how these areas are understood determines how they are handled. If seen as places where institutions are absent, the go-to solution will be to quickly fill the void by imposing the state. A more promising approach is to engage with the local structures that regulate life away from the state, so that they may be co-opted to benefit both center and periphery within the context of a loosely unified national compact. Be they systems of governance, security, or justice, these local institutions are often seen as more meaningful by the local population. In Afghanistan, for example, the thin spread and many deficiencies of the national courts meant that most Afghans preferred informal bodies, such as jirgas and shuras of local elders, for conflict adjudication.⁸⁹ In Mali, popular trust in traditional structures by far exceeds that placed in the police and national courts.⁹⁰ In post-conflict Timor-Leste, rural areas far away from the administrative reach of the state are instead governed through "customary forms of community organisation." As Bjoern Hofmann notes, state-based institutions "acknowledge these forms of self-governance and work alongside them, while at the same time aiming to strengthen the new administrative structures staffed by elected representatives."91

Combining top-down and bottom-up initiatives in this manner may be the best political model for several insurgency-threatened states. The burning question, of course, is what level of divergence to accept, and at what cost. Even if authority is ceded to the periphery, the state must nonetheless be capable of intervening when local-level mechanisms turn predatory and risk the legitimacy of the arrangement and of the state. The key lies in the state underwriting and even supporting informal variations on the periphery, thereby satisfying local needs, empowering local political allies, and contributing to a desire to be part of, rather than resist, the state at the heart of it all. Thus, while the mediated state provides a more realistic lens, it does not significantly simplify the task of achieving justice and peace.

State and Periphery in Countering Organized Crime. State-local relations pertain also to the countering of organized crime, particularly as many state governments are themselves enmeshed within the illicit political economy. In the face
of such a challenge, state-led attempts to address the criminality will often appear unpredictable or insufficient, leaving communities at the heart of the problem without protection. If states are unwilling or unable to engage more productively against organized crime, how can change be achieved? One response is to shift from top-down to bottom-up approaches and to work through the community rather than the state. This method relies on mobilizing those most affected by the problem and those with the greatest interest in a solution to build resistance and resilience at the local level.⁹²

Human smuggling provides a potent example of where "the debate . . . and the locus of responses need to be shifted from the state level to a grassroots debate."⁹³ The reason, Reitano explains, is that many of the states from which migrants and refugees hail are too mired in conflict to respond or are themselves responsible for the problem at hand. Hoping to address the top-down failures of the state with more top-down assistance—as was attempted with both Sudan and Eritrea—is to put the foxes in charge of the henhouse.⁹⁴ Absent unlikely reform, rewarding the state with capacity building and technical assistance is only going to compound the problem and make both donors and recipient governments complicit in continued criminality.

Conversely, Maguire identifies antipoaching initiatives in northern Kenya as an example of what can be achieved through the local level. In an area of scarce socioeconomic opportunity, minimal interest in conservation, and continued resource-based conflicts, criminal groups found a perfect environment in which to operate. Over time, however, community-based initiatives have challenged their grip. Through British and U.S. assistance, local-level conservancies gained assets to gather and share intelligence on poaching with the Kenya Wildlife Service, which was more trusted than the country's security agencies. Not only was this partnership informing antipoaching operations, but the conservancies also emphasized the need for local buy-in. Thus, community policing was undertaken by local rangers benefiting from local knowledge and support. Counterpoaching policies were also complemented with "socioeconomic development programmes and land-reform initiatives," providing clinics, schools, and mechanisms for resolving interethnic conflict. As Maguire explains, "These programmes have both fomented alternative livelihoods to poaching, and reduced deterioration of rangelands and resource conflict."⁹⁵ Though this progress was disrupted by climate crises and national-level political instability, it points to the potential of community involvement.

As Gastelum Felix and Tennant note, community mobilization has also been used in a range of countergang efforts. In Chicago, as part of the so-called Cure Violence program, civil society leaders and community members have mobilized against gang activity, with "violence interrupters detecting and preventing shootings in communities, mediating conflicts between gangs or gang members, identifying and engaging with high-risk individuals and encouraging community mobilization and behaviour change."⁹⁶ In 2004 in Palermo, Italy, student activists created the AddioPizzo campaign to encourage businesses and consumers to fight extortion by the Mafia. In addition to raising awareness, the organizers provided legal support to targeted businesses and educated for change, especially among the youth.⁹⁷ Informed by these types of programs, the Global Initiative Against Transnational Organized Crime is engaging in local resilience initiatives worldwide, aimed at identifying, organizing, engaging with, and empowering civil society to take on local challenges ignored or abetted by the state.⁹⁸

These local-level initiatives can be productive, but they face the same obstacles as local security efforts in irregular warfare settings. Absent state buy-in, community-led efforts are often limited by a lack of coordination, a dearth of funds, and the extreme vulnerability of unarmed actors in the face of powerful criminal entities.⁹⁹ Also, because of the sheer informality of bottom-up initiatives, there is simply no guarantee that they will play to the progressive and community-oriented tune hoped for by international donors. As Mats Berdal notes, there is a tendency to view the "local level" as a refuge from politicking—as an "authentic response of 'civil society' to the predation, manipulation and violence of outsiders," and yet this lens can be deeply misleading.¹⁰⁰ In Tancítaro, Mexico, the local, homegrown response to predation by gangs was the formation of a militia, commanded by warlords who ruled violently and without accountability.¹⁰¹ In Rio's favelas, a local response to gangs is the vigilante militia units, structured around ex-police, that provide some degree of security but also extort the local population, engage in

organized crime, and violently remove those standing in their way.¹⁰² As indicated by these examples and others, the search for local responses to organized crime requires careful judgment as to which informal structures to support.

Even where the community is a viable partner, a further consideration obtains: the "balloon effect" and the ability of criminal actors to go elsewhere. Community empowerment can help thwart criminal infiltration, yet it will not address the elite elements of the enterprise, those reaping the highest rewards. With piracy off Somalia, it quickly emerged that the local coastal communities were not the key beneficiaries or enablers of the problem but rather an underpaid labor force exploited by political elites inland.¹⁰³ The latter are also those with the start-up capital to entice other communities to cooperate should one prove resistant. Similarly, while enlightened, community-oriented efforts to stem poaching in Kenya's rangelands are promising, those higher up in the ivory-trafficking market remain untouched, adapt, and continue to act with widespread impunity.¹⁰⁴

Lesson 5: Lack of Strategy

Strategy and Counterinsurgency. When Western militaries rediscovered counterinsurgency theory in the mid-2000s, it was in search of a solution to repeated setbacks in Afghanistan and Iraq. Now much maligned because of frustrations in both campaigns, expeditionary counterinsurgency doctrine was an attempt to familiarize the U.S. military and its allies with war "as it is" rather than "as imagined," bringing in the whole political and societal complexity of what was being attempted. As but one example, the so-called counterinsurgency principles emphasized the importance of achieving a nuanced political understanding of the campaign, of operating under unified command, of using intelligence to guide operations, of isolating insurgents from the population, of using the minimum amount of force necessary to achieve set objectives, and of assuring and maintaining the perceived legitimacy of the counterinsurgency effort in the eyes of the populace.¹⁰⁵ Though quotidian and perhaps too simplistic, such guidance differed importantly from the crude "kill/capture" approach that had driven earlier operations.

Still, while the rediscovery of counterinsurgency had promise, it did not deliver. In the end, principles and field manuals could increase awareness of dilemmas, but they did not substitute for a lack of strategy. The problem expressed itself most clearly in Afghanistan, where—lacking a campaign plan that viably tied operational activity to a clear strategic objective—many military units instead let the necessarily broad principles of counterinsurgency guide their way.¹⁰⁶ The problem was not necessarily the absence of actual strategic goals but rather their multiplicity, contradictions, and lack of ordering.¹⁰⁷ The result was an attempt to apply operational directives all at once, but with scant attention to strategic direction or political context.

Clearly, "best practice" is not "best strategy." Strategy, in this instance, can be defined very simply. Eliot Cohen casts it as "the art of choice that binds means with objectives." He elaborates: "It is the highest level of thinking about war, and it involves priorities (we will devote resources here, even if that means starving operations there), sequencing (we will do this first, then that) and a theory of victory (we will succeed for the following reasons)."¹⁰⁸ Plainly, a counterinsurgency field manual will be unable to address these difficult questions or to resolve the attendant trade-offs, though it may provide some guidance on how to think and engage with the modern battlefield.

Strategy and Countering Organized Crime. Much like insurgency, the problem of organized crime is also so widespread, involves so many players, and touches upon so many interests that countering it requires a strategy, informed by a clear assessment of the situation and a theory of success. In both contexts, that of irregular warfare and organized crime, an absence of strategy leads to reactive policies that go on despite no real signs of change. In terms that also describe the counterinsurgency effort in Afghanistan, Rademeyer describes the "war on poaching" as "an unwinnable war"—the same as could be said for the so-called war on drugs.¹⁰⁹ Despite widespread recognition of this fact, these wars drag on, much as was the case in Afghanistan, where "bureaucracy did its thing."¹¹⁰

In Afghanistan, an expeditionary counterinsurgency effort lacking strategic direction fell back on principles and slogans that offered some guidance but no prioritization or trade-offs. Likewise, in countering organized crime and corruption, practitioners looking for strategy often come to rely "on 'best practice' tactics and solutions whether appropriate or not, or whether they are actually working."¹¹¹ The kingpin strategy in Mexico, for example, was clearly intended to reduce the

power of the drug lords by targeting them, but it did not question the consequences of creating a leadership void in an insecure environment in which criminality remained hugely lucrative.¹¹² Similarly, the Transnational Institute suggests the "high homicide rates" in Central America's northern triangle stem in part from security forces "successfully" disrupting the gangs and their markets, which generated a violent competition for the spoils.¹¹³

The point here is that organized crime requires the same strategic process as other irregular warfare challenges. This process begins with a full assessment of the challenge, focused on the nature of the political problem, the contextual forces that sustain it, the contending narratives that motivate involvement and use of criminal networks, and the strategies these actors use to shape their environment, overwhelm opponents, and secure profit. A crucial final question concerns the role of the government response in addressing this problem, or in contributing to it, as may be the case.

This type of assessment—a Strategic Estimate—will encourage a more comprehensive identification and mapping of the problems raised by organized crime. As with the response to other irregular warfare challenges, such a product would also help inform a more effective response, one that acknowledges the full extent of the problem. Such a lens is crucial, in that organized crime is adaptive and will respond rapidly to changes in the environment. As a result, the crafting of strategy to counter organized crime requires skill and methodological discipline.

A first step is arriving at a broad concept of response, informed by a theory of success, one that can explain how the anticipated inputs will lead to identified outcomes. Policymakers and strategists must consider very carefully what it is that they seek to achieve and what progress will mean. Questions must explore whether the purpose of an intervention is to halt the crime itself (say, human smuggling) or to target its more violent and abusive enablers. Where criminal activity is being targeted, strategy must account for how to address the local desire for the services provided, be it basic governance in the favelas, a livelihood through poaching or drug cultivation, or an imperative to migrate from an active conflict zone.

From then on, crafters of strategy must consider the assumptions, both explicit and implicit, that are incorporated in their plan, as well as the legal authority to proceed as suggested. To balance trade-offs and compromises, a phasing construct can assist in showing how incremental steps are to be achieved over time to reach—gradually—the desired objectives. As with any change in policy, a risk assessment—and discussion of how to mitigate these risks—also becomes necessary.

These are the basic foundations of crafting strategy, and yet the task is too often approached with neither the skills nor situational awareness needed. As will be argued in chapter 6, through a gap analysis comparing the Framework for Analysis and Action with comparable planning products, there is a dearth of guidance on what it means to "do strategy"—or what *strategy* even means. Too often, practitioners fall back on reactive measures or preexisting toolkits to address the symptoms of the problem. When such actions are married to inappropriate or selfserving metrics, the response can be a highly destructive yet self-reinforcing cycle of failure. The trendlines of organized crime's growth and proliferation, on a global basis, forcefully underline the need to do better.

Lesson 6: The Black Box of Political Will

Counterinsurgency and Resolve. If the art of strategy offers a way out of darkness—a method for effective response—its countervailing force is the lack of political will for precisely such action. Political will is the ball and chain of any discussion of irregular warfare. How good are concepts, theory, and best practices if the government that is to act prefers to go in a different direction? Against such calculations of interest, there appears to be little that can be done, and so the conflict festers and grows—all while the state loses legitimacy and coherence. In other cases, external powers seek to address the issue of political will by removing the politician in charge (think of Diem in South Vietnam). This, too, is an approach steeped in risk.

Political will, goes the saying, eats strategy for breakfast. Only a handful of the 47 countries that deployed troops to Afghanistan authorized their forces to operate at an intensity appropriate for the campaign. Others imposed caveats on where and how their troops could be used. In Mazar-e-Sharif, a Provincial Reconstruction Team of 500 to 600 soldiers was responsible for stabilizing 4 provinces and a combined population of roughly 2.5 million people. What does this say about the contributing states' political will? Can any strategy or any field manual truly change the likely outcome of such an investment? The search for better practice and more enlightened approaches appears, then, simply to chase the shadow of a larger problem.

Political will is crucial, but its role in analysis and prescription can become paralyzing. First, how does one measure political will? In the absence of some gauge, the main sign of its absence will be the lack of progress, yet such analysis quickly becomes circular: failed operations reflect inadequate will whereas successful ones do not. Political will then becomes a catch-all and purely retrospective argument that is both impossible to disprove but also analytically meaningless. Second, political will is not a static variable. It fluctuates according to events on the ground, domestic developments, electoral interests, and understandings of foreign affairs. As Jeremy Black has noted, "To talk of American or French interests or policy, as if these are clear-cut and long-lasting, is to ignore the nature of politics and the character of recent history."¹¹⁴

Thus, as well as acknowledge political will, those concerned with making a positive change must also work hard to shift opinion accordingly. Specifically, it would seem necessary to focus analysis on *why* states engage in various types of irregular campaigns, how they perceive their adversaries, and the balance of interests that determines both commitment and approach. The task of altering such prioritization is daunting, yet the challenge can be mitigated by fostering greater awareness of what inaction will yield and of the practice and strategies that have shown promise in other settings. Even then, whatever strategy is formulated must account for the political will at hand or explain how it will be augmented as part of the plan.

Resolve and Countering Organized Crime. Much as with counterinsurgency, the political will to counter organized crime is sometimes lacking. Not only is organized crime deeply embedded socially, so that interventions are likely to cause extensive "collateral damage," but many governments are enmeshed with the phenomenon, be it via occasional, individual bribes; institutional corruption; or outright state complicity.¹¹⁵ Unfortunately, political will is also deemed an indispensable driver of state action. Thus, much as with irregular warfare, we confront

the same fundamental obstacle: how to galvanize governments to act and, when they do, to do so in the most effective and strategically appropriate manner.

First, political will is not a static variable. It cannot become, as it oftentimes does, a self-fulfilling excuse for not trying. A better approach is to dissect exactly what has shaped the prevailing interest in solutions. Malena provides a useful framework, casting will as a function of political *want*, political *can*, and political *must*—leaders must desire the change, believe that they can achieve it, and that doing so is necessary.¹¹⁶ It is a breakdown that hints also at potential levers for how political will can be built up—or destroyed. Rather than stop the discussion at the point of political *want*, progress can be achieved by illustrating the range of opportunity (*can*) and inspiring higher levels of motivation (*must*).

Starting with the latter—the *must*—there is potential in creating "public pressure and citizen engagement, organisational rules and regulations, and a personal sense of civic duty."¹¹⁷ From the bottom up, avenues of communication must be opened that allow the victims of organized crime to express their grievances to the political leaders charged with response. Particularly as concerns corruption, which typically is where the state comes in, there is merit in adopting a "victim perspective," not least because corruption can easily be mistaken as a "victimless" crime.¹¹⁸ As Marquette and Peiffer argue, by demonstrating how corruption diminishes democracy and by emphasizing "the downstream violence that may occur in chains of activities that corruption facilitates," it might be possible to generate the well-placed allies needed to start a movement.¹¹⁹

Meanwhile, from top-down, the international community can play a valuable role in prescribing behavior and reinforcing norms, though enforcement will clearly remain a challenge. In a 4-year period starting in 2000, the international community passed a flurry of measures to address transnational crime and corruption.¹²⁰ These have since been complemented by more agency-specific guidelines and conventions. The activity is useful and helps shape norms, and yet, much as with the United Nations' (UN) sprawling architecture for counterterrorism, it suffers from a lack of coordination. The bigger problem is that these conventions ask states to engage productively with politically sensitive areas, where policy is determined by conceptions of interest and fear, not by the entreaties of international action plans. There are instruments to ratchet up external pressure, but does the international community itself have the political will to impose itself on an unwilling government?

International engagement is also relevant to the political *can*. Indeed, donors must be able to determine whether the lack of political will stems from a dearth of motivation or simply a lack of capacity. In settings where questions of political *must* have been or are being resolved, progress may be attainable through security cooperation and the building of partnership capacity. Still, as discussed, this is an area where the intent of assisting states can easily be subverted through mirror-imaging or an inadequate understanding of the local political and social interests. Effective engagement may require candid agreement on what are truly common goals (rather than just on those pushed by external actors) and then a creative mix of carrots and sticks to ensure progress. Much as in various efforts to build capacity for irregular warfare, it is also critical that the engagement be far more than episodic, go beyond enforcement agencies, and be tracked carefully in terms of outcomes. Indeed, to push against the tendency to militarize the response to organized crime, those providing assistance must similarly demilitarize their guidance and advice.

Conclusion

Political violence and crime are both scourges of society. Both attack the rule of law and are conducted by clandestine actors challenging the status quo. The two phenomena share at least one further trait: our response to both is bedeviled by the complexity of the threat, its social and political characteristics, and the difficulty of achieving sustainable progress. Within the world of counterterrorism, an irregular warfare lens helps point to the often-neglected character of the problem, focusing the attention of analysts and practitioners alike on the struggle for legitimacy underlying the violent clash. As this chapter has argued, a similar lens can have utility also for reinterrogating the problem of organized crime.

An irregular warfare lens applies to organized crime in three related ways. First, certain criminal actors resemble irregular warfare ones, in particular insurgents and rebel factions, in that they are embedded within and sustained by a particular political and societal context, one that must also be addressed for action against the group to be strategically meaningful. An overwhelming focus on the challenge, be it violence or crime, that neglects questions of context risks misinterpreting the nature of the problem. Second, criminal actors diversify their approach and adopt formidable strategies to ensure protection, sustainability, and profit. In this manner, they are akin to various irregular groups that—in addition to carrying out armed action—also govern, communicate, and conduct outreach to solidify their position. An effective response must account for all this activity. Third, organized crime is itself a key vector for various states seeking influence and access in target states. As states sponsor and use these groups, responding to the latter must necessarily account also for the former.

Based on these commonalities (and others), this chapter has enumerated the lessons gained in two decades of engagement in irregular warfare, referencing Afghanistan in particular, and applied these to the practice of countering organized crime. There is a tendency, in both fields, to militarize the response, or to let it be governed by a purely suppressive logic. Thus, the social, political, and economic functions of organized crime are obscured. In both contexts, mirrorimaging subverts the efforts of donor states wanting to help those at the frontlines of instability, and in both cases, this extends from the technical to the ontological, with implications for how we understand the state. There is, in both cases, a need to mobilize bottom-up networks and work alongside communities as crucial partners, particularly where national governments are absent or uninterested in intervening. Indeed, in both cases, there is a need to engage far more closely with what produces political will and with how calculations of elite interest can be shaped over time.

Given these common difficulties, there is a final common requirement, that for strategy. Rather than fall back on principles, best practices, and conventional wisdom, there is a need for far greater understanding of what constitutes strategic thinking and how to apply it. In the three subsequent chapters, we will use the thematic commonalities between irregular warfare and countering organized crime to present a framework of analysis and action that guides practitioners through a Strategic Estimate and Course of Action. This framework builds on the above lessons from irregular warfare, to include counterinsurgency. It is a resource for both academics and policymakers and is proposed as a valuable tool precisely to sharpen strategic assessment and response.

Chapter 3: Introducing the Irregular Warfare Lens and the Framework for Analysis and Action

The discussion in the last chapter highlights the need for more comprehensive assessment of terrorism and insurgency and better proficiency at strategy development. It also noted that state efforts to counter organized crime point to a strikingly similar set of lessons. The precise setting of these lessons differs, but policy actors and researchers, it seems, are victim to the same analytical tendencies.

In the realm of counterterrorism and counterinsurgency, the introduction of an irregular warfare lens helps focus attention on the political and social context of collective violence. Awareness of such context, and the need to understand the system that is driving and enabling the problem, produces greater sensitivity to the requirements of strategy. Because the hurdles in counterterrorism and counterinsurgency are comparable to those found in countering organized crime, a similar irregular warfare lens can also be helpful in crafting strategy against gangs, cartels, and other illicit structures.

In making such a case, this chapter engages with three major points. First, it explains the value of the irregular warfare lens in understanding not only problems of political violence and subversion but also challenges of organized crime. Second, it illustrates how the CISA Framework for Assessment and Action responds to the nature and character of irregular warfare and therefore seeks to correct for the analytical and practical hurdles discussed in the previous chapter. Third, the chapter lays out the alterations made to the framework to adapt it to problems of organized crime. This section also discusses the utility and limitations of analytical frameworks in general. A step-by-step walk-through of the adapted framework follows in chapters 4 and 5.

The Irregular Warfare Lens

The U.S. Department of Defense for many years offered a fairly lucid definition of irregular warfare as "a violent struggle among state and nonstate actors for legitimacy and influence over the relevant populations."¹²¹ It added that irregular warfare "favors indirect and asymmetric approaches, though it may employ the full range of military and other capabilities, in order to erode an adversary's power, influence,

and will."¹²² In contrast to the "regular wars," wherein states win through military means, and which occupy most of the Pentagon's attention, irregular warfare sees actors adopt more indirect and diverse approaches so as to offset their conventional inferiority. A successful irregular challenge thus displaces the conflict from the military field, where the state is strong, and forces it instead to respond in ways where it often struggles, via political and informational channels, all within a contested and unpredictable security environment.

The challenge is clear, and yet the real contribution of irregular warfare is that it posits these confrontations as contests for legitimacy, wherein violence merely supports a political struggle. This is a central point that is often lost in analysis (and, indeed, has been lost in the Pentagon's reworked definition of irregular warfare). The phenomenon does not primarily denote an asymmetry in military approaches (conventional versus guerrilla) or in legal status (state versus nonstate), but rather a struggle defined by its objective: "to undermine and erode an adversary's power, influence, and will to exercise political authority over a civilian population."¹²³ As the struggle for legitimacy is won or lost, opportunities for effective action swell or shrink, determining thereby the flow of the conflict and creating new political realities along the way. As implied, the minimum requirement is not to build but rather to erode legitimacy, a far easier task but one with potentially debilitating consequences. This reality drives home that legitimacy is not quantitative. As with all relationships in irregular warfare, it is the correlation of tangible and intangible forces that drives the outcome.

The discussion of legitimacy requires two clarifications. First, the state cannot in any way assume to hold legitimacy merely because it is "duly constituted" or has legal status. The tendency to view the state unquestioningly as a benefactor and provider, and its enemies as the main or only threats, wishes away the very heart of the problem: a lack of government legitimacy, split loyalties among the population, and contested governance among a range of actors. Legitimacy is subjective, fluid, contextual, and contested. Nothing can be taken for granted.

Second, legitimacy in irregular warfare is not a popularity contest. If legitimacy denotes recognition of authority and willingness to obey, this can quite clearly be achieved through the coercion of a civilian population. Indeed, those who decide who lives or dies can usually muster the cooperation they need.¹²⁴ Over time, such compliance can even generate a sense of legitimacy, or an acceptance of the rule of the games which—at the very least—are predictable and well understood. Still, this type of control, or what may be termed "negative legitimacy," is commonly fragile and difficult to sustain. Thus, more potent actors seek to blend coercion with some degree of co-option, so that resistance to the project is reduced or turned into support. At no point, however, is legitimacy merely about "being liked." It will also require a self-interested calculation that loyalty to the system will pay off. This is, indeed, what is meant by winning both hearts *and* minds.

The Three Components of Irregular Warfare. In studying the nature of irregular warfare, three main characteristics stand out, as they explain the inherent ambiguity of the approach and its appeal to a wide range of actors. As will be explained, they also help explain the structure of the Framework for Analysis and Action.

First, irregular warfare blends disparate lines of effort to engage in the contest for legitimacy. It compensates for weakness in one area—typically, raw military might—by bringing other efforts into play. In Iraq, Afghanistan, and elsewhere, insurgency has blended terrorism and other forms of violence with a range of nonmilitary efforts: governance, service delivery, mobilization, and legitimation. Among insurgents, the approach was perhaps best conceptualized, and also executed, by the Vietnamese and their "war of interlocking."¹²⁵ What occurs in the realm of violence is critical, but it gains meaning through its symbiotic relation with other efforts: what the actor is doing politically, through alliances and nonviolence (also known as political warfare), and by internationalizing the struggle.¹²⁶ These lines of effort must therefore be interrogated and countered as doggedly as the more high-profile use of violence.

The second facet of irregular warfare is its exploitation of social and political contradictions to delegitimize the adversary and gain leverage. At least since the American Revolution—but more saliently because of the post–World War II wars of decolonialization and their abundant literature—insurgency has been understood as rebellion executed with awareness of the structural or systemic issues at stake. The challenger targets the pressure points of society, using key grievances

and issue areas, to mobilize an armed political challenge to the legitimacy of the ruling authorities. It is in this manner that terrorist groups become successful insurgents. IS exploited Sunni-Shiite rivalries in Iraq to rally a popular base and pry society apart, much as the Taliban was able to capitalize on the incompetence and injustices of central governance in Afghanistan.

Third, because of irregular warfare's emphasis on mobilization, narratives are crucial. They not only describe and explain reality but also achieve buy-in for political projects or shroud the nature of actions taken. Writing in 2006, Lawrence Freedman recognized the growing strategic salience of narratives, describing them as "designed or nurtured with the intention of structuring the responses of others to developing events."127 Revolutionaries throughout time have understood that insurgency needs a good story to survive. As sociologist and political scientist David E. Apter has put it, "People do not commit political violence without discourse."128 In preparing for the 1917 revolution, Vladimir Lenin saw "systematic, all-round propaganda and agitation" as "the pressing task of the moment."129 Hitler famously weaponized the radio and used state propaganda to radicalize an entire nation. On the Viet Minh revolutionary war, General Vo Nguyen Giap noted that "the most essential and important task was to make propaganda among the masses and organise them."130 Osama bin Laden picked up on the theme, arguing that "the media war" is "one of the strongest methods . . . [reaching] 90 percent of the total preparation for the battles"; Ayman al-Zawahiri, more modestly, saw "more than half of this battle" as "taking place in the battlefield of the media."¹³¹ IS—always seeking to outdo—has claimed the power of narratives can "be more potent than atomic bombs."132

An Irregular Warfare Analytical Framework: Origins and Utility

Most organizations that engage in programmatic activities have some type of method to unpack the challenge at hand and elaborate a response. The utility of such tools is that they guide assessment and practitioners to structure and convey their analytical ideas. They are often based on accumulated institutional experience and the study of a particular problem. Their content reflects the requirements found to matter in such settings and pushes practitioners through prompts or steps that force consideration of these same features. Frameworks such as the one presented here are therefore not new, nor in short supply. And yet, these tools can also be contentious—particularly among academics, who view them as artificially imposing template solutions on sui generis and complex problem sets.

Ultimately, the utility of frameworks and planning tools depends largely on how and why they are used. Of course, no framework will remove the challenge of dealing with complex tasks. Their value lies instead in asking the right questions, those found through experience to be relevant, so that practitioners—both unseasoned and veteran—are encouraged to think through aspects of their work that might otherwise be missed. In other words, analytical frameworks help flesh out and sequence analysis in a way that allows the systematic identification and study of what matters. Without such assistance, it is all too common for organizations to fall back on preexisting repertoires (or standard operating procedures), particularly in times of high stress or shrinking time horizons. Elsewhere, analytical complexity yields circular and paralyzing polemics as to which part of the problem to privilege: its causes or its symptoms, the adversary or our strategy, the ideology or its resonance. A comprehensive framework should allow the analyst to consider all these questions in turn, enabling therefore a comprehensive mapping of the problem and a suitable foundation for the crafting of a tailored response.

This leads to a second key function of planning frameworks. Though the content of a strategy is key, a related challenge lies in *communicating* the product. Indeed, the purpose of a planning tool is not just to generate good ideas as an end in themselves, or simply to admire the problem, but to use the insight generated to inform collective planning and action. This typically requires a common vocabulary and understanding. It requires a common picture of the strategic intent and rationale, and of how subsidiary tasks nest within broader efforts. Similarly, a framework should help practitioners convey issues of prioritization and tradeoffs, the phasing of efforts, and how precisely the proposed inputs are linked with sought-after outcomes (also known as the theory of success). By asking practitioners to consider these and other questions, a framework can help distinguish a strategy from a list of objectives. Given the utility of planning tools and frameworks, there is no shortage of such products, some more intricate than others. As elaborated in chapter 6, which presents a cross-comparison of various such tools, the Framework for Analysis and Action is the only one designed for the nature and challenges of irregular warfare. At NDU's CISA in Washington, DC, it was our mission to assist practitioners at the frontlines of various irregular warfare struggles to understand the challenge at hand and to contribute with a proposed solution. This has typically required officers and officials to unpick the full breadth and depth of a political problem, to map the variegated adversarial strategy being employed, and assess the societal contradictions giving it strength. It is typically a tall order, and one that calls for strategic literacy.

To assist, Thomas A. Marks used his practical and analytical background with People's War to create a framework of analysis that could be used in the classroom. Originally a rough draft and then a series of articles, the framework evolved over time into what has now been presented in more extensive form. It has continued to evolve, yet the basic analytical foundation remains the same. The focus throughout was on the struggle for legitimacy. This can hardly surprise, given that irregular contestation invariably emerges from a challenge to the authority—the right to rule, thus power—of the existing order.

The Framework for Analysis and Action takes the three facets of irregular warfare as its inspiration (see figure 1). Because irregular warfare relates to the exploitation of grievances, hopes, and aspirations, the Roots section interrogates the structural conditions that are being used to empower challenge to the existing order. Because irregular warfare is about the weaponization of narrative, a Frame and Narrative section asks how the threat group assesses and presents the world, and how its framing is resonating with contested audiences. Because irregular warfare blends various lines of effort to generate power, a Threat Strategy section maps the approach to political change in its entirety—objectives, methods, and resources, all driven by a theory of victory or success. At this point, the nature of the challenge or problem will be clear, which leads to consideration of just how response is being implemented and to what effect (see chapter 4 for details).



Figure 1. Original Framework for Analysis and Action

Key: E-W-M: ends-ways-means; COG: center of gravity; CVs: critical vulnerabilities.

Note: Figure shows the Strategic Estimate (assessment) in relation to the Course of Action (proposed strategy).

Source: David A. Ucko and Thomas A. Marks, *Crafting Strategy for Irregular Warfare: A Framework for Analysis and Action*, 2nd ed. (Washington, DC: NDU Press, 2022).

In responding to these prompts, the analyst builds a Strategic Estimate of the Situation, as depicted graphically in the top row of figure 1. The Pentagon defines an estimate as "an analysis of a foreign situation, development, or trend that identifies its major elements, interprets the significance, and appraises the future possibilities and the prospective results of the various actions that might be taken."¹³³ This part of the framework is strictly diagnostic, not prescriptive, and yet it occupies a significant portion of the whole. Its depth and intricacy are deliberate, as understanding the challenge is a prerequisite for an effective response. In this manner, the framework operates on the principle ascribed, apocryphally, to Albert Einstein, that if given an hour to solve a problem, he would spend 55 minutes thinking about the problem and 5 minutes thinking about solutions. The essential foundation for strategy is understanding the problem.

Only when the situation is thoroughly diagnosed does the analysis proceed to the second half of the framework, the Course of Action, which seeks to counter the problem investigated in the Estimate. With the Strategic Estimate as a blueprint, the framework helps produce a strategy that addresses the problem within its context, balancing actions to counter the threat with those intended to remove its roots, or nourishment. In designing this response, the framework leans heavily on the military decisionmaking process (also known by the abbreviation MDMP) and its particular focus on operational design and campaign architecture. These conceptual tools compel identification of a theory of success, of ends, ways, and means (objectives, methods, and resources), and of relevant metrics, or of how progress may be measured. Assessments of legal authority, planning assumptions, and risk and mitigation are also indispensable (yet often missed) components of this decisionmaking process. Crucial throughout (and reflected by the three red arrows in the graphic above) is that the planned strategy responds to the analysis uncovered and distilled through the first half of the framework.

Adapting an Irregular Warfare Framework for Organized Crime

In the several decades after 9/11, the concept of irregular warfare gained renewed vitality. Practitioners engaged in countering violent extremism and radicalization came to realize that terrorism has context—and that context matters. Indeed, as a phenomenon, terrorism—substate actors using or threatening violence against civilian targets for the purpose of political communication—can take on entirely new significance depending on the group's social and political standing, the sophistication of its strategy beyond the "senseless" attacks, and—most fundamentally—its legitimacy, or mobilizing potential. The idea of irregular warfare sought to capture these dynamics. The term was intended to help move beyond the narrow confines of a "war on terror" and force consideration of the "struggle for legitimacy" underlying the violence.

If our responses to insurgency and to organized crime face similar challenges, and if the above framework was designed to overcome these within the context of counterterrorism and counterinsurgency, how can it be adapted and applied to contexts of organized crime? In applying an irregular warfare lens to organized crime, the major objection is typically that organized crime is driven by a different objective and is therefore distinct. Whereas states and insurgents have explicit political motivation, organized crime seeks profit. All the same, actors involved in organized crime are deeply political in their effect, if not in their ideology. Their strategies rely on shaping the surrounding political landscape (through corruption, the erosion of institutions, and the insistence on impunity) so as to enable maximum profits. Their goal is to alter behavior in line with their business model, creating in that manner a political alternative to the laws and norms proposed by the state. In doing so, the organized criminal element is, in effect, engaging in "a violent struggle among state and nonstate actors for legitimacy and influence over the relevant populations."¹³⁴

The conceptual overlap goes further. In 1992, Abadinsky laid out an influential list of attributes to describe organized criminal groups. He suggested that they are nonideological, hierarchical, and monopolistic; have limited or exclusive membership; operate in perpetuity, use illegal violence and bribery; demonstrate specialization or a division of labor; and are governed by explicit rules and regulations.¹³⁵ Though certainly ideological, insurgent groups share the rest of these characteristics. It could even be said that a criminal organization operates by its own political creed, even ideology, which justifies and gives meaning to the illicit pursuit, furnishes a sense of belonging, and attracts new members to the cause. Moreover, both criminal organizations and insurgent groups operate aboveground and clandestinely, all at once, using either side of the law to extend their power. Their challenge to the writ of the state results in an alternative, or illicit, order that displaces the formal rule of law and determines "who gets what, and when"—the very essence of politics.¹³⁶

In these ways, terrorism, insurgency, and organized crime share a common foundation in irregular warfare. This becomes clearer still if we return to the three major facets of irregular warfare discussed above. First, much as insurgents will combine various lines of effort to offset their conventional military weakness, so is a blended approach a distinguishing feature of criminal enterprises. Beyond their actual criminal activity, these organizations will also seek to reinforce their business model and eliminate likely sources of resistance through a variety of other efforts, including mobilization, recruitment, subversion, alliance-making, and even information operations. As seen in the previous chapter, a common misstep in responding to such strategies is to focus on the criminal behavior in isolation and thereby miss the supporting efforts that make the criminal problem intractable or self-replicating.

Second, much as insurgents will exploit grievances in society to build strength, or sap that of the state, so will criminal actors make strategic use of the political and social contradictions where they operate. It is because of the inadequacy of governance, or of legal avenues of grievance mediation, that people turn to organized crime, seeking therein an alternative structure of opportunity. Corruption, inequality, desperation, injustice, alienation—these are what criminal organizations use to set up shop and entrench themselves. The messaging and ideology may be less concerned with eradicating the system or proposing a new revolutionary blueprint, but the role of structural contradictions in driving the threat group is nonetheless largely the same. Once the organization becomes a going concern, it is an alternative society, albeit with different justification and rules, different standards of legitimacy.

Third, much as insurgents use storylines and project their ideological worldview, so do criminal actors, albeit perhaps less directly than their insurgent brethren. Even so, while a criminal organization will rarely present manifestos or even produce media, it communicates intensely on a "need to know" basis. Any criminal organization engaging with a clientele and potential sources of opposition needs believable narratives as to why its service are worthwhile and why resistance is not. Through framing, it creates a separate ontology, which implies not just coercion or extortion, but presenting a "correct" interpretation of objective realities—as seen by the challenger—to normalize deviance, delegitimize the system, and facilitate the business model. To counter such action requires both credibility and resonance, but these are also the main targets of adversarial information campaigns and are difficult to regain once lost.

In Clausewitzian terms, legitimacy is the "center of gravity" in irregular warfare—it is the "focal point of force and movement, upon which the larger whole depends."¹³⁷. This finding stems from the political essence of irregular warfare and

50

its grounding in politics and in the ability to control or co-opt contested populations. Similarly, in organized crime, the battle for control and co-options speaks powerfully to the "beliefs and attitudes of the affected actors regarding the normative status of a rule, government, political system or governance regime."¹³⁸ This in effect is the definition of legitimacy, or "the belief that existing political institutions are the most appropriate or proper ones for the society."¹³⁹

If organized criminal actors share key traits with insurgents, it follows that there are also commonalities in how to respond. In invoking counterinsurgency theory as a crime-fighting tool, a crucial caveat is immediately needed, given the military connotations of this term. The point is not to militarize further the response to organized crime, a response that already tends to be overwhelmingly suppressive in its logic. Instead, it is important to recall that *counterinsurgency in its theory is not a military but a political activity*.¹⁴⁰ The light that counterinsurgency in a fueled by specific political and social drivers which must, alongside the criminal group itself, be addressed, perhaps as the primary focus. In a very similar vein, the purpose of irregular warfare (despite its allusion to war) is to position the competition of legitimacy and influence over contested populations as the primary concern, and the violence as a contingent component of the overall struggle.

Given the significant overlap, the Framework for Analysis and Action can be an effective tool in assessing challenges of organized crime, unpicking thereby the components of this problem that are frequently missed in practice. However, it does require some tweaking in vocabulary along with a few notes on usage (see figure 2).

First, the state's relation to organized criminal groups is often distinct from its relation to terrorist and insurgent entities. Whereas insurgency implies antagonism between the state and its adversary, state actors are often themselves involved in the problem of organized crime. The issue is primarily one of greed and corruption, whereby criminal influences pervade state structures and make them complicit in the illicit activity. The relationship can go deeper still, with states using criminal networks to access votes, compete against other states, or to do their dirty work. The very mention of "conflict" in the framework therefore requires care, as the assumption of a confrontation does not necessarily hold when describing organized

Figure 2. Adapted Framework for Analysis and Action, Optimized for Organized Crime Problem Sets



1. STRATEGIC ESTIMATE

Note: As in its original form, the Strategic Estimate (assessment) is shown in relation to the Course of Action (proposed strategy).

crime. Instead, it becomes necessary to track the *interplay of systems* rather than assume a duel of two opposed actors.

This consideration is important but not insurmountable. Though the framework targets a threat to the state and thereby implies conflict, it does not presuppose that the problem is wholly external to the government—or even cohesive. It does assume an actor is behaving in threatening ways—to interests, values, or order—but it is up to the analyst to account for where it is located, what motivates it, how it operates, and what structure it has assumed. Within the mapping of threat strategy and the assessment of government response, there is ample opportunity to dissect unexpected complicity between licit and illicit actors, or the failure of the government to resist crime's corrupting influence.

Second, organized crime does not always present a cohesive group that can be analyzed or addressed in isolation. As Criminal Intelligence Service Canada explains, "In many cases, the strategic threats that concern criminal intelligence are not specific entities at all, but rather criminal *phenomena*, such as new criminal applications of technology, or the expansion of an illicit commodity.²¹⁴¹ The lack of an identifiable threat actor does complicate the application of a framework directed primarily at assessing and countering a particular movement. The framework will be less helpful where policymakers are focused on diffuse actors, patterns of behavior, or systemic trends. In many cases, however, a threat group or network is palpably present, or enables the criminal activity, and so is a necessary target for the response. Even in the absence of such a cohesive entity, there is merit in determining precisely what drives the problematic behavior, what functions it serves, and how it is justified, thereby to identify a suitable theory of success for how it may be more effectively countered.

A third obstacle concerns the application of the framework's military terminology to civilian contexts. Beyond the rather basic and certainly remediable point that civilians are often unfamiliar with military terminology, the more serious objection concerns the perceived securitization of how we think of and frame crime. As noted in the previous chapter, organized crime already lends itself to a militarization of response, as governments seek seemingly quick and decisive victories over complex problems. The fear is that by applying military terminology to nonmilitary problems, this bad habit will be reinforced.

On this point, it should be stated that nothing in this framework encourages a militarized or heavy-handed approach to the problem. The language of "threat" and focus on "defeating" its strategy do point to an *adversarial logic*, but this orientation is only appropriate given the harm and predation of organized crime (presumably the very reason for assessing the problem at all). In seeking to confront this harm, the framework does not privilege one response over another. That is the task of the analyst. If anything, the framework encourages a more comprehensive tack, in that it compels interrogation of what fuels the problem and of the threat's sociopolitical legitimacy. Reflecting on these questions should discourage merely palliative or narrowly suppressive approaches, but ultimately the framework only serves analysis, it does not define it.

Left to resolve, then, is the lack of civilian familiarity with the lexicon and tools of military planning. Such familiarity can be helpful because military doctrine presents a well-honed process for developing strategic assessments and courses of action, one with no real equivalent within the civilian world (a point further underlined in the chapter 6 analytical review of other planning tools). The framework seeks to provide this process to a broader audience. Meanwhile, it also broadens the military's approach in two ways: by elevating the focus from operational matters to the strategic level, or where matters of national policy are set; and (accordingly) by incorporating more than just military concerns, reflecting the political nature of the challenge. Thus, whereas the terminology leans on a military lexicon, and requires some familiarity therewith, there is nothing inherently military about the tool or the analysis it yields.

This last point does speak to a fundamental principle at play whenever planning tools and frameworks such as ours are to be used. A framework enables interrogation of problem sets. It forces attention to the aspects that must be considered. What it cannot do is predetermine the content or arguments generated through its prompts. With this being the case, the quality of the resulting product is still dependent on the skill and acumen of the analyst. It is still the analyst who must weave together the relevant data, make the case, and draw appropriate conclusions. The imagery of weaving is apt, because a related danger in using frameworks lies in rushing through prompts as one would a checklist, jotting down easy answers to complete the process. Instead, the purpose of a framework is to respond to the prompts fully, to unlock a process of intellectual development, so as to craft a strategic, creative, and critical product.

Conclusion

This chapter has laid out the rationale for a framework to assist assessment and the development of strategies. Never a panacea for complex problems, these tools can nonetheless be invaluable in assisting and structuring analysis and in crafting strategy. They provide practitioners with a tool and common terminology to apply in assessing and responding to evolving problems. They also provide an aide-mémoire to help walk through the necessary steps involved in planning. Finally, they may also promote intellectual discipline, in that various prompts must be considered, even interrogated, prior to coming up with solutions. In the absence of such a forcing mechanism, organizations typically persist with whatever is most comfortable or least disruptive, resulting in strategies that are either ineffective or, even, deeply counterproductive.

The CISA Framework for Analysis and Action provides these functions and applies them specifically to problems of irregular warfare. Because these types of challenges typically blend political, informational, and other lines of effort as part of the overall approach, the framework asks that analysis map the entire strategy, thereby to inform a more comprehensive response. Because irregular threats and adversaries exploit grievances and societal contradictions to mobilize and build strength, the framework asks analysts to identify the drivers of the problem and how they relate to the struggle for legitimacy at the root of irregular struggles. And because irregular warfare is so centrally driven by framing and narrative, the framework asks analysts to identify the competing storylines at the heart of the struggle and to query their resonance, and with whom. Ultimately, the framework asks crucial questions about the contending claims to legitimacy to construct—in the second half of the framework—a response that addresses this fundamental arbiter of power and influence.

Adapting this framework to organized crime helps to uncover this phenomenon's irregular warfare character. Far from purely a greed-driven illicit behavior, organized crime speaks to political fracture, systemic societal contradictions, and a struggle of legitimacy between the authorities and their challengers. By adapting the Framework for Analysis and Action somewhat, it can serve as a deeply helpful tool to explore and address these dynamics of organized crime problems. Based on this underpinning, the following two chapters explain the Framework for Analysis and Action as adapted to organized crime. An appendix provides a "user's guide" that lends itself to quicker application.

Chapter 4: The Strategic Estimate of the Situation

To French Marshal Ferdinand Foch, strategy was fundamentally about applying knowledge to life; hence his key question, *De quoi s'agit-il*?, or "What is it all about?"¹⁴² More often, the strategic process begins not with a question but with a preconceived answer, resulting in interventions that are "blind to context, and politics in particular."¹⁴³ This approach is counterproductive but regrettably common, reflecting institutional reliance on standard operating procedure and the rush to find "solutions."¹⁴⁴

The Framework for Analysis and Action seeks to avoid this pitfall, which is why it devotes its first half to developing a Strategic Estimate of the Situation. Within military terminology, an estimate is an assessment of a problem that allows for and informs planning. The "situation," in turn, is simply the set of circumstances that are to be assessed. In all cases, the estimate unpacks the problem, places it in political context, and maps the strategies of its various players, including the state. The point is to begin by identifying relevant opportunities and obstacles and then to use such knowledge to design a better way.

Conducting a Strategic Estimate can be time-consuming and difficult, but it is also indispensable, particularly when the "situation" is ambiguous and complex, as is the case with most irregular challenges. Analysis of terrorism is readily politicized: witness the United Nations' inability to even define the term save in several of its relevant instruments. On organized crime, Skaperdas suggests "perhaps the hardest aspect of the struggle . . . before even one begins to talk about the engineering of the problem, is *assessing reality*."¹⁴⁵ In both contexts, analytical clarity confronts the clandestine nature of the struggle, its entrenchment within a complex political economy, and the normative biases that subvert understanding.

The Strategic Estimate breaks down these complex problems into five components, represented in figure 3 as boxes to inspire and justify the response proposed through the framework's second half. Specifically, the Strategic Estimate defines the problem, its societal and political drivers, its expression, and its functions, along with the role of the present response in shaping it. The remainder of this chapter explains how.

Figure 3. Strategic Estimate Section of Framework, Adapted for Organized Crime Challenges



Problem Statement

The problem statement seeks to capture, concisely and precisely, the essence of the challenge at hand. This summation of a complex and threatening situation into a brief problem statement is important, not only to aid communication, but— most fundamentally—because the distillation of knowledge implies a strategic exercise of prioritization. What is it that truly matters, why, and to whom?

Identifying the problem can seem difficult, as the answer is so subjective. It may relate to the crime, or to deeper issues fostering criminality as a symptom, or to the reasons why the state is unable or unwilling to respond. Is illegal migration the problem, or is it the economic disparity fueling this phenomenon, or the revenue collected by predatory smugglers? Is the problem the existence of gangs, their use of violence, their trading in drugs, or their corruption of officials? Or is it the state's loss of control? How the problem is framed will inform perceptions of what strategy is needed and how success is defined. As such, crafting the problem statement should be conducted carefully, precisely, and with full awareness of the implications at hand.

Practitioners also tend to engage with problem identification in a very siloed way or in a manner driven by position and mission. In other words, the analyst may be tasked with only a facet of the problem (border counter, counternarcotics, or countercorruption) and the response will not go beyond this mandate. The bureaucratic segmentation of analysis is itself a problem because criminality, in its methods and effects, seldom fits within the siloes thus created.

The Framework for Analysis and Action seeks to address this challenge by encouraging the emplacement of problematic behavior (be it terrorism or criminal activity) within its social and political context, to highlight in turn the need for cross-cutting actions by way of response. Through the boxes that follow the problem statement, the analyst is asked to identify specifically the drivers of the problem, the contending narrative of legitimation, and the broader functions of crime in society, as well as the role of the response in shaping the problem. The intent of this analytical journey is to challenge the analyst's preexisting biases and assumptions, to foster a more comprehensive assessment of the threat, and to point towards more strategic engagement. It follows that while it is placed first, the problem statement cannot be completed until the other components of the Strategic Estimate have been interrogated. This first box is the synopsis rather than a starting point for analysis.

Roots

A key lesson from past practice is that the sociopolitical embeddedness of organized crime—to wit, its structural drivers and legitimizing function—is central to understanding the persistence of the phenomenon. This type of perspective, also known as a political economy lens,¹⁴⁶ speaks to the "roots" of the problem, or the forces that perpetuate or enable harmful behavior and that will probably require redress as part of any effective response.

Maguire proposes this type of analysis for poaching and ivory trafficking in Kenya. The "key drivers" that sustain this criminal behavior, he suggests, "broadly constitute the endemic corruption of Kenyan politics, the ethnically fragmented nature of the Kenyan polity and society, high levels of socioeconomic marginalization and the prevalence of small arms."¹⁴⁷ Unless somehow addressed, these factors are likely to perpetuate the problem, regardless of any palliative remedy. Similarly, the roots of drug trafficking in Rio de Janeiro can be seen in the socioeconomic exclusion of the favelas, the internalized helplessness of the local population, extensive government corruption, and abusive security operations.¹⁴⁸ Enforcement activity that does not address these factors will struggle to stem the flow of new recruits into drug-trafficking gangs.

Identifying the roots of a problem requires considerable effort, yet it is central to the crafting of strategy. The challenge lies in identifying which roots are analytically meaningful, neither downplaying nor overstating their effect. Because crime is often about enrichment, it is for example tempting to reduce root causes to a discussion either of greed or of poverty. Yet while deprivation may lead to desperation, and thereby to crime, clearly not all poor people are criminals, and many criminals are not poor. Similarly, while greed is a common *motivation*, it is activated by perceived *opportunity*, which forces more careful analysis. Indeed, arriving at specific answers requires identifying the *intervening variables*, such as demographic details, geographic location, or socioeconomic opportunity, that vary the effect of structural realities across populations. This approach demands consideration of both the push and pull factors for criminal involvement, which may include perceptions of impunity, a dearth of licit options, or outside sponsorship of the criminal activity. Such dissection is crucial to avoid mistargeted interventions.

Social movement theory provides a useful lexicon for the task. It proposes three analytical lenses, the relationship of which helps determine the role of context (*macro*) in fueling individual participation (*micro*) in collective efforts at change (*meso*). The better this relationship is understood, the easier it is to discern societal embeddedness, and the more precisely root causes can be targeted. This also means acknowledging that motivation for criminal behavior will vary across the network or organization, with leaders and followers responding to different cues. The key here is to understand these nuances, to identify the drivers, in order to design a workable response.

If identifying roots is challenging, addressing them is harder still. We will return to this topic in our discussion of response, but two points already bear noting. First, the purpose of the "roots" analysis is to inform the response. The greater clarity and precision in our diagnosis, the less likely it is that our interventions will be mistargeted. The mindset should drive analysis in this part of the framework. Second, because resolving entrenched societal problems is usually complex, the response may aim to foster resilience rather than remove the driver itself. This may mean creating alternative mechanisms for coping with structural realities, rather than expecting the latter to be resolved. Severing the bonds between criminal networks and their clients, providing possibilities for self-sustainment and protection away from the criminal enterprise, or restoring faith in the licit system as opposed to its illicit counterparts will all help address the effects of root causes, even if the latter remain in place. Either way, none of this is easy.

Frames and Narratives

This section helps identify the storyline used to legitimize criminal behavior, or how those involved view their actions. Understanding such justification is important, as it can help with building convincing counternarratives or alternative visions that might channel decisionmaking.

Social movement theory again provides a valuable method via its work on *framing*, or the process of attributing meaning to events.¹⁴⁹ The metaphor of a frame is apposite, as the stories we tell also concentrate our minds on a singular aspect of reality while excluding the rest, producing a curated impression for a particular effect. Put very simply, the threat does not see the world as we do; nor do its clients. To help understand the distinction, social movement theory proposes three frames or lenses through which reality is viewed: the diagnostic explains what is wrong and (most critically) who is to blame; the prognostic pushes for a solution or way out; and the motivational encourages personal participation in this solution despite risk and sacrifice. Each plays a key role in changing perception and behavior.

In the case of criminal groups, the diagnostic frame most commonly focuses on the lack of legitimate options. Gangs, for example, typically present a primitive ideology of societal exclusion and marginalization.¹⁵⁰ Blame is placed on the government and system, which are cast as uncaring and corrupt. This lens sets up a prognostic frame that posits crime as just, as necessary, or as excused by the failures of the system. The motivational frame, meantime, compels the involvement of others in this criminal enterprise, perhaps by emphasizing solidarity with a constructed "in group," a cause bigger than oneself, and the great benefits that come with participation. Gang colors, signs, and other shibboleths are used to sustain participation even in the face of risk.¹⁵¹ A sense of honor, power, and strength is mobilized to foment a robust sense of belonging between the individual and the group. Though the exact messages and areas of emphasis will differ, all political narratives are informed by these three frames. Even where the narrative has not been made explicit—in a manifesto, or even more informally—it exists, as an implicit rationale for action. Through ethnographic research into the unlicensed sale and usage of tramadol in Lagos, for example, Klantschnig and Dele-Adedeji unearthed a narrative of desperation stemming from the inadequacy of medical care and the scarcity of well-paying jobs, along with a distinction between "moral medical and immoral recreational use." If these were the diagnostic and prognostic frames sustaining the trade—both for sellers and users—the motivational can be found in the "inter-personal relationships based on trust" that have become central to "deciding who would sell and buy from whom."¹⁵² As another example, Kelly demonstrates how human smuggling in Agadez, Niger, is supported by a narrative of limited opportunity, long-standing tradition, and the positive economic externalities of the trade on the businesses dotted around the trafficking routes.¹⁵³

By deconstructing narratives such as these, or the storylines of organized crime, we can understand how the collective actor of concern links structure with agency and justifies its own transgressions. We can then assess which component, or components, appear to resonate most, or "sell," among contested audiences, whether through ethnographic research, polling, or big-data analysis of social media trends. Of course, such analysis also requires identifying which audiences are of greatest concern. From then on, the response can engage more precisely with the struggle for legitimacy that lies at the heart of irregular warfare.

Threat Strategy

From the prognosis ("what is to be done?") comes the threat strategy. Mapping the threat strategy is essential to understanding the adversary, what it is attempting to achieve, and how. It also serves as a blueprint for the response that is to follow, as it can then be keyed to the identified strengths and weaknesses of the strategy it is targeting. The question as concerns organized crime is whether we can speak of these actors as pursuing a strategy. The term implies intentionality and design, and it may be argued that, in contrast with ideological or political actors, criminal groups lack a concrete plan or objective, much less a desired endstate. It is a fair point but does not undermine the methodology.

Even if it is not clear or articulated, and even if it is not terribly effective, all collective entities follow a plan. It is simply the how and why of their operations. Criminal actors may have no political objective, but they do seek profit and that presumes an approach or business model. The approach may not be advertised, but in this respect, criminal outfits are akin to other irregular or clandestine actors. All seek a predictable context that is supportive of illicit activity, which nearly always requires influencing and subverting the law of the land. An ideologically driven actor may desire a change to the status quo, whereas a criminal entity seeks only to sustain a hospitable business environment. Both, though, must act to ensure their preferred set of circumstances are realized and sustained. In either case, the challenge lies in surveying the totality of actions taken and to deduce from the whole the underlying strategy, which in turn can inform how to design a response.

Mapping a strategy requires methodology. The Framework for Analysis and Action leans on the tools of the U.S. military approach, which defines strategy as the relationship between ends, ways, and means, or how resources are used to attain goals over time.¹⁵⁴ It is a helpful model, particularly if elevated from its typically narrow military application to consider the range of activity at the strategic level.

Beginning with the ends, or objectives, the question may seem self-evident for criminal groups, which are literally defined by their illicit pursuit of profit. And yet, there is reason to dig deeper. A group such as the Fuerzas Armadas Revolucionarias de Colombia (FARC) certainly sought profit, but this goal existed, best evidence demonstrates, to power an ideological project, which complicated for many the assessment of actual strategic objectives. For poaching networks in Kenya and elsewhere, are the criminal actors driven by raw profiteering or a search for subsistence?¹⁵⁵ If corruption is the crime, is it used to generate profit, to subvert institutions, or as an accepted, if technically illegal, way to get things done?¹⁵⁶ Clearly, for criminal groups, the objectives vary, even if profit will typically be an important part of the whole.

For the ways, or methods, the first step is to query the overall *strategic approach*. What is the strategy and how does it work? Is it localized or transnational,

violent or nonviolent, clandestine or overt? As but one example of possible variance, Cockayne and Pfister distinguish among criminal groups that are "predatory," in that they "prey upon the resources of authority structures, in open conflict with them"; or "parasitic," in that a group preys but in a sustainable manner; or "symbiotic," in that they "coexist with existing authority structures," either through overlaps or outright complicity.¹⁵⁷ The wording will vary, but a crucial part is determining the actor's theory of success, or how it aims, over time, to achieve its goals.¹⁵⁸ Such an assessment can in turn reveal how to engage.¹⁵⁹

The next step is to map out the strategy in greater detail. While law enforcement will generally focus on the criminal behavior, the latter is often supported or enabled by, or in additional ways related to, other activities whose role as part of the whole must be understood. Where does the criminal enterprise find its workforce? How does it shape the environment? How does it cultivate and use allies and partners? How do coercion or corruption contribute to the strategy? Mapping the strategy helps answer these questions.

Mapping a threat group's strategy involves accounting for its various actions, which can be daunting and overwhelm analysis. The framework uses specific prompts to help locate and order relevant information. These are based on the study of past irregular conflicts and the scholarship of Thomas A. Marks in particular.¹⁶⁰ In a selection of works, Marks proposes that an insurgent strategy involves *five* possible components. To mobilize people and resources *politically* into an alternative to the existing order, find the issues to which they will rally. Simultaneously, win over domestic *allies* who will support the cause on tactical issues even if they hesitate to do so strategically. Use *violence* as appropriate to the situation to enable these two fundamentally political activities. Use *nonviolence*, such as subversion, propaganda, offers of negotiations, or inducements, to make violence more effective. And *internationalize* the struggle, making it difficult to contain or terminate within national borders.

These components inspire five questions that must be asked of any irregular warfare challenger. Adapted to the context of organized crime, they read:

• What, if anything, is the threat doing *politically* to bring about its desired objectives?

• How, and why, is the threat using *enablers* within the subject space to reach its objectives?

- How, and why, is the threat using *violence* to serve its objectives?
- How, and why, is the threat using *nonviolence* to serve its objectives?
- How, and with what effect, is the threat *internationalizing* its approach?

When interrogated, these prompts help identify relevant activity (beyond just the criminal behavior). The next step is to organize the resulting data in a way that helps analysis of strategy. Given the breadth of uncovered activity, it becomes important to group, or "nest," the data, so that actions are placed within their logical category. The field of military design is helpful, given its defined levels of analysis: tactical activity exists within operational approaches, and operational art (composed of operational advances) contributes to the strategic purpose. Distinguishing between these levels allows for a mapping of the strategy, so that its structure and content can inform the design of the response.

Mapping can be done bottom-up (from the tactical to the strategic) or topdown (the other way around). Either way, tactical activity (or the specific example of actions taken) is grouped within conceptual *campaigns*, or bundles of activity, based on a common intent or character. Related conceptual campaigns, in turn, constitute a *line of effort* (LOE), a major pillar of the strategy with its own purpose (indeed, more often portrayed as pillars, of Greek or Roman design). Each LOE will achieve an Interim Objective, with these feeding into accomplishment of the strategic objective, which is a desired endstate. Finally, campaigns are operationalized through application of means. The resulting synthesis of actions is displayed in figure 4.

As an example, various violent tactics (suicide bombings, improvised explosive devices, shootings) might be grouped within a conceptual *campaign of terrorism*. That campaign may then feature alongside other violent campaigns ("guerrilla warfare" and/or "mobile warfare"), each of which has a specific character and purpose, and each of which can be disaggregated to reveal its operational particulars




(what is normally displayed in any security operations center). Actions, in turn, can be carried out only by means, individuals and organizations that are tasked with execution. The alignment of various violent campaigns sharing common attributes will produce one Violence LOE, which ties together all that the group is doing violently and explains its strategic rationale (for example, to dominate the human and geographic spaces necessary to achieve the group's criminal end).

As another example, the Political LOE would seek to build the alternative to the existing power structure. To do this would require campaigns of *building* the alternative and *holding/governing* what has been built, both offensively and defensively. In turn, both the building and governing campaigns would necessarily be composed of subcampaigns, devoted for example to the mobilization of manpower and money. It and other subcampaigns could, in turn, be evaluated and displayed in whatever detail is required. Of signal importance, of course, will be the means: who and what operationalizes the actions.

The method relies on "nesting," or the grouping and placement of activity within its relevant category. The result is a graphical map that can be assessed from the bird's-eye view (the lines of effort, demonstrating the strategic pillars and their objectives), from the operational perspective of conceptual campaigns (the main components of each LOE, frequently compared to a string of pearls or beads, with their attendant means), or more tactically yet, but with a fuller understanding of how particulars relate to the bigger picture. Figure 5 provides a visual representation of this method down to the "operational art" or "campaign architecture" level, using as the example a generic insurgency group (*subcampaigns* could in theory be used to order further the tactical content of each campaign). Though this diagram does not feature the *means* used to enable the strategy, these would logically populate each effort and should be identified, as doing so can help determine areas of resource strength and weakness and how the actor has specialized assets for particular tasks.





Figure 6 applies this method in preliminary form to a criminal organization, namely the Brazilian gang Comando Vermelho. The mapping is based on the organization's strategy in the late 2010s, when it dominated Rio de Janeiro's favelas. Means are omitted but could be delimited drawing on the organization's structure and individuals (to include, for example, chain of command).

At this time, the government response to the gang focused nearly exclusively on its drug trafficking, but as revealed by applying the method above, Comando Vermelho's strategy was more complex. Certainly, it trafficked drugs, but that was but one conceptual campaign of what the analyst concerned termed a Sustenance LOE. And while the state focused on "violence," the mapping of what was termed a Coercion LOE added considerable depth to the assessment. Further, campaigns on the Political LOE and International LOE revealed a far more intricate approach than merely "drug trafficking" or "violence." Beyond all else, the totality of the assessment revealed an effort to gain legitimacy as the critical enabler.¹⁶¹ It was this totality of the strategy that made it so difficult, even futile, to address the drug trafficking in isolation.¹⁶²



Figure 6. Mapping the Operational Art of Comando Vermelho, ca. 2017

As indicated by figure 6, the names of the LOEs and of the constituent campaigns will vary depending on the case. Regardless, when a blueprint has been achieved, the next step is to assess the strategy for its strengths and weaknesses. In military doctrine, this type of assessment involves the determination of a *center of gravity*, or of a central source of cohesion and power without which the entire strategy would collapse.¹⁶³ Given the sociopolitical nature of irregular warfare, it seldom offers up a physical target that, if struck, will generate a decisive blow. Instead, it is necessary to query the intangible dimensions of the situation to give meaningful direction to the strategy that will follow.

As irregular warfare is a struggle for legitimacy, it is here that one finds the center of gravity at the strategic level. Legitimacy, in this context, determines the perception of might and right and shapes the degree of acquiescence or outright support for purported power structures.¹⁶⁴ Be it phrased in terms of *common interests, united fronts, trust, support*, or *credibility*, what matters is the right to lead and the normative power to shape behavior over time. With legitimacy, there is strong potential for mobilization, of people, allies, support, and momentum. Without legitimacy, the cost of doing business is dramatically increased, as are the efforts required to consolidate new political realities.

Legitimacy matters to criminal enterprises, as they must coerce or compel individuals to cooperate. Even where the criminal groups are purely coercive, they succeed because of a lack of state legitimacy, because the state's normative influence and power are too weak. Left in the middle are relevant populations and actors, who calculate based on interests and affinity and act accordingly. If a response can affect these calculations and achieve sustained influence, it will win the struggle of legitimacy and enable success—yet this is of course far easier said than done.

Because affecting legitimacy is difficult (it may require enhancing the state's relationship with its own people), inroads must be developed gradually to finally gain access. To this end, it is helpful to query the mapped strategy for "critical vulnerabilities"—gaps in the armor through which the beating heart of the problem can be struck. As defined in U.S. military doctrine, a *critical vulnerability* is a component "deficient or vulnerable to direct or indirect attack that will create decisive or significant effects."¹⁶⁵ Many targets are important but not vulnerable,

while some are vulnerable but not important. The task lies in finding the overlap to produce an initial attack that may start to affect matters of legitimacy.

The Strategic Estimate can help in this effort. Looking at the roots of the problem (the drivers of mobilization), the frame and narrative (the threat's worldview), and the threat strategy (its operationalization of ends, ways, and means), we can discern the weak points and poor connections in the approach. These may be mismatches between frames and strategy (what is said versus what is done), between roots and strategy (what fuels legitimacy versus the threat's mediation of grievances), or between components of the threat strategy itself (misalignments of objectives, approach, and resources). These, then, are the vulnerabilities that initial efforts can strike to build a better strategic position for subsequent action.

Present Response

Having dissected the problem, we turn to a critique of the present response. A dispassionate assessment of current practice is necessary to identify what is already being tried, why, and whether it is working. Only on this basis can a better response be proposed. It should be immediately clear that the first and foremost query is to discern whether the state is getting to the heart of the matter: legitimacy and the critical vulnerabilities. Often, the state is addressing symptoms and neglecting the reasons why they reappear.

In assessing the present response, a basic question is which actor and response the analysis should focus on. The answer depends on who is using the tool and why. Since organized crime is typically a transnational challenge, countering it will require a range of actors to act, ideally with some degree of coordination. It is therefore highly unlikely that whatever response is being assessed will be the total of the strategy or unfold in isolation. Instead, the key will be to assess the relevant actor's contribution to the whole, so that the same actor can improve its response—not just in attacking the problem but also in working better with others.

This analysis involves three steps. First, what is this actor's *perception* of the problem and of its own purpose in responding to it? What is the lens through which the issue is tackled, and is it seen as a priority? Second, what is the *strategy* currently being attempted? A key concern is identifying, even if it is unstated, the

current "theory of success," or the hypothesis informing the efforts: how are the actions taken intended to bring about desired outcomes? This context helps explain the strategy, not as a list of efforts, but as an approach undergirded by logic—even if it is faulty.

The third and most challenging step involves critiquing the response. Is the perception correct? Is the response neglecting (or overestimating) the peril at hand? What within the response is working and what are its weaknesses? Are there key roots, or parts of the threat strategy, that are being missed? Do we understand what motivates the criminality and those who rely on its functions? If the response is not making evident progress, does this shortcoming relate to a lack of political interests, of necessary resources, of strategic miscalculations, or the right approach applied on too small a scale? Where do legitimacy and critical vulnerabilities stand in these calculations? Are they being addressed?

In explaining a response's lack of success, analysis should consider the key variables of political will (motivation) and capacity (means interpreted as opportunity). Limitations in either, or in both, must be acknowledged before bold new strategies are proffered. A lack of competence or of interest need not be fatal, but specific measures will be required to address either shortfall. In other words, it may be necessary to "heal thyself" before seeking new ways of attacking the problem head-on. The question, then, is exactly why the actor charged with response is pursuing a strategy that is evidently not working. On that basis, can we do better?

Chapter 5: The Strategic Response

The second half of the Framework for Analysis and Action uses the Strategic Estimate of the Situation to create a Strategic Response. In a world where the term "strategy" is frequently misused, the utility of this framework lies in ensuring that the proposed response is indeed *strategic*—that is to say, that it is viable, has considered trade-offs and sequencing, and is governed by a theory of success that ties planned inputs to desired outcomes. The key lies again in the prompts, which encourage the elaboration of clearly defined objectives along with a concept of how to get there. Along the way, this second half of the framework also forces the strategist to identify assumptions made, to ascertain legal and analytical constraints, and to determine the risks and metrics of what is being proposed. Of course, the fundamental task of strategic thinking still lies with the analyst. The framework offers prompts and a roadmap, not the actual content.

The Course of Action half of the framework, like the Strategic Estimate, is based on the military decisionmaking process (MDMP), which is codified in an official process to guide planning and development of courses of action. Though most institutions have a planning method of some type, the MDMP is by some margin the most detailed and operational. (For a comparative analysis of different planning products, see chapter 6.) This advantage stems in part from the superior resources bestowed upon the military, which allow it to create bespoke entities and processes for planning. Equally so, it reflects the military's mandate to overcome unfamiliar threats in high-stakes environments. The military's toolkit therefore provides a solid blueprint, but it must be adapted for irregular warfare, so that its operational tools may be applied at the strategic level, where matters of policy are set, and account for the nonmilitary nature of the challenge.

Much like the Strategic Estimate, the Strategic Response comprises five focus areas, represented in figure 7 as boxes. The first—*concept of response*—outlines the new proposed strategy, demonstrating the break with current practice, as assessed in the Estimate. The second concerns the *legal authority* underpinning or required for the proposed response. The third clarifies any *assumptions* that were necessary to allow planning into an uncertain future. The fourth box details the envisaged *implementation* of the strategy across time and space and how its success may be

Figure 7. Strategic Estimate and Interaction With Course of Action, Adapted to Organized Crime



1. STRATEGIC ESTIMATE

measured. And the fifth box considers the *risks* created by the strategy and their possible mitigation. The remainder of this section goes through these boxes, adapting them to the context of organized crime.

Concept of Response

The concept of response provides a *brief synopsis* of the recommended course of action. Using the Strategic Estimate's critique of the present response as a pivot, this box conveys the change in direction and, in broad terms, its implications. The key is to advance the new strategy's *theory of success*; that is, how the recommended approach is intended to attain the desired conditions.¹⁶⁶ What constitutes a good theory of success will always be subjective, though it should be supported by the analysis in the Strategic Estimate. It might be possible, for example, to demonstrate why the proposed response addresses more effectively (than the present response) the roots, the frames and narrative, and/or the threat strategy. Justification might also relate to the targeting of legitimacy, plausibly through the exploitation of identified critical vulnerabilities. What remains essential is to communicate

the overriding logic for the response: why is it not only better but the best way forward given the context at hand?¹⁶⁷

To provide some context, it is possible to distinguish conceptually between a militarized approach to combating organized crime, which seeks to address the problem through swift suppression, and a rule-of-law approach, which may also be termed suppressive but operates through the criminal justice system rather than through blunt force. Each makes certain suppositions as to what approach will be most suitable in producing a desired outcome. Alongside such strategies lie a different theory of success altogether, focusing on nonpunitive, nonprosecutorial inputs to build resilience, create alternative livelihoods, and address the drivers of crime rather than its incidence.¹⁶⁸ On the basis of the Strategic Estimate—and thus the identified roots, narratives, and threat strategies—analysts will need to arrive at the theory of success most appropriate for the problem at hand.

As a relatively positive example, the nations involved in patrolling the Gulf of Guinea have over time emphasized the need to blend inputs to account for the complexity of the problem. Thus, their Strategic Response involves not just naval coordination at sea but also a comprehensive approach to the push factors on land that are fueling the problem of piracy. As Ralby explains, "Focusing on three pillars—security, development and stewardship—this non-traditional military effort seeks to combine operational security matters with efforts to safeguard the marine environment and improve the quality of life on land. Food security, economic security, energy security, and environmental sustainability are all part of this effort."¹⁶⁹ Piracy declined significantly in the region, though the requirements for addressing deep-seated structural grievances are significant. Indeed, studies suggest the persistence of onshore challenges and that the reduction in piracy has fueled increases in other forms of criminality, "[currently] perceived [to] yield more profit at less risk than offshore activities."¹⁷⁰ Therein lies a powerful lesson in unintended consequences and risk management (more on this later).

The strategy adopted by the Contact Group on Piracy of the Coast of Somalia (CGPCS) provides another relevant illustration of a workable theory of success. Here, too, the concept of response went beyond purely military inputs. Along with maritime interdiction and the hardening of likely targets, the effort focused also

on "the financial networks behind the individual groups of Somali pirates . . . the masterminds, or kingpins, and the funders."¹⁷¹ These efforts dramatically cut piracy in the region, hitherto a hotspot for maritime criminality. Curiously, capacity building in Somalia, or efforts to address on-shore push factors, were limited and focused mainly on juridical assets, such as the detention of captured pirates. As it happened, the flow of funds associated with such assistance proved sufficient to reduce obstruction and spoiling among affected communities, much as the building of prisons helped solve the "so-called 'catch-and-release' problem that had marred previous counterpiracy efforts."¹⁷² This strategy has largely worked, at least in stemming piracy, though it is worth noting that as Somalia's socioeconomic standards remain unchanged, those on the margins have typically migrated to different categories of crimes, including in this instance, the selling of fishing licenses, smuggling, and the khat trade.¹⁷³

To be clear, the most strategic response is not the one with the loftiest ideals or greatest ambition, but rather the one that can most viably attain its objectives at acceptable risk. In making the case, a powerful constraint will often be found in the actor's determination of interest, as communicated in its official documents, as implicit in its policies, or as determined and presented by the analyst; and in "political will," not just of the actor charged with response but of all the implementing parties on which it will rely. Where political will is lacking, and this is often the case, the strategy must engage with the potential ways in which it can be affected, and by whom.

If the path towards progress appears bleak, the task at hand may be more realistically broached via incremental steps. Thus, *phasing* can be seen as a helpful ally when setting out a concept of response and justifying its theory of success. Breaking the Strategic Response into a sequence allows for gradual yet meaningful progress toward an objective that, in the short term, may seem implausible. Of course, the journey across phases is seldom linear, and it is up to the analyst to balance convincingly the pragmatic imperatives of the short term with longerterm ideals. Indeed, trade-offs lie at the heart of strategy, and a good concept of response should demonstrate familiarity with this reality.

Legal Authority

For most licit actors, strategy must be based on legal authority. Acting within the rule of law engenders the legitimacy so critical for irregular warfare, be it for international or domestic audiences. The need to resolve legal ambiguities is also particularly pressing within irregular warfare, given the tendency of these challenges to blur legal lines, employ ambiguity as a weapon, and cover their tracks. It may be tempting to mirror such disrespect for the rule of law, but doing so will undermine legitimacy. Conversely, establishing and communicating a clear legal case can be a force multiplier, even when (or especially when) engaging against a threat that deliberately rejects this same set of constraints.

Organized crime raises legal difficulties that can subvert the state's Strategic Response. These may relate to the transnational nature of the problem and the difficulty of coordinating cross-border authorities.¹⁷⁴ For example, maritime interdiction—be it of trafficking, smuggling, or piracy—must untangle the legal constraints that apply in territorial seas, on the high seas, and ashore, possibly in loosely governed or fragmented states.¹⁷⁵ Elsewhere, governments require legal guidance to target armed gangs operating among civilian populations, to engage effectively without trampling on the rights of the community. When the level of violence is high, what are the appropriate rules of engagement to balance force protection with population security?

In circumstances where the rule of law has broken down amidst armed conflict, one must identify whether humanitarian international law or human rights law is the more appropriate legal framework, and how these might be combined. If the criminal entity can fight off the state or imperils the local population, the state response may need to escalate from peacetime law enforcement to military action, hence to displace the threat and enable the resumption of governance. This type of escalation raises ethical as well as legal dilemmas relating to the use of force, institutional authorities, and the legal status of one's adversary.

Colombia's struggle against the FARC provides a helpful illustration. When the government in Bogotá, having regained the strategic initiative, ramped up operations against the FARC in 2002, it legislated a way of flexibly scaling its legal authorities to the threat, thereby allowing it to switch between international humanitarian law (or the Law of Armed Conflict) and human rights law depending on the operation. Through judicial review of the threat, the state would distinguish between "operations during hostile scenarios" and "operations to maintain security." During the latter, peacetime law enforcement prevailed, making the use of force a last resort. Throughout the former, the state could respond forcefully to a well-armed and dangerous adversary—yet even then, the rules of engagement privileged demobilization and capture.¹⁷⁶ Any switch in legal authorities would also be independently reviewed before and after the act.

Colombia's innovation demonstrates that, for a response to be effective, the laws might need to change. Criminal organizations are adaptive and actively exploit legal loopholes to avoid sanction. As seen in illegal, unregulated, and unreported (IUU) fishing, legal "forum-shopping" can paralyze the response.¹⁷⁷ The state can react to such setbacks by updating its legislation, be it to catch up with evolutions in cybercrime, impose tougher sanctions as deterrence, enact emergency measures in response to crisis, or resolve issues of extraterritorial jurisdiction. A key example of such innovation, used by the U.S. Government against the Mafia, is RICO (Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations) legislation, which allows for broader and more severe punishment of crimes based on their belonging to a common conspiracy. Another example is the many multilateral initiatives that exist in Africa to seek better coverage against crimes that otherwise exploit transnational linkages to evade law enforcement.¹⁷⁸

Though updates to law are sometimes needed, the key is to adapt without undermining the government's perceived legitimacy. Just because enforcement can be ruled legal does not mean that it will be seen as legitimate. In that sense, writing one's own laws is like printing one's own money, another government prerogative. Both may appear to be easy solutions but can rapidly backfire. Establishing legal authority, therefore, is an area requiring great care and scrutiny.

Assumptions

The crafting of strategy is about forecasting, as the analyst suggests actions to be taken and their likely effect. Hence, "planning" is unavoidably based on assumptions, to bridge gaps in knowledge or control for unknowable variables. Assumptions are necessary but also filled with risk. The only way to mitigate this risk is to ensure that assumptions are used responsibly and that they are clearly communicated. It should be evident that if the assumptions prove false, the strategy will require review.

Accounting for assumptions can be challenging. First, making explicit assumptions about the future grants the planner the tantalizing power of deciding how events will unfold, at least on paper. This liberty can be abused, even unwittingly, to predict developments simply because they help the proposed strategy. To guard against this tendency, assumptions should relate to uncertainties *beyond the plan's anticipated outcomes*, but which would have a bearing on its execution. The purpose is not to assume that the plan will succeed, either in whole or in part, but to make explicit the context wherein it will be implemented.

Even where assumptions relate to the plan's environment rather than its inputs and outcomes, great care is still required. Because assumptions are inherent to everything we do and plan to do, an immediate danger lies in identifying too many assumptions, which quickly becomes counterproductive. The purpose is not to list every unknown factor (an endless task) but rather to identify and communicate the key gaps in knowledge that had to be bridged for planning to continue. This allows planners to track whether such assumptions remain valid. Still, analytical parsimony of this type is complicated within multiagency planning efforts, as each actor brings its own assumptions to the table, stemming from its culture, frames, and interests. More profoundly, in each case the assumptions made may also mask poor thinking or presuppose an unlikely setting for the strategy.

In the face of these challenges, three conditions can prove helpful. First, assumptions must be *valid*; that is, the presumption about the future must be reasonable given available evidence. Validity can be assessed via research or "red-teaming," the art of critically evaluating a strategy (sometimes by "playing the enemy"). Often, external review is indispensable.¹⁷⁹ Second, assumptions should be *important*; that is, their negation must significantly affect the strategy.¹⁸⁰ For every assumption made, the bearing on the plan should be obvious. Third, an assumption should be *necessary*; that is, it should resolve a significant gap in knowledge and thereby allow planning to proceed. As is clear, the *necessity* of an assumption exists in tension with its *validity*. An assumption that is unquestionably valid might not be necessary, and an assumption is necessary when we do not know exactly what is valid.

Given the pitfalls involved, the goal is to end up with as few assumptions as possible but as many as needed. Striking this balance is inevitably subjective. Still, the point is to identify whatever assumptions have been made, be they explicit (those communicated to aid in planning) or implicit (those that sneaked their way into the process), to test them rigorously based on evidence, and to render them clearly. At that point, assumptions candidly delimit the future setting in which the strategy may work. On this basis, some thought may also go to the consequences of an assumption being proved wrong—this is the process of identifying risk, to which we will return.

Implementation

This section provides the breakdown of the Strategic Response. It covers the *objectives* to be reached, the *strategic approach* adopted, the *strategic art* and *campaign architecture* employed, the *means* required, the main *phases of the plan*, and the *metrics* to gauge progress and sequence transitions. Enveloping and informing these components is the theory of success, or the big idea as to why the proposed strategy will work.

This significant section raises two questions: one of substance and one of style. First, what content goes into a Strategic Response; and second, how can a complex plan be made intelligible to others? We deal with each question in turn.

Using the Strategic Estimate of the Situation to Craft a Strategic Response. Interrogation of the Strategic Estimate and knowledge of comparable cases can help determine what the Strategic Response must address. The Strategic Estimate mapped the threat strategy to inform the priorities and content of the counterstrategy. If an adversary is engaging in a campaign of corruption to facilitate a criminal enterprise, a campaign of countercorruption may be required. This much is clear. Yet by identifying the specific subcampaigns of this conceptual campaign—organized perhaps by target or by method (specificity rests with the analyst)—the precise priorities of the response are revealed. Similarly, the other lines of effort (LOEs) and campaigns of the threat strategy should be used to design the response, thereby negating the intended effects of these actions.

Put this way, it all seems obvious, yet (as indicated in chapter 2) responses to irregular threats often overlook critical components of their adversary's strategy, typically because of a near-exclusive focus on the adversary's use of violence (in the case of terrorism and insurgency) and of criminality (in the case of organized crime). In contrast, the holistic mapping of the threat strategy encourages a multifaceted response and, by extension, identifies the means necessary for its execution. At the same time, it is insufficient merely to mirror-image the opponent's approach, or to let its strategic design dictate the terms of engagement. Instead, the response must at some point impose its own logic and purpose to achieve the necessary change. Put in simple terms, what is it one is fighting for? This informs and drives the theory of success that should guide its unfolding.

The other components of the Strategic Estimate can help make the case. One important aspect will be to address the roots of the problem. This is arguably the most complex and politically sensitive component of the Strategic Response, as it seeks to reform the *structures* of power, change conditions on the ground, and rewire social contracts. In many cases, the drivers of criminality are deeply entrenched, so alleviating them will require time and effort and probably be destabilizing, creating new winners and losers. There is also the question as to whether meaningful change is even possible.

To return to Colombia, the factors that fuel drug trafficking in that country relate to the limited governance and development in the parts of the country where coca is grown. Both the counterinsurgency campaign against FARC and the subsequent peace process sought, in different ways, to address this root of conflict by spreading the government to the periphery. As has become clear, this is a very difficult undertaking. At least 95 percent of the country's population lives in the sierra region in the west, where the country's major cities are located. Only 5 percent inhabits the savanna and the Amazon region, which are underdeveloped and difficult to access and where, not coincidentally, criminality makes its base areas.¹⁸¹ Given the incentives of electoral democracy and limitations on resources, there are compelling reasons for any government to focus on the developed majority rather

than the more isolated minority. Meanwhile, however, given the lack of alternative livelihoods, the profits of the drug trade, and the power of local gangs, there are compelling reasons for the rural population to turn to coca cultivation. Undoing this political-economic order—certainly a root of the problem—is anything but simple.¹⁸²

These difficulties are typical and point to the need for humility and creativity in addressing roots. One principle may be to focus less on resolving social and political contradictions and to work instead towards fostering greater resilience. Though serious grievances will likely remain, resilience implies an ability to prevent their maturation into desperation, criminality, and violence. The question then becomes not a matter of solving the socioeconomic problems at hand but creating systemic channels that are perceived as adequate in improving the situation over time. Even with this lower bar of ambition, however, achieving progress remains challenging.

Addressing the frames and narratives (assuming a multiplicity of relevant actors) implies reducing the acceptance of crime or of the services that criminal organizations provide. This effort strikes at the heart of the struggle for legitimacy that defines irregular warfare. Rhetoric alone is unlikely to sway in the absence of action. Even so, it is helpful to understand the worldview of those whose behavior the Strategic Response seeks to change. The Strategic Estimate's analysis of framing can provide some guidance, as does the key point that leadership is not manpower. It is leadership that diagnoses and through prognosis conceptualizes the way forward. Followers sign on to the project for myriad reasons. Thus, there invariably exists the opportunity to create division within the criminal project. It may be, for example, that seams emerge between the three different frames—the diagnostic, prognostic, and motivational—that can be exploited. It is also worth returning to the assessment of frame resonance to help target information campaigns and public diplomacy.

Similarly, the final box of the Strategic Estimate, the critique of the present response, is also crucial to the construction of a revised response. This section of the Estimate demanded that the analyst assess whether the current strategy of response is working and where shortfalls emerge. This assessment will also have identified the reasons for shortcomings, be they inadequate political will or resources, and thereby point to upstream priority areas that must be addressed if more ambitious action is to be taken. It may for example be necessary to work on altering conceptions of interest, an admittedly daunting task, by fostering greater awareness of what inaction will yield and of what can be achieved through a more effective approach.¹⁸³

Mapping and Presenting the Response to Threat Strategy. Beyond good ideas, it is necessary to present the strategy of counter clearly, not least when it is complex and involves multiple actors interacting over time. The search for clarity requires structure. To this end, we return to the terminology of operational design, adapted for the strategic level. We have already encountered the framework of ends, ways, means, to which we can now add "phasing" and "metrics" (or measures of effectiveness). Each of these components requires explanation (see below). It should be immediately emphasized, however, that all these components must be integrated. The strategy should come together as one unified product, with respective components informed by one another and the strategy's overall logic. Figure 8 provides a graphical representation of how the different components relate to one another.

The *ends* of the strategy are the objectives or conditions being sought. These must be carefully articulated, or the strategy will lack direction. Importantly, the ambition of the strategy is scoped by the planner, based on available means, time, political will, or other limiting factors as well as the need for positive change. Thus, the desired objectives might be to manage or contain rather than solve a problem, or even just to set up a more enabling context for follow-on action. The *ways* and *means* are treated together, because without means there are no ways; and means should only be employed to execute ways, not tasked as is the norm (for example, telling security forces to deal with crime, rather than constructing a strategy and then determining who and what will implement its parts).

The first step is to state, as in the concept of response, the overall *strategic approach* and its theory of success. The Implementation section of the framework takes this vision further, explaining the operationalization of strategic intent, or the "how" of the plan. The plan must provide a compelling sequencing of action to demonstrate its accumulation towards identified ends. A helpful way to visualize





this journey is to work backwards from desired objectives, via the interim conditions that they presume, until the envisaged set of circumstances is attainable from the line of departure. This mental exercise will generate an incremental roadmap that translates into phases and their content: What must be done now to set up the requirements for success later? It follows that rather than reacting to the present conditions, the key lies in doing so in a way that enables a subsequent step, that in itself is a precursor to the next step, with ultimate goals guiding the action.

This approach puts a heavy premium on the role of *phasing*, which if used judiciously can help prioritize and set the goals to be achieved over time. Separate phases could, for example, address different elements of the Strategic Estimate (roots, frames, and threat strategy) or be used to first "stop the bleeding" before more enduring actions are considered. Clearly, the more phases, the higher the level of abstraction, and of risk, and so planners should extend the strategy no further

than necessary. The phasing must, for example, acknowledge the likely effects of each step along the way and the reactions of other actors.

Within each phase, the plan should be able to present the broad strategic intent and how it translates, via nesting, into operational campaigns and tactical actions. Each phase will have its own LOEs, thereby producing over time a map of the strategy that can be grasped both at the macro level, to discern its overall logic and shape, and at the micro level, to reveal operational and tactical detail and their relation to the whole. It is vital throughout to recall the strategic purpose of actions taken.

Metrics are essential both in determining when transition points between phases have been reached and to gauge the success of the Strategic Response as a whole. Even so, the question of metrics is challenging, as irregular warfare concerns intangible aspects such as legitimacy, governance, support, and influence. The task is compounded by what many practitioners see as a fetishization of metrics, leading to the counting of whatever can be counted. The common practices in countering organized crime, of measuring arrests or seizures made, conviction rates, money confiscated, or investigations launched, can badly mislead, in that they say little about whether the problem is being addressed and whether matters are improving.

To do better, it is helpful to distinguish between *measures of performance* and *measures of effectiveness*. Measures of performance evaluate what is being done to address a problem, or the inputs. If more naval patrols are to stop smuggling, measures of performance gauge whether the patrols were carried out as intended. These institutional self-assessments can be important but do not concern the effect of actions taken.

Measures of effectiveness, in contrast, assess strategic outcomes. The purpose of our actions is not the effort put in, or even the output thereof, but the *outcome* as it relates to the identified problem. David Kilcullen makes this distinction in his discussion of roadbuilding in Kunar Province, Afghanistan. He notes that "what has made this program successful is not the road per se. . . . [It is that] people have used the *process of the road's construction*, especially the close engagement with district and tribal leaders this entails, as a framework around which to organize a

full-spectrum strategy.²¹⁸⁴ If the teams building the road provided the input, and the road was the output of their effort, the outcome was a political shift in allegiances and a reconfiguration of legitimacy.

Measuring cognitive and political effects is difficult. A major review describes it as "quite hard if not impossible" to get right. Various challenges immediately surface, including the intangibles at the heart of the matter, the paucity of reliable data, institutional disagreement over criteria, the reproducibility of data-gathering methods across time and space, and the political pressure to demonstrate success.¹⁸⁵ Given the added resistance to anecdotal evidence, many resort instead to the "illusion of science"—color-coded graphs, stoplights, arrows pointing up or down (or sideways)—to mask a lack of knowledge, of published standards, or of any real consensus on what success should look like.¹⁸⁶ Since metrics are nonetheless indispensable to knowing whether or not progress is being made, this is a conversation that requires more care and honesty. Successes have been recorded by getting "inside the loop" of the threat's own assessment of progress and difficulties.¹⁸⁷

Despite the complexity of the strategy and the difficulty of communicating it, the most important condition remains the basic but profound idea of what will generate success. No amount of terminology or mechanical cramming will substitute for it. The need to retain a clear focus on what matters is precisely the reason for nesting, so that all details provided are linked to the bigger picture. Everything must flow from this central idea, lest style suffocate substance.

Risk and Risk Mitigation

A change in Strategic Response implies not only new opportunities but also new risks, and these should be communicated. Doing so can be intense. To at least one analyst, despite the growth of various "risk frameworks" and other methodologies, risk assessment remains too often "ill-defined and misleading."¹⁸⁸

Though it may oversimplify, risk can be understood as that which can go wrong due to the change in strategy. This category can be further divided into two types: the plan's likely *points of failure*, due to a lack of capability or capacity; and

the *risk of unintended consequences*, or those that flow from the strategy's successful execution.

In countering organized crime, risks of failure are easy enough to foresee. Do we have enough means, are they sufficiently capable to execute the ways to which they are assigned, and has adequate coordination internally and externally been achieved to produce the desired effect? Risks of success require a more strategic awareness, to identify the plan's unanticipated second-order effects. Reitano details, for example, the perverse outcomes of costly enforcement to curb immigration: "[T]he more challenging a border becomes to cross, the more militarized the levels of enforcement, the more necessary a smuggler becomes and the more risk-accepting, professional and corrupt that smuggler will need to be to perform his function successfully."¹⁸⁹ Going further, what is the cost of ever-stricter and even dehumanizing enforcement mechanisms to the very values in whose name we seek to counter criminal activity?¹⁹⁰ Do these enforcement mechanisms create a bigger and more professional adversary, mounting costs, and misery for many, and—if so—what have they achieved to counterbalance these outcomes?

If risks are identified, be they moral, strategic, or just operational, what to do? So long as the strategy is still being built, the obvious recourse is to modify it to ensure that the risks are avoided. This guidance appears obvious, yet it highlights the nonlinear nature of strategy-making. As the plan is produced, each component must continuously relate to the others, with balancing and adjustments continuing throughout until one cohesive final product is achieved.

Still, no matter how much tinkering, risk is unavoidable. At some undefinable point, it is no longer possible to tweak, and the risks left unaddressed must then be communicated as part of the final product. U.S. military doctrine refers to these as "residual risks": those that remain when the unnecessary or unacceptable risks have been eliminated.¹⁹¹ The test for these risks is whether they are less significant than those created by staying the course or not acting at all. There is no objective way in which to measure such advantage. Nonetheless, this is a situation where some consideration is better than none, not to "prevent bad outcomes" altogether, but to "ensure that leaders make strategic judgments with eyes wide open to possible consequences."¹⁹²

If "residual risks" are deemed acceptable, the next step is to consider how they might be mitigated. Plans for mitigation can be fully fledged branch plans with their own logic, sequencing, and prioritization, or they could be far simpler, pointing to measures that might reduce the gravity of the risks should they materialize. Regardless, efforts at risk mitigation would typically go beyond what is already in the strategy, as their aim is to address the costs of its proposed actions, be it a breakdown in the plan or the consequences of it succeeding. In that sense, risk mitigation will need to supplement (rather than just repeat) the measures already in the strategy. They may be regarded as emergency measures, to be identified and used only if the strategy misfires.

Chapter 6: A Comparative Evaluation of the Framework for Analysis and Action

This monograph presents a framework for analysis and for crafting strategies to address problems of organized crime. As discussed in chapter 3, such frameworks are not uncommon among practitioners. Most organizations with an operational mandate provide some form of process to guide its work. This type of instruction is particularly important for agencies engaged with complex political and security problems such as state fragility, violence, and criminality, as addressing these contexts can prove challenging, even counterintuitive. These agencies rely on planning tools to transfer knowledge and apply lessons learned.

The ready existence of several tools and frameworks raises two challenging questions. First, one might ask whether the continued struggles in this type of work truly relate to a lack of methodological guidance or stem instead from inadequate political will in following the approaches and best practices already available. What difference then would one additional framework hope to engender? The line of questioning is fair, as there is clearly only so much that a framework, ours included, can do to counteract entrenched elite apathy.

Still, political will is not static. The type of strategic analysis enabled by our framework is meant to identify possibilities for progress and craft strategy accordingly. This ability to create opportunity through assessment is one way to mobilize action, including from a reluctant elite. Key in making the difference is the ability to formulate and present a strategy that is acceptable and that realistically charts a path from the here and now to a better tomorrow.

Second, given the existence of so many planning frameworks for countering organized crime, or at least for addressing related challenges, it may be asked how our product differs from the rest. Bluntly put, what is its added value? This chapter engages with this question via a comparative analysis involving 15 other products. The assessment reveals the relative advantages of the framework presented in this monograph. It thereby indicates the parts of our framework that are the most innovative additions to planning and the crafting of strategy, and which may therefore be productively added to other institutional tools or approaches.

In broad terms, there are two key strengths to our framework. First, it links a thorough assessment of the situation to the crafting of strategy. Remarkably, most other toolkits focus on only one of these two tasks, typically the former. Second, in discussing strategy, our framework places great emphasis on its theory of success, prioritization, sequencing, and admixture of ends, ways, and means. In our combined experience teaching and consulting on strategic planning, we have discerned a general lack of familiarity with this approach to analysis and design. Even where our framework will not entirely supplant or replace a method already in use, it may nonetheless help fill this void in how to approach the process of strategic analysis and planning. In this effort, and as this chapter bears out, our framework comprises a set of key advantages.

Of Tools and Toolkits

The comparative evaluation in this chapter is based on a range of planning frameworks, some more formal than others:

• Criminal Intelligence Service Canada (CISC), Strategic Early Warning for Criminal Intelligence Theoretical Framework and Sentinel Methodology (Ottawa, Canada: CISC, 2007).¹⁹³

◆ Scott H. Decker, Strategies to Address Gang Crime: A Guidebook for Local Law Enforcement (Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, Office of Community Oriented Policing Services, 2008).¹⁹⁴

◆ Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), Supporting Statebuilding in Situations of Conflict and Fragility: Policy Guidance, Development Assistance Committee Guidelines and Reference Series (Paris: OECD Publishing, 2011).¹⁹⁵

◆ John P. Sullivan and Alain Bauer, eds., *Terrorism Early Warning: 10 Years of Achievement in Fighting Terrorism and Crime, Terrorism Early Warning Group* (Los Angeles: Los Angeles County Sheriff's Department, 2008).¹⁹⁶

◆ United Kingdom Foreign, Commonwealth & Development Office, "Joint Analysis of Conflict and Stability: Guidance Note," September 2024.¹⁹⁷

• UN Office on Drugs and Crime, Organized Crime Strategy Toolkit for Developing High-Impact Strategies (Vienna: UN, 2021).¹⁹⁸

◆ U.S. Department of State, Office of the Coordinator for Reconstruction and Stabilization, *Interagency Conflict Assessment Framework* (Washington, DC: U.S. Department of State, n.d.).¹⁹⁹

◆ U.S. Agency for International Development (USAID), "CDCS Guidance: Country Development Cooperation Strategy," version 3, n.d.²⁰⁰

◆ USAID, Conflict Assessment Framework—Version 2.0 (Washington, DC: USAID, 2012)²⁰¹ and USAID, Conflict Assessment Framework Application Guide (Washington, DC: USAID, 2012).²⁰²

• USAID, The Development Response to Violent Extremism and Insurgency: Putting Principles Into Practice, USAID Policy (Washington, DC: USAID, 2011).²⁰³

◆ USAID, *Fragile States Strategy*, PD-ACA-999 (Washington, DC: USAID, 2005).²⁰⁴

◆ USAID, Project Design Guidance (Washington, DC: USAID, 2011).²⁰⁵

• USAID, Security Sector Governance and Justice Indicators Guide (Washington, DC: USAID, 2019).²⁰⁶

◆ USAID, Theories and Indicators of Change Briefing Paper: Concepts and Primers for Conflict Management and Mitigation (Washington, DC: USAID, March 2013).²⁰⁷

• UN Development Group (UNDG), *The United Nations Development Assistance Framework* (New York: UNDG, 2017).²⁰⁸

In arriving at this list of products, we sought out those planning tools that deal either directly or obliquely with countering organized crime, which led us to include also frameworks for stabilization, development, and capacity-building more broadly. These frameworks and planning tools differ in their objective and scope, but all seek to assist policymakers and practitioners in making sense of their work and enable more successful interventions.

We compared the various toolkits based on 12 criteria: 5 relating to the assessment, 5 to the construction of a strategy of response, and 2 general criteria relating to overall method. The first 10 criteria query whether the tool examined provides adequate guidance for a user to complete the analytical functions provided by the Framework for Assessment and Action. These criteria are based on the lessons identified in chapter 2 and seek to address the common pitfalls in countering organized crime. The final two criteria, devoted to method, ask in a more all-encompassing manner whether the tool guides the user through a process to weave together these various tasks into, respectively, a comprehensive analysis and a comprehensive course of action. The criteria are listed by group in the table below.

While testing the planning tools based on the functions provided in the Framework for Assessment and Action, we also sought to identify functions provided in other products that are not included in our own approach. The additional functions identified include:

- institution-specific technical guidance
- the inclusion of multiple frameworks
- a simultaneous mapping of several relevant actors
- the identification of "indicators" relating to the problem.

table: enterta for comparative Assessment of Haming fools			
	Assessment	Course of Action	Integration
Does the frame- work include	A problem statement?	A concept of response, or general idea of the strategy?	A step-by-step guide for how to produce an analyti- cal assessment?
	An identification and analysis of roots or drivers?	A determination of relevant law and how it weighs upon the solution?	A step-by-step guide for how to craft a strategy of response?
	An assessment of framing or differ- ent worldviews?	An identification of risks and pos- sible mitigation measures?	
	A method to map and assess the threat strategy?	A querying of assumptions both necessary and implicit?	
	An evaluation of the present response to the problem?	A method to craft strategy, along with consideration of metrics?	

Table. Criteria for	Comparative Assessment	of Planning Tools
	comparative / issessment	or rianning roots

Main Findings

The planning tools reviewed as part of our assessment converge around four common focus areas: understanding the problem, identifying its drivers, deciding upon a concept of response, and setting out metrics and measures of progress. Beyond these commonalities, the frameworks represent different strengths and weaknesses, but in general they share six lacunae.

Drivers and Roots. Though they nearly all note the importance of drivers, or roots, in understanding the problem, the frameworks very seldom provide sufficient guidance in how such drivers can be identified analytically. Such assessment is deceivingly complicated, as it brings together questions of structure, agency, and contingency. The analyst is effectively asked to account for how, in a specific context, certain forces are driving key members of the population (but not others) to engage in a particular behavior. As explained earlier in the monograph, the three lenses of *macro, micro*, and *meso* (the context, the individual, and the collective response—in this instance, organized crime) must be accounted for, not just separately but in their relation to one another.²⁰⁹

This requirement is important, as it guards against overinterpretation of structural factors. Specifically, in considering the relation between *macro*, *micro* and *meso*, the analyst is driven to consider not just environmental cues for criminality or violence, but also why these cues do not have varied effects on different people. This leads to a closer examination of any intervening variable between context and behavior, which may help to explain why some react to their environment differently and what the true drivers of the problem may be. A rushed analysis will misinterpret the roots of the problem and yield a potentially wasteful or even deeply counterproductive response.

Frame Analysis. In the frameworks evaluated in this assessment, there was virtually no consideration of frame analysis. Framing is crucial to how groups and individuals make sense of their world and therefore also to their behavior. Various international relations thinkers have commented on the importance of "strategic empathy," or how valuable it can be to understand your adversary's perspective.²¹⁰ This lesson is applicable also to organized crime. Indeed, as our review of practice suggested (see chapter 2), the failure to understand why individuals are drawn to

organized crime will typically generate strategies that fail to address its appeal, and therefore also its persistence. All too often, government interventions are guilty of mirror-imaging, or the inability to account for vastly differing views of the same environment.

Though some of the assessed frameworks allude to the importance of perspective, none provide a method for assessing the perceptions and beliefs of relevant populations. Our framework advances such guidance as one of the five crucial areas of the Strategic Estimate, giving it high priority both in our assessment of the problem and in the crafting of response. We lean on social movement theory, which provides a comprehensive method for disaggregating worldviews into three different lenses—the diagnostic, the prognostic, and the motivational. We also ask analysts to identify the critical audiences for any framing, and how each of these receives the message. In a world wherein narrative and storylines are of increasing strategic importance, such assessment can prove invaluable.

Critique of Present Government Response. Curiously, though the frameworks being assessed all seek to bring about more effective outcomes, very few of them evince any concern with why the present situation is as it is. Of the 15 frameworks included in our review, only 4 alluded at all to the need to explore the reasons for past failures prior to launching new programs and initiatives. This lacuna seems puzzling, or perhaps it can be explained by the political sensitivity within government about admitting shortcomings and critiquing its own work.

In our framework, the critique of the present government response is, again, one of the five major categories of the strategic assessment. While ostensibly focused on the threat group, the Strategic Estimate is equally concerned with the *relation* between the threat and the state and how the activities of each have produced a conflict cycle. It is therefore insufficient to speak of the threat as "the problem," as its ability to survive, operate and even grow relates to the inadequacy of response. The fifth and final box of our Strategic Estimate emphasizes this point by asking analysts to critique the present government response, much as our Roots analysis queries the effect of past interventions in sustaining or perpetuating the problem.

A key factor in this type of assessment concerns the government perception of the problem at hand, particularly the battle for legitimacy. Given the centrality of political will and resolve in countering organized crime, it is of utmost importance not to assume that governments will strive toward the optimal and most promising strategy. Instead, it should be asked how disparate governments perceive the problem of organized crime, whether they prioritize it, or—even worse—are complicit with it. To say the least, pitching a strategy that is blind to such variation would be a very hopeful endeavor.

Mapping of Strategies, Theirs and Ours. A major contribution of our framework lies in its emphasis on mapping, which helps visualize the threat actor's social and political embeddedness as well as the full extent of its strategy. Based in part on the military's methodology for operational design and in part on past case studies of irregular warfare, our framework queries what an organized crime group is doing, not just to generate profit, but also politically, societally, informationally, and otherwise. It then provides a method for how to present this information graphically to establish the strategic utility of specific actions in relation to broader lines of effort, and the relation of such lines of effort to the strategic objectives at hand.

This ordering exercise is missing in all but one of the other frameworks reviewed for this chapter (the UN Office on Drugs and Crime framework). The products are not blind to the need to understand how the criminal group operates or what its main business practices are, but there is very seldom a systematic review of its strategy, encompassing an assessment of its various efforts and how they relate to one another. In a similar vein, there is also no push to identify the strengths or weaknesses in this strategy, which means the Strategic Response will likely miss exploitable opportunities or ideas for how to proceed. In contrast, the Framework for Analysis and Action asks specifically for the location of critical vulnerabilities to affect the center of gravity, which in irregular warfare is typically framed as an expression of legitimacy—that is to say, influence, sway, and mobilizing potential.

In most of the reviewed products, the absence of mapping undermines also the guidance for how to construct a Strategic Response. Instead of designing a strategy that advances conceptually and sequentially toward a desired objective, most frameworks remain at the level of principle or best practice. The best argument for avoiding a more comprehensive approach is that, in practice, planning across phases must confront the unpredictability and fluidity of complex problems and that plans therefore end up being, as Dwight Eisenhower put it, worthless. The second part of Ike's quotation is, however, key: "plans are worthless, but planning is everything." Planning implies an ability to prioritize, phase, and sequence, and to repeat this process when reality moves in unexpected directions. This is the skill that our framework imparts, albeit with full awareness that the approach to most problems must be nonlinear.

Guidance for the Construction of an Assessment and Response. All the products that we reviewed for this analysis sought in some way to aid planning and/or the formulation of response. Despite this intent, only three of the products provided a step-by-step guide for the construction of a strategic assessment. In other words, despite seeking to build the capacity of practitioners to analyze and assess, most frameworks are vague on how their content can be used. In effect, these products assume that readers will be inspired by the framework's content and develop their own approaches to reflect its insights. Such an approach is hopeful, not least when practitioners are asked, as they frequently are, to confront a fastmoving and unpredictable situation. In such circumstances, it can be invaluable to have trained new skills and to have a manual to walk practitioners through a steady process.

If guided instruction on producing an assessment is lacking, the situation is far worse for the formulation of strategy. Once again, only the UN Office on Drugs and Crime framework provides a step-by-step process for building a response. Most other products either do not include guidance on how to construct a strategy or are overly broad in their instruction of how this is to be achieved. As the strategy is the reason for the entire exercise—all frameworks implicitly or explicitly seek improved outcomes—this lacuna is, again, puzzling.

This last weakness speaks to a generally poor understanding of strategy. Though invocations of strategy and of strategic thinking are common, there are few institutions that prize education specifically in how to understand and craft strategy. In this sense, the Framework for Analysis and Action benefits from its basis in Western military thinking, which (notwithstanding the significant errors of implementation) represents a methodology for strategic development. At present, there simply is no civilian equivalent to the focus on strategy within Western war colleges. Products divorced from this understanding of strategy often lack the essential ingredients that make a plan usable.

Conclusion

While there is no shortage of planning frameworks, the CISA Framework for Analysis and Action presents a few key advantages on other publicly available planning methodologies. The CISA Framework is the only one designed specifically to address the deliberate ambiguity of irregular warfare and to ensure we capture its essence and address its main components. It is also the only publicly available framework to put equal focus on both assessment and response. It includes detailed instruction and guidance for the identification of drivers, or the factors that should be addressed to arrive at a more comprehensive strategy. It also provides a method for mapping the threat group strategy along with the state's response, which ensures that the product can be used to inform task organization and planning.

Chapter 7: Conclusion

What motivated our study was the realization that efforts to counter organized crime shared many of the challenges seen also in the world of counterterrorism, particularly since the 9/11 attacks. Much as with the response to organized crime, the so-called war on terror was stymied by three factors: conceptual uncertainty of the problem, oftentimes cloaking political divergences; an urge to address the scourge without acknowledging its social and political context; and thus pursuit of strategies that went wide of the mark, the progress of which was difficult to measure, and which often times proved counterproductive.

Irregular warfare emerged as a corrective lens in that it placed terrorism within its essential *political* context and as a component of a struggle of *legitimacy*. This normally meant restoring the primacy of ideological rebellion, or insurgency, wherein terrorism is invariably a method (albeit used to various degrees). This same shift in lens application is appropriate to consideration of countering organized crime. Our past work identified six lessons: the tendencies, in both fields, to (1) neglect the sociopolitical drivers of the problem; (2) militarize our response (or to rely on a purely suppressive logic); (3) neglect political differences among supposed partners; (4) underinvest in community mobilization; (5) proceed without a clear sense of strategy; and (6) wish away questions of political will.²¹¹ The Framework for Analysis and Action proposed in this report helps to correct for these errors.

A particular message of our framework concerns the need to contextualize analysis to shift from a tactical to a strategic response. This can hardly be identified as revolutionary, yet the consistency with which the opposite is done remains little short of breathtaking. Only by interrogating organized crime as a system can its drivers and pressure points be identified. Of urgency, then, is the need to avoid focus upon symptoms and to avoid mirror-imaging. This latter point has become increasingly urgent as the intangible world has all but swallowed the tangible.

For organized crime, then, the contribution of this Framework for Analysis and Action is to enable a strategic *mapping* of the problem. The strategies thus created respond not just to the problem of criminality but to the context that enables this phenomenon. Based as it is on the Strategic Estimate, the Course of Action is guided by identified opportunities and vulnerabilities and further supported by relevant metrics to track progress (or the lack thereof). This emphasis on testing what works is crucial for countercrime activities, which can—and too often, have—become self-justifying and logically circular.

We propose this framework to encourage greater strategic competence in sectors where the term *strategy* is often a synonym for a wish list or a collection of slogans. Such competence implies an ability to discern the political problem underpinning criminality, its drivers, narratives, and expression, and to tailor a response that uses such analysis to propose a theory for how to proceed. Based on such analysis, strategic competence denotes the skill set necessary to craft strategy—one that unfolds across time and place, builds progress, and can demonstrably achieve set objectives. In this manner, the framework is proposed to extend a "campaigning mindset" to a broader set of institutions than the military, because these institutions—more than the military—are those required for an effective response.

A word of caution is in order as we close. The explosion of organized crime has generated an abundance of literature, much of it useful, yet a good bit of it incorrectly identifying "the problem"—the first step in the framework. The FARC, to which the text refers several times, serves to illustrate. Prior to 9/11, American actors, focused on the so-called war on drugs, predictably sought to label the FARC a narco-cartel; that is, a criminal entity that—though it might engage in ideological discourse to some extent—was motivated by profit. Internal evidence from within the movement did not support this assessment. The FARC, its extensive criminality notwithstanding, remained throughout a political project, albeit one with certain units and personalities which "got dirty," which the FARC worked to control. It can readily be seen that framing the challenge as one of criminality as opposed to violent politics funded largely through criminality would have produced an incorrect strategy.

This tendency seems particularly pronounced today in areas such as Latin America, where traditional ideological actors have become increasingly enmeshed in criminality to the extent that their essence is not only debated but skews analytical processes. The FARC's successor as a national security threat in Colombia—Ejército de Liberación Nacional or National Liberation Army (ELN)—is a pertinent case. Its increasing involvement in a wide variety of illegal activities in both Colombia and Venezuela naturally leads to analytical contestation of its identity: organized crime with some politics thrown in or political project with a robust criminal funding profile? To proceed from an assumption of the former, however, particularly absent the evidence demanded by a proper estimate of the situation, is to court strategic distortion. Use of the framework is intended to ensure that this does not occur.
Appendix: User's Guide: The Framework for Analysis and Action

This synopsis of the Framework for Analysis and Action assists in the production of a Strategic Estimate and Course of Action to counter organized crime. For elaboration and explanation of the framework, please see:

◆ David H. Ucko and Thomas A. Marks, *Countering Organised Crime as Irregular Warfare: A Framework for Strategic Analysis and Action*, SOC ACE [Serious Organised Crime & Anti-Corruption Evidence] Research Programme Research Paper No. 19 (Birmingham, UK: University of Birmingham, 2023).²¹²

◆ David H. Ucko and Thomas A. Marks, *Crafting Strategy for Irregular Warfare*, 2nd ed. (Washington, DC: NDU Press, 2022).²¹³

In using this framework, recall:

• This is not a checklist to be approached linearly in a rushed manner. The purpose is to ask questions that often are of concern and to generate critical strategic thinking. It is still up to the user to engage in the necessary fact-finding, analysis, and deduction.

• Never include anything in your final product just because the guidance asked you to consider it. Use the framework and the associated terminology to interrogate your case; know (and demonstrate in your argumentation) why what you include is relevant and necessary to the case.

Strategic Estimate of the Situation

Problem. In two to three paragraphs, distill the nature of the problem that motivates your Strategic Estimate. Reflect on the following questions, but save details for later:

• What is the political nature of the problem being faced?

• What is the name and nature of the actor(s) representing a threat? Is it violent, nonviolent, clandestine or overt, transnational, state-supported or state-sponsored, or a combination thereof?

• Provide the information necessary (and only that information) to explain the current situation.

Figure A1. The Strategic Estimate, Strategic Response, and Their Interaction, as Adapted to Organized Crime



2. STRATEGIC RESPONSE

• Demonstrate the direction of the situation based on current trends: who is benefiting, who is hurting, and why does it matter?

• Why is this problem proving so difficult to counter? Why is a change in policy needed?

A map of areas discussed can be helpful.

Note: The problem statement is the distillation of the analysis encompassed by the entire Strategic Estimate of the Situation. As such, it cannot be finalized before the rest of the estimate is completed.

Roots. The "Roots" section is concerned with the factors that sustain the threat and allow it to operate, even thrive. What drivers give the threat a conducive environment and may require resolution for the problem to be successfully addressed?

Analysis should interrogate how *macro* factors (context, structure) lead certain individuals in society (*micro*) to embrace criminal organizations (*meso*), either as participants or benefactors. Each facet must be interrogated, not linearly but in an integrated manner. Specifically:

• *Macro*: What are the contextual factors that enable the threat, allowing it to amass support? Typical examples include entrenched inequity, poor governance,

corruption, geographical isolation, lack of opportunity, abusive state behavior, or unresolved historical legacies, but the list is far from exhaustive.

• *Micro*: Assuming these drivers are relevant, why do they compel some but not others to support or engage in criminality? Can we determine what groupings or individuals are more likely to be driven to this end? Why them? Why not others?

• *Meso*: How does the criminal actor help mediate the drivers of participation and engagement? What are its functions sociopolitically? Why are these functions not available through licit systems and networks?

The hard-nosed purpose of the roots analysis is to identify dispassionately which factors and flows are nourishing the threat, so that they may be addressed as part of a comprehensive response. Remember this intent and *do not get lost in the details*.

Frame and Narrative. Identify and analyze the threat's:

- diagnostic frame (how it views the problem and apportions blame)
- prognostic frame (how it justifies its solution and use of criminality)
- motivational frame (how it motivates participation and support).

For each, establish the *narrative*, or the storyline as related by the threat itself. Seek not to describe but to illustrate with primary data. To the degree warranted, explain the threat's use of *frame alignment* to achieve resonance with other actors.

Evaluate the *resonance* of the framing structure among the *relevant or contested audiences*. Which are these? Use relevant data to support this evaluation.

Threat Strategy (Ends, Ways, Means)

Ends. What are the goals of the threat? Do they go beyond the illicit search for profit and entail also political or ideological agendas?

Ways. What is the threat's strategic approach? How does it seek to get what it wants (what is its *theory of success*)? Is the approach violent, nonviolent, confrontational, or clandestine, or something else? Is there a distinct "schedule" that the threat associates with its plan?

Now the strategy should be *mapped* to facilitate construction of an appropriate counter (see figure A2). We do this by identifying *lines of effort, concep*-

Figure A2. The Logical Relationship Among Ends, Ways, Campaigns, and Means



tual campaigns (bundles of activity), and—as appropriate—*subcampaigns*. Means should be specified whereby campaign architecture is operationalized. The greater the detail (normally in appendices), the more useful is the product. In your analysis, always render explicit the relation of operational activity and strategic objectives (often via interim objectives).

To map the strategy, begin by interrogating the actions undertaken by the criminal actor. The following questions can be helpful in identifying the full range of the strategy:

• What, if anything, is the threat doing *politically* to bring about its desired objectives?

• How, and why, is the threat using *enablers* within the subject space to reach its objectives?

- How, and why, is the threat using *violence* to serve its objectives?
- How, and why, is the threat using *nonviolence* to serve its objectives?
- How, and with what effect, is the threat *internationalizing* its approach?

Interrogation of these questions yields evidence of action, which can be grouped based on a common intent or nature—into conceptual campaigns. Two or more campaigns united in strategic direction and intent form an LOE. These LOEs should be labeled based on their character (for example, violent LOE, international LOE, and so on). However labeled, each LOE has an *interim strategic objective* a *purpose*—that contributes to the threat's goal.

Means. It is important to note that the ends-ways-means construct is best conceptualized in symbiotic fashion—*its components do not constitute a sequential list.* The question of means should therefore accompany the mapping of ways above. Account to the degree possible for the specialized assets deployed to operationalize the strategy. A separate discussion of means may also be appropriate to indicate holdings, structures, bases, command and control structures, and so forth. Diagrams and maps can be important here.

Based on this mapping exercise, what is the role played by legitimacy, the strategic center of gravity?

To identify ways of addressing the center of gravity, determine the threat's *critical vulnerabilities*. A critical vulnerability is a component of the threat strategy that is deficient or vulnerable to direct or indirect attack, creating a significant effect. It may relate to mismatches between frames and strategy (what is said versus what is done), to gaps between roots and threat strategy (what drives participation versus the threat's ability to mediate these drivers), or to tensions within any component of the Strategic Estimate.

Present Response.

Note: This is a critique of the *current* response to the problem you are analyzing. Focus on the response of the actor for which you are proposing a strategy, acknowledging that its actions will often contribute to a broader effort. Be guided by the simple charge: Who is prevailing in the struggle for legitimacy and whom does it involve?

• Perception: How do we frame the threat and/or problem? How do we view our progress in addressing it? How do we describe our reason for countering it?

• Response: What is the current strategy? What is the theory of success?

• Critique: Is our perception accurate—of the threat, its progress, and our response? Are we making progress: what is working and what is not? Does the response address the symptoms of the problem or the problem itself? Is it appropriately addressing the roots of the conflict, the frame and narratives, and/or the threat strategy? As applicable, is it affecting the center of gravity by exploiting the critical vulnerabilities?

As part of this analysis, account for the role of *political will* and *capacity* (motivation and opportunity) in determining the present response.

Note: The two most common errors in this section are:

• Merely listing programs. It is the interaction of the two contenders that is at issue.

• Confusing a past response for the present phase that currently matters. How to delimit the *present phase* is case-specific, but it implies continuity with today's key dynamics.

The Strategic Response

In crafting your strategy:

• Make full use of the Strategic Estimate as the empirical foundation for the course of action.

• Bear in mind that this process is never linear. Each component of this framework must in be sync with the rest, until all are balanced and integrated into one cohesive whole.

Concept of Response.

• Summarize your recommended response to the problem assessed in your Strategic Estimate. Illustrate *how* and *why* your plan differs from the present response analyzed in the Strategic Estimate. The point is to be succinct.

• Capture your strategy in two to four paragraphs. One way of crafting your response is by addressing the way legitimacy (the *center of gravity*) has been approached or ignored in the present response. This naturally will lead to consideration of the threat's *critical vulnerabilities*. The response should then be driven

by a theory of success and/or the position that you want to attain and how (the ends-ways-means construct). The strategic approach and theory of success must be grounded in *reason and evidence*, drawn from your Strategic Estimate.

• Demonstrate why your proposed Strategic Response is superior to the present one, not only for addressing the problem but also *strategically*, in relation to broader interests.

Legal Authority. Your plan should adhere to proper *legal authorities*. Ensuring that you have a legal basis requires interrogation of your planned action and consideration of legal ambiguities and challenges (these could arise from questions of sovereignty, use of force, constitutional constraints, or treaty law). If force is used, is it based on *international humanitarian law* (the Law of Armed Conflict) or *the rule of law* (a law-enforcement approach)—or some hybrid of these?

• Are the necessary international and domestic authorities in place for those actions that require legal clarification? If legal authorities are vague or lacking, can you implement temporary or new measures? Are changes in legislation necessary?

• Be aware that legal considerations can be formal—the rule of law—or informal, relating to cultural, social, and religious factors that will constrain your response.

• Do not use this section to list all laws that relate to your case. Restrict the analysis to the specific red flags that might prompt legal review and need clarification.

Assumptions. Assumptions are used to fill gaps in required information or facts that are needed to continue planning. Your assumptions may relate to areas of continuity or change and delineate an environment in which your proposed course of action is relevant.

What assumptions did you *have to make* to allow for planning into the future? State and explain these assumptions. Bear in mind:

• Planning assumptions should be *valid* (supported by evidence), *important* (relevant to your plan), and *necessary* (address an area where uncertainty is disabling).

• As assumptions relate to key areas of *uncertainty*, aim to include as few assumptions as appropriate to enable planning. As far as possible, the Strategic Estimate should be used to provide the evidentiary basis for the strategy.

• Assumptions should relate to *variables beyond the scope* of your own response. Do not assume that desired conditions will apply if they do not already do so; do not assume problematic circumstances will change unless evidence suggests this is likely.

Implementation. This is the actual setting forth of the concept of response. *As appropriate to your case*, detail how your proposed strategy responds to the Strategic Estimate. Consider these steps:

• Identify your strategic objectives (ends).

◆ Identify your strategic approach (the overall *nature* of response, its key *phases* and/or *LOEs*, along with main *means* involved)—that is, *ways*, operationalized by *means*.

• Explain your theory of success.

This introduction to your strategy will allow you to get into further detail. In presenting the strategy, do not think of its constituent elements as separate but rather integrate them as one product that takes us from present to desired conditions via the necessary LOEs, metrics, phases, and means (see figure A3).

The LOEs will likely differ across the phases of the plan so that each builds on progress made until desired objectives are reached. Different phases will be appropriate in addressing different elements of the Strategic Estimate—roots; frame and narrative; and threat strategy. Your response may have phases that are sequential and/or concurrent. They may be time- and/or conditions-based.

A promising way to arrive at a phasing construct is to work backwards from desired conditions to the incremental objectives necessary to reach this goal. Through tracing the strategy from the desired conditions back to the present ones, necessary actions and their sequence become clearer.

In *resourcing your plan*, you must provide the details of what assets are tasked to accomplish your LOEs and their campaigns. If the required means are not in Figure A3. Sample Integrated Strategy, Representing Strategic Art, Campaign Architecture, Phasing, Decision Points, and Measures of Effectiveness



place, they must be developed (and this must be acknowledged in your phasing structure).

What are the *metrics* by which you will assess the success of your plan and/ or the shift between its critical phases? Consider the best indicators, or how best to capture the data necessary for these metrics, bearing in mind that they can be *tangible* (concrete) and *intangible* (abstract, such as perceptions, influence, and trust). Focus on the *outcomes* desired by the plan rather than the *inputs* or their direct *output*.

Ensure that your response, as presented, appears *feasible* (it is a response that can be executed); *reasonable* (it is rational and logical); *acceptable* (within the bounds of relevant law and to the court of public opinion—both domestically and internationally); and *sustainable* (the results achieved will be consolidated rather than reversed). These conditions are not a list of conditions to be checked off one

by one, but crucial considerations to guide you throughout your planning and design.

Risk Assessment and Mitigation. Risk is the probability of failure in achieving an objective at an acceptable cost. Some of the questions to consider include:

- Where are the greatest risks of failure?
- What is the risk of executing the strategy to your other interests?

• For each risk identified, consider first whether changes to your response would resolve this vulnerability. Edit the response as necessary to arrive at unavoidable, acceptable *residual risks*. For these, develop options for mitigation. If these risks are realized, what *alternative measures* could be taken to reduce their magnitude and damage?

Notes

¹Global Initiative Against Transnational Organized Crime, *Global Organized Crime Index 2021* (Vienna: Global Initiative Against Transnational Organized Crime, September 2021), 8, https://globalinitiative.net/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/GITOC-Global-Organized-Crime-Index-2021.pdf.

²Global Initiative Against Transnational Organized Crime, *Global Organized Crime Index 2023* (Vienna: Global Initiative Against Transnational Organized Crime, September 2023, 11, 21, https://globalinitiative.net/wp-content/uploads/2023/09/Global-organizedcrime-index-2023-web-compressed-compressed.pdf.

³ Channing May, "Transnational Crime and the Developing World" (Washington, DC: Global Financial Integrity, March 2017), xi, https://gfintegrity.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/Transnational_Crime-final.pdf.

⁴See Joint Operating Concept, *Irregular Warfare (IW)*, Version 1.0 (Washington, DC, The Joint Staff, September 11, 2007), 1, https://apps.dtic.mil/sti/citations/ADA496061. Though the U.S. Department of Defense has since reformulated this definition, the above version remains, by far, the most helpful elucidation, as it defines irregular warfare according to its essence (the struggle for legitimacy), rather than *how* or *by whom* that struggle might unfold. The methods of irregular warfare are contingent on strategy and the correlation of forces, and actors of any type may be involved. What remains constant is a theory of victory that sees legitimacy as foundational to political power, mobilization, and survivability. In its eagerness to stretch irregular warfare to new realities, the Pentagon has all but lost sight of this etiological foundation. See David H. Ucko and Thomas A. Marks, "Redefining Irregular Warfare: Legitimacy, Coercion, and Power," *Modern War Institute*, October 18, 2022, https://mwi.westpoint.edu/redefining-irregular-warfare-legitimacy-coercion-and-power/.

⁵ As the "irregular warfare annex" to the 2018 U.S. National Defense Strategy recognized, "Our competitors have operationalized clandestine criminal activity and predatory economic behavior as components of their own approach to irregular warfare." See U.S. Department of Defense, "Summary of the Irregular Warfare Annex to the National Defense Strategy" (Arlington, VA, 2020), 5, https://media.defense.gov/2020/oct/02/2002510472/-1/-1/0/irregular-warfare-annex-to-the-national-defense-strategy-summary.pdf.

⁶See, respectively, Michael J. Cole, "On the Role of Organized Crime and Related Substate Actors in Chinese Political Warfare Against Taiwan," *Prospect & Exploration* [展望與探索] 19, no. 6 (2021), 55–88, https://www.mjib.gov.tw/FileUploads/eBooks/6f26 46ebb06a4ddba2449c950a42533d/Section_file/8a0b255919bc48e1bc3d2a38825cd3c8.pdf; Mark Galeotti, "Crimintern: How the Kremlin Uses Russia's Criminal Networks in Europe," Policy Brief (European Council on Foreign Relations, April 18, 2017), https://ecfr.eu/ publication/crimintern_how_the_kremlin_uses_russias_criminal_networks_in_europe/. ⁷ Global Initiative Against Transnational Organized Crime, *Global Organized Crime Index 2023*, 11.

⁸ The framework was originally created by Thomas A. Marks and draws on his life work and scholarship on an aggregation of the People's War approach, used by the American Patriots and the Asian theorists, notably Mao Zedong, and others. For its codification, see David H. Ucko and Thomas A. Marks, *Crafting Strategy for Irregular Warfare: A Framework for Analysis and Action*, 2nd ed. (Washington, DC: NDU Press, 2022), https://ndupress.ndu.edu/Portals/68/Documents/strat-monograph/Crafting-Strategy-for-Irregular-Warfare_2ndEd.pdf.

⁹ Michel Wieviorka, "Terrorism in the Context of Academic Research," in *Terrorism in Context*, ed. Martha Crenshaw (University Park, PA: The Pennsylvania State University Press, 1995). In-depth treatment at Michel Wieviorka, *The Making of Terrorism*, trans. David Gordon White, new preface ed. (Chicago: The University of Chicago Press, 2004).

¹⁰Thomas A. Marks and Tej Pratap Singh Brar, "Sri Lanka: State Response to the Liberation Tigers of Tamil Eelam as an Illicit Power Structure," in *Impunity: Countering Illicit Power in War and Transition*, ed. Michelle Hughes and Michael Miklaucic, Center for Complex Operations and the Peacekeeping and Stability Operations Institute (Washington, DC: U.S. Army War College Press, 2016), 483–4, https://apps.dtic.mil/sti/tr/ pdf/AD1013660.pdf.

¹¹ A Pew poll conducted in 2013, for instance, revealed that 15 percent or more of those polled in Egypt, Tunisia, Indonesia, the Palestinian territories, and Malaysia had a "favorable" view of al Qaeda. See Andrew Kohut and James Bell, "Muslim Publics Share Concerns about Extremist Groups" (Washington, DC: Pew Research Center, September 10, 2013), https://www.pewresearch.org/global/2013/09/10/muslim-publics-share-concerns-about-extremist-groups/.

¹² Charles Lindholm and José Pedro Zúquete, *The Struggle for the World: Liberation Movements for the 21st Century* (Stanford, CA: Stanford University Press, 2010).

¹³Kenneth Payne, "Building the Base: Al Qaeda's Focoist Strategy," *Studies in Conflict & Terrorism* 34, no. 2 (January 24, 2011), 124–43, https://doi.org/10.1080/105761 0X.2011.538832.

¹⁴Kenneth M. Pollack, "The Seven Deadly Sins of Failure in Iraq: A Retrospective Analysis of the Reconstruction," *Middle East Review of International Affairs* 10, no. 4 (December 2006), 1–20, https://ciaotest.cc.columbia.edu/olj/meria/meria_dec06/meria_ dec06_a.pdf.

¹⁵Thomas E. Ricks, *Fiasco: The American Military Adventure in Iraq* (New York: Penguin Books, 2007); Thomas E. Ricks, *The Gamble: General Petraeus and the American Military Adventure in Iraq* (New York: Penguin Books, 2010).

¹⁶ Steve Coll, "Obama's Drone War," *The New Yorker*, November 24, 2014, http:// www.newyorker.com/magazine/2014/11/24/unblinking-stare. ¹⁷Thomas J. Maguire, "Kenya's 'War on Poaching': Militarised Solutions to a Militarised Problem?" in *Militarised Responses to Transnational Organised Crime*, ed. Tuesday Reitano et al. (Cham, Switzerland: Palgrave Macmillan, 2017), 69.

¹⁸ Jasper Humphreys and M.L.R. Smith, "Militarised Responses to the Illegal
 Wildlife Trade," in Reitano et al., *Militarised Responses to Transnational Organised Crime*,
 32–7. See also Phitshana Moakanyi, "Botswana: Countering Transnational Poaching,"
 Journal of Counterterrorism & Homeland Security International 29, no. 1 (July 2024), 31–6.

¹⁹ Maguire, "Kenya's 'War on Poaching," 67.

²⁰Giorgio Blundo and Jean-Pierre Olivier de Sardan, eds., *Everyday Corruption and the State: Citizens and Public Officials in Africa* (Cape Town: David Philip, 2006); Heather Marquette and Caryn Peiffer, "Grappling with the 'Real Politics' of Systemic Corruption: Theoretical Debates Versus 'Real-World' Functions," *Governance* 31, no. 3 (July 2018), 499–514, https://doi.org/10.1111/gove.12311; Heather Marquette and Caryn Peiffer, "Corruption Functionality Framework," ACE (Anti-Corruption Evidence) Research Programme (Washington, DC: Global Integrity, 2021), https://giace.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/GI-ACE-Research-Paper-Corruption-Framework.pdf; Grant W. Walton, "Is All Corruption Dysfunctional? Perceptions of Corruption and Its Consequences in Papua New Guinea," *Public Administration and Development* 33, no. 3 (August 2013), 175–90, https://doi.org/10.1002/pad.1636.

²¹ Julia Buxton, *Drugs and Development: The Great Disconnect* (Swansea, UK: Global Drug Policy Observatory, January 2015), https://www.swansea.ac.uk/media/Drugs-and-Development-The-Great-Disconnect.pdf.

²²Karen Ballentine and Heiko Nitzschke, "Beyond Greed and Grievance: Policy Lessons from Studies in the Political Economy of Armed Conflict," in *Security and Development: Investing in Peace and Prosperity*, ed. Robert Picciotto and Rachel Weaving (Abingdon, UK: Routledge, 2006), 164; Thomas A. Marks, *Maoist People's War in Post-Vietnam Asia* (Bangkok: White Lotus, 2007), 281–82; Linda Farthing and Benjamin Kohl, "Conflicting Agendas: The Politics of Development Aid in Drug-Producing Areas," *Development Policy Review* 23, no. 2 (March 2005), 183–98, https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1467-7679.2005.00282.x.

²³ Tuesday Reitano, "Smugglers Inc.: The Illicit Industry in Human Migration," in Reitano et al., *Militarised Responses to Transnational Organised Crime*, 205.

²⁴ See International Crisis Group, "Managing Trafficking in Northern Niger," Africa Report No. 285 (Brussels: International Crisis Group, 2020), 5, https://www.crisisgroup. org/africa/sahel/niger/285-managing-trafficking-northern-niger. Kelly further describes how the new law "opened the door to Nigerien security forces exacting bribes from local transporters whose work had not been previously punishable under the criminal code, and who wanted to continue pursuing their conventional livelihood." For a full discussion of the case, see Catherine Lena Kelly, "Rule of Law Approaches to Countering Transnational Organized Crime in Africa: Going Beyond Criminal Justice," *Trends in Organized Crime* 26, no. 4 (December 2023), 430, https://doi.org/10.1007/s12117-023-09503-3.

²⁵ Stergios Skaperdas, "The Political Economy of Organized Crime: Providing Protection When the State Does Not," *Economics of Governance* 2, no. 3 (November 2001), 173, https://sites.socsci.uci.edu/~sskaperd/SkaperdasEoG01.pdf.

²⁶ José Miguel Cruz, "Government Responses and the Dark Side of Gang Suppression in Central America," in *Maras: Gang Violence and Security in Central America*, ed. Thomas C. Bruneau et al., 1st ed. (Austin, TX: University of Texas Press, 2011), 137–58, https://doi.org/10.7560/728608-009.

²⁷ Skaperdas, "The Political Economy of Organized Crime," 194.

²⁸ Felia Allum and Stan Gilmour, "Introduction," in *The Routledge Handbook of Transnational Organized Crime*, ed. Felia Allum and Stan Gilmour, 2nd ed. (Abingdon, UK: Routledge, 2022), 1.

²⁹ Stephen Marche, "The Company Man," *Toronto Life*, November 1, 2021, https:// torontolife.com/city/this-man-is-the-jeff-bezos-of-the-international-drug-trade/; Tom Allard, "The Hunt for Asia's El Chapo," Reuters, October 14, 2019, https://www.reuters. com/investigates/special-report/meth-syndicate/.

³⁰Karsten von Hoesslin and Lucia Bird Ruiz-Benitez de Lugo, "South East Asia Piracy: Have We Learnt From Somali Counter-Piracy Operations?" in Reitano et al., *Militarised Responses to Transnational Organised Crime*, 157.

³¹ Julian Rademeyer, "An Unwinnable War: Rhino Poaching in the Kruger," in Reitano et al., *Militarised Responses to Transnational Organised Crime*, 53–4.

³²Sarah Sewall, "Introduction to the University of Chicago Press Edition: A Radical Field Manual," in *The U.S. Army/Marine Corps Counterinsurgency Field Manual* (Chicago: University of Chicago, 2007), xl.

³³ David H. Ucko, "Militias, Tribes, and Insurgents: The Challenge of Political Reintegration in Iraq," *Conflict, Security & Development* 8, no. 3 (October 2008), 341–73, https://doi.org/10.1080/14678800802358171.

³⁴ Steven Simon, "The Price of the Surge," *Foreign Affairs*, May 3, 2008; Ned Parker, "The Iraq We Left Behind: Welcome to the World's Next Failed State," *Foreign Affairs* 91, no. 2 (2012), 94–110.

³⁵ Sam Heller, "When Measuring ISIS's 'Resurgence', Use the Right Standard," International Crisis Group, May 13, 2020, https://www.crisisgroup.org/middle-east-northafrica/gulf-and-arabian-peninsula/iraq/when-measuring-isiss-resurgence-use-rightstandard.

³⁶ David P. Auerswald and Stephen M. Saideman, *NATO in Afghanistan Fighting Together, Fighting Alone* (Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press, 2014); Timo Noetzel and Sibylle Scheipers, *Coalition Warfare in Afghanistan: Burden-Sharing or Disunity?* Briefing Paper, Asia and International Security Programmes ASP/

ISP BP 07/01 (London: Chatham House, 2007), https://www.comw.org/warreport/ fulltext/0710noetzel.pdf; Barbara J. Stapleton and Michael Keating, "Military and Civilian Assistance to Afghanistan 2001–14: An Incoherent Approach," Briefing, Asia Programme, Afghanistan: Opportunity in Crisis Series No. 10 (London: Chatham House, 2015), https://www.chathamhouse.org/sites/default/files/field/field_ document/20150722MilitaryCivilianAssistanceAfghanistanStapletonKeating.pdf.

³⁷ Douglas S. Blaufarb, *The Counterinsurgency Era: U.S. Doctrine and Performance—1950 to Present* (New York: The Free Press, 1977); David H. Ucko, *The New Counterinsurgency Era: Transforming the U.S. Military for Modern Wars* (Georgetown University Press, 2009).

³⁸Luke Kelly, "Militarised Approaches to Serious and Organised Crime: Approaches and Policy Implications," SOC ACE [Serious Organised Crime & Anti-Corruption Evidence] Research Programme Evidence Review Paper No. 4 (Birmingham, UK: University of Birmingham, 2023), https://www.socace-research.org.uk/publications/ socace-erp4-militarised-approaches-to-soc-bibliograpy.

³⁹ Garrett M. Graff, "The Green Monster," *Politico Magazine*, December 2014, https://www.politico.com/magazine/story/2014/10/border-patrol-the-green-monster-112220/.

⁴⁰ In drug policy, the *balloon effect* is the phenomenon whereby "pushing down on drug production in one region causes it to bulge somewhere else." T.W., "Why Is Less Cocaine Coming From Colombia?", *The Economist*, April 2, 2013.

⁴¹Ben Doherty, "A Short History of Nauru, Australia's Dumping Ground for Refugees," *The Guardian*, August 9, 2016, https://www.theguardian.com/world/2016/ aug/10/a-short-history-of-nauru-australias-dumping-ground-for-refugees; Chris Jones et al., "Crisis Not Averted: Security Policies Cannot Solve a Humanitarian Problem, Now or in the Long-Term," *Statewatch*, March 30, 2020, https://www.statewatch.org/ analyses/2020/eu-greece-turkey-crisis-not-averted-security-policies-cannot-solvea-humanitarian-problem-now-or-in-the-long-term/; "Royal Navy to Tackle People Smugglers in Mediterranean," *BBC News*, September 16, 2015, https://www.bbc.com/ news/uk-34263611; Thomas Spijkerboer, "High Risk, High Return: How Europe's Policies Play into the Hands of People-Smugglers," *The Guardian*, June 20, 2018, https://www. theguardian.com/world/commentisfree/2018/jun/20/how-europe-policies-acceleratepeople-smuggling.

⁴² For a discussion of this tendency and of "focused deterrence" as an alternative, see Benjamin Lessing, "Use Incentives, Not Brute Force, on the Cartels, Says a Political Scientist," *The Economist*, August 9, 2024.

⁴³ James Cockayne, "The Futility of Force? Strategic Lessons for Dealing with Unconventional Armed Groups from the UN's War on Haiti's Gangs," *Journal of Strategic Studies* 37, no. 5 (July 29, 2014), 747, https://doi.org/10.1080/01402390.2014.901911; International Crisis Group, "El Salvador's Politics of Perpetual Violence," Latin America Report No. 64 (Brussels: International Crisis Group, December 19, 2017), 16, https://www. crisisgroup.org/latin-america-caribbean/central-america/el-salvador/64-el-salvadorspolitics-perpetual-violence.

⁴⁴ For a critique of this tendency, see Adam Isacson and John Walsh, "Why Ecuador Should Not Replicate the 'Bukele Model," *WOLA*, February 20, 2024, https://www.wola. org/analysis/why-ecuador-should-not-replicate-the-bukele-model/.

⁴⁵ For quotation and for discussion of authoritarian counterinsurgency, see Daniel Byman, "Death Solves All Problems': The Authoritarian Model of Counterinsurgency," *Journal of Strategic Studies* 39, no. 1 (January 2, 2016), 62–93, https://doi.org/10.1080/0140 2390.2015.1068166.

⁴⁶ Isacson and Walsh, "Why Ecuador Should Not Replicate the 'Bukele Model."

⁴⁷ Manuel Meléndez-Sánchez, "Bukele Has Defeated El Salvador's Gangs—for Now. How? And What Does It Mean for the Region?" *Lawfare*, March 27, 2023, https:// www.lawfaremedia.org/article/bukele-has-defeated-el-salvadors-gangs-now-how-andwhat-does-it-mean-region. For a nuanced treatment of response to specific threat, see Fernando Menjivar Mora, "El Salvador: MS-13 Still a Threat," *Journal of Counterterrorism* & Homeland Security International 27, no. 2 (2022), 20-28.

⁴⁸ Simon Romero and Paulina Villegas, "How Trump's Hard-Line Tactics Are Driving Down Migration," *New York Times*, March 16, 2025.

⁴⁹ Erickson, "How U.S. Customs and Border Protection Became the World's Largest Militarised Police Force," 242.

⁵⁰ Reitano, "Smugglers Inc.," 205-6.

⁵¹ Andrea Castillo and Koko Nakajima, "Migration Across the U.S.-Mexico Border, in 5 Charts," *Los Angeles Times*, January 17, 2025, https://www.latimes.com/politics/story/2025-01-17/migration-across-the-u-s-mexico-border-in-5-charts.

⁵² Demian Bio, "Border Crossings Have Plummeted Under Trump, but They Could Climb Again After a 'Wait-And-See' Period," *Latin Times*, February 19, 2025, https://www. latintimes.com/border-crossings-have-plummeted-under-trump-they-could-climb-againafter-wait-see-period-576055.

⁵³ Edmund S. Howe and Cynthia J. Brandau, "Additive Effects of Certainty, Severity, and Celerity of Punishment on Judgments of Crime Deterrence Scale Value," *Journal of Applied Social Psychology* 18, no. 9 (July 1988), 797, https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1559-1816.1988.tb02356.x.

⁵⁴ "Border Facts," Southern Border Communities Coalition, https://www. southernborder.org/border-facts.

⁵⁵Reitano, "Smugglers Inc.," 211.

⁵⁶ Regine Cabato, "Thousands Dead. Police Accused of Criminal Acts. Yet Duterte's Drug War Is Wildly Popular," *Washington Post*, October 23, 2019, https:// www.washingtonpost.com/world/asia_pacific/thousands-dead-police-accused-ofcriminal-acts-yet-dutertes-drug-war-is-wildly-popular/2019/10/23/4fdb542a-f494-11e9b2d2-1f37c9d82dbb_story.html; "Rodrigo Duterte's Lawless War on Drugs Is Wildly Popular," *The Economist*, February 20, 2020; Tom Allard and Karen Lema, "Shock and Awe' Has Failed in Philippines Drug War, Enforcement Chief Says," Reuters, February 7, 2020, https://www.reuters.com/article/us-philippines-drugs-performance-exclusiidUSKBN2010IL.

⁵⁷ International Crisis Group, "Miracle or Mirage? Gangs and Plunging Violence in El Salvador," Latin America Report No. 81 (Brussels: International Crisis Group, July 8, 2020), 32, https://www.crisisgroup.org/sites/default/files/081-miracle-or-mirage.pdf.

⁵⁸ Moritz Schuberth, "To Engage or Not to Engage Haiti's Urban Armed Groups? Safe Access in Disaster-Stricken and Conflict-Affected Cities," *Environment and Urbanization* 29, no. 2 (October 2017), 425–42, https://doi. org/10.1177/0956247817716398.

⁵⁹ International Crisis Group, "El Salvador's Politics of Perpetual Violence," 20.

⁶⁰ T.X. Hammes, "Raising and Mentoring Security Forces in Afghanistan and Iraq," in *Lessons Encountered: Learning from the Long War*, ed. Richard D. Hooker, Jr. and Joseph J. Collins (Washington, DC: NDU Press, 2015), 332, https://ndupress.ndu.edu/portals/68/ documents/books/lessons-encountered/lessons-encountered.pdf.

⁶¹Todd Greentree, "Bureaucracy Does Its Thing: U.S. Performance and the Institutional Dimension of Strategy in Afghanistan," *Journal of Strategic Studies* 36, no. 3 (June 1, 2013), 336, https://doi.org/10.1080/01402390.2013.764518.

⁶²Larry Diamond, *Squandered Victory: The American Occupation and the Bungled Effort to Bring Democracy to Iraq* (New York: Henry Holt and Company, 2013), 8.

⁶³ Steve Negus, "Iraq Surge Brings a Lull in Violence but No Reconciliation," *Financial Times*, January 6, 2008.

⁶⁴ Anatol Lieven, "Afghanistan: An Unsuitable Candidate for State Building," *Conflict, Security & Development* 7, no. 3 (October 2007), 483–9, https://doi.
org/10.1080/14678800701556560; Astri Suhrke, "A Contradictory Mission? NATO from
Stabilization to Combat in Afghanistan," *International Peacekeeping* 15, no. 2 (April 2008),
244, https://doi.org/10.1080/13533310802041477.

⁶⁵ Craig Whitlock, *The Afghanistan Papers: A Secret History of the War* (New York: Simon & Schuster, 2021).

⁶⁶ Paul Fishstein and Andrew Wilder, "Winning Hearts and Minds? Examining the Relationship Between Aid and Security in Afghanistan" (Medford, MA: Feinstein International Center, Tufts University, 2012), https://fic.tufts.edu/wp-content/uploads/ WinningHearts-Final.pdf.

⁶⁷ Judd Devermont, "Politics at the Heart of the Crisis in the Sahel," CSIS Brief, Center for Strategic and International Studies, December 2019, 8, https://csis-websiteprod.s3.amazonaws.com/s3fs-public/publication/191206_Devermont_SahelCrisis_layout_ v5.pdf.

⁶⁸ John Bailey and Matthew M. Taylor, "Evade, Corrupt, or Confront? Organized Crime and the State in Brazil and Mexico," *Journal of Politics in Latin America* 1, no. 2 (August 2009), 9, https://doi.org/10.1177/1866802X0900100201.

⁶⁹ Tim Hall and Ray Hudson, "The Economic Geographies of Transnational Organised Crime," in Allum and Gilmour, *The Routledge Handbook of Transnational Organized Crime*, 2nd ed., 185.

⁷⁰ Witness the revelations contained in the data leaks of the so-called Panama Papers (2016) and Paradise Papers (2017).

⁷¹Heather Marquette and Caryn Peiffer, "Corruption and Transnational Organised Crime," in Allum and Gilmour, *The Routledge Handbook of Transnational Organized Crime*, 2nd ed., 476.

⁷²Margaret Beare, "Corruption and Organized Crime: Lessons from History," *Crime, Law, and Social Change* 28, no. 2 (January 1, 1997), 169, https://digitalcommons.osgoode. yorku.ca/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=2228&context=scholarly_works.

⁷³Whitlock, *The Afghanistan Papers*, 123.

⁷⁴Whitlock, *The Afghanistan Papers*, 313–5.

⁷⁵Rebecca Golden-Timsar, "Amnesty and New Violence in The Niger Delta," *Forbes*, March 20, 2018, https://www.forbes.com/sites/uhenergy/2018/03/20/amnesty-and-new-violence-in-the-niger-delta/.

⁷⁶ James O. Finckenauer and Yuri A. Voronin, "The Threat of Russian Organized Crime," *Issues in International Crime* (Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice, 2001), https://www.ojp.gov/pdffiles1/nij/187085.pdf.

⁷⁷ Serguei Cheloukhine et al., "Transnational Organized Crime and Corruption in Russia: Its Origin and Current Development," in Allum and Gilmour, *The Routledge Handbook of Transnational Organized Crime*, 2nd ed., 105–6.

⁷⁸ Nacho Carretero and Arturo Lezcano, "A United Nations of Crime': How Marbella Became a Magnet for Gangsters," *The Guardian*, May 20, 2021, https://www. theguardian.com/news/2021/may/20/a-united-nations-of-how-marbella-becamea-magnet-for-gangsters; Karen Greenaway, "How Emirati Law Enforcement Allows Kleptocrats and Organized Crime to Thrive," in *Dubai's Role in Facilitating Corruption and Global Illicit Financial Flows*, ed. Matthew T. Page and Jodi Vittori (Washington, DC: Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, 2020), 67–78, https://carnegieendowment. org/research/2020/07/dubais-role-in-facilitating-corruption-and-global-illicit-financialflows.

⁷⁹ Peter Andreas, "Symbiosis between Peace Operations and Illicit Business in Bosnia," in *Peace Operations and Organized Crime: Enemies or Allies?* ed. James Cockayne and Adam Lupel, Cass Series on Peacekeeping (Abingdon, UK: Routledge, 2011), 43. ⁸⁰ We are grateful to Tom Rodwell for informing our thinking on this point.

⁸¹For extensive treatment of the political-economy lens, see *inter alia* Mats Berdal and Jake Sherman, eds., *The Political Economy of Civil War and UN Peace Operations*, Studies in Conflict, Development and Peacebuilding (Abingdon, UK: Routledge, 2023); Mats Berdal and Dominik Zaum, "Power After Peace," in *Political Economy of Statebuilding: Power After Peace*, ed. Mats Berdal and Dominik Zaum, Routledge Studies in Intervention and Statebuilding (Abingdon, UK: Routledge, 2013), 1–14; Mats Berdal and David Keen, "The Political Economy of Protectorates and 'Post-Conflict' Intervention," in *The New Protectorates: International Tutelage and the Making of Liberal States*, ed. James Mayall and Ricardo Soares de Oliveira (London: Hurst, 2011), 221–40.

⁸² This section draws extensively on David H. Ucko, *The Insurgent's Dilemma: A Struggle to Prevail* (New York: Oxford University Press, 2022), chap. 6.

⁸³Ken Menkhaus, "Governance Without Government in Somalia: Spoilers, State Building, and the Politics of Coping," *International Security* 31, no. 3 (2006), 78, https:// doi.org/10.1162/isec.2007.31.3.74.

⁸⁴ Volker Boege et al., "On Hybrid Political Orders and Emerging States: What Is Failing—States in the Global South or Research and Politics in the West?" in *Building Peace in the Absence of States: Challenging the Discourse on State Failure*, ed. Martina Fischer and Beatrix Schmelzle, Berghof Handbook Dialogue Series 8 (Berlin: Berghof Forschungszentrum für Konstruktive Konfliktbearbeitung, 2009), 15–36, https:// berghof-foundation.org/library/building-peace-in-the-absence-of-states-challenging-thediscourse-on-state-failure.

⁸⁵ Menkhaus, "Governance Without Government in Somalia," 11.

⁸⁶ Fishstein and Wilder, "Winning Hearts and Minds?" 30, 37.

87 Ucko, "Militias, Tribes, and Insurgents."

⁸⁸ David H. Ucko, "The Five Fallacies of Clear-Hold-Build: Counter-Insurgency, Governance, and Development at the Local Level," *The RUSI Journal* 158, no. 3 (June 2013), 56, https://doi.org/10.1080/03071847.2013.807586.

⁸⁹ Michael Shurkin, "Subnational Government in Afghanistan," Occasional Paper (Santa Monica, CA: RAND, 2011), 9–10, https://www.rand.org/content/dam/rand/pubs/ occasional_papers/2011/RAND_OP318.pdf.

⁹⁰ Stéphanie Pézard and Michael Shurkin, *Achieving Peace in Northern Mali: Past Agreements, Local Conflicts, and the Prospects for a Durable Settlement* (Santa Monica, CA: RAND, 2015), 49, https://www.rand.org/content/dam/rand/pubs/research_reports/RR800/RR892/RAND_RR892.pdf.

⁹¹Bjoern Hofmann, "Are Hybrid Political Orders an Appropriate Concept for State Formation? Timor-Leste Revisited," in Fischer and Schmelzle, *Building Peace in the Absence of States*, 82. ⁹² Siria Gastelum Felix and Ian Tennant, "Community Resilience to Organized Crime: Building Back Better," in Allum and Gilmour, *The Routledge Handbook of Transnational Organized Crime*, 2nd ed., 489.

93 Reitano, "Smugglers Inc.," 213.

⁹⁴Nick Grinstead, "The Khartoum Process: Shifting the Burden," *Clingendael*, February 22, 2016, https://www.clingendael.org/publication/khartoum-process-shiftingburden.

⁹⁵ Maguire, "Kenya's 'War on Poaching," 77.

⁹⁶Gastelum Felix and Tennant, "Community Resilience to Organized Crime," 493.

⁹⁷Comitato Addiopizzo, "Who We Are," https://addiopizzo.org/en/addiopizzo/; Guillermo Vazquez del Mercado Almada, "Saying No to Extortion in Central America: Lessons Learnt From Italy," Global Initiative Against Transnational Organized Crime, July 13, 2020, https://globalinitiative.net/analysis/saying-no-to-extortion/.

⁹⁸Lucia Bird and A. Gomes, "Building Civil Society Resilience to Organized Crime in Guinea-Bissau" (Vienna: Global Initiative Against Transnational Organized Crime, March 2022), https://resiliencefund.globalinitiative.net/wp-content/uploads/2022/03/ Resilience-dialogues-GB-11-March.pdf.

⁹⁹Gastelum Felix and Tennant, "Community Resilience to Organized Crime," 498–500.

¹⁰⁰ Mats Berdal, *Building Peace After War*, Adelphi 407 (Abingdon, UK: Routledge, for the International Institute for Strategic Studies, 2009), 127.

¹⁰¹ Max Fisher and Amanda Taub, "Building a Mini-State With Avocados and Guns," *New York Times*, January 18, 2018.

¹⁰² By 2019, these militias—really a mafia organization—were said to control "roughly a quarter of the Rio de Janeiro metropolitan region," or 45 percent of the city's roughly 1,000 *favelas*. "Mafias Run by Rogue Police Officers Are Terrorising Rio," *The Economist*, May 30, 2019. See also Enrique Desmond Arias, "How Criminals Govern in Latin America and the Caribbean," *Current History* 119, no. 814 (February 2020), 43–5, https://doi.org/10.1525/curh.2020.119.814.43.

¹⁰³ Anja Shortland, "Treasure Mapped: Using Satellite Imagery to Track the Developmental Effects of Somali Piracy," Africa Programme Paper AFP PP 2012/01 (London: Chatham House, January 2012), https://www.chathamhouse.org/sites/default/ files/public/Research/Africa/0112pp_shortland.pdf; Stig Jarle Hansen, *Piracy in the Greater Gulf of Aden: Myths, Misconceptions and Remedies* (Oslo: Norwegian Institute for Urban and Regional Research, 2009), https://web.archive.org/web/20131203024649/http:// www.nibr.no/filer/2009-29-ny.pdf.

¹⁰⁴ Maguire, "Kenya's 'War on Poaching," 78.

¹⁰⁵ Eliot Cohen et al., "Principles, Imperatives, and Paradoxes of Counterinsurgency," *Military Review* 86, no. 2 (2006), https://apps.dtic.mil/sti/tr/pdf/ADA486811.pdf. ¹⁰⁶ Hew Strachan, "Strategy or Alibi? Obama, McChrystal, and the Operational Level of War," *Survival* 52, no. 5 (October 2010), 157–82, https://doi.org/10.1080/00396338.201 0.522104.

¹⁰⁷ Lieven, "Afghanistan."

¹⁰⁸ Eliot A. Cohen, "What's Obama's Counterinsurgency Strategy for Afghanistan?" *Washington Post*, December 6, 2009, http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-dyn/content/article/2009/12/04/AR2009120402602.html.

¹⁰⁹ Rademeyer, "An Unwinnable War," 54.

¹¹⁰ See Robert W. Komer, *Bureaucracy Does Its Thing: Institutional Constraints on U.S.-GVN Performance in Vietnam* (Santa Monica, CA: RAND Corporation, January 1, 1972), https://www.rand.org/pubs/reports/R967.html.

¹¹¹Marquette and Peiffer, "Corruption and Transnational Organised Crime," 473.

¹¹² Jeremy McDermott, "Militarisation of the Drug War in Latin America: A Policy Cycle Set to Continue?" in Reitano et al., *Militarised Responses to Transnational Organised Crime*, 266.

¹¹³ Pien Metaal and Liza ten Velde, "Drugs and Violence in the Northern Triangle— Two Sides of the Same Coin?" *The Broker*, July 3, 2014, https://www.thebrokeronline.eu/ drugs-and-violence-in-the-northern-triangle-d48/.

¹¹⁴ Jeremy Black, *Rethinking Military History* (Abingdon, UK: Routledge, 2004), 142.

¹¹⁵Iffat Idris, "Political Will and Combatting Serious Organised Crime," SOC ACE [Serious Organised Crime & Anti-Corruption Evidence] Research Programme Evidence Review Paper No. 1 (Birmingham, UK: University of Birmingham, 2022), 17–8, https:// www.birmingham.ac.uk/documents/college-social-sciences/government-society/ publications/political-will.pdf.

¹¹⁶Carmen Malena, "Building Will for Participatory Governance: An Introduction," in *From Political Won't to Political Will: Building Support for Participatory Governance*, ed. Carmen Malena (Sterling, VA: Kumarian Press, 2009), 19, https://web.archive.org/ web/20220228123054/https://www.researchgate.net/publication/242417966_from_ political_won't_to_political_will. For adaptation to countering organized crime, see Marquette and Peiffer, "Corruption and Transnational Organised Crime."

¹¹⁷ Idris, "Political Will and Combatting Serious Organised Crime," 11.

¹¹⁸ Graham Brooks, *Criminology of Corruption: Theoretical Approaches* (London: Palgrave Macmillan, 2016), 5.

¹¹⁹ Marquette and Peiffer, "Corruption and Transnational Organised Crime," 477.

¹²⁰ New instruments signed in this period include the United Nations Convention Against Transnational Organized Crime (UNTOC, in 2000); the Protocol to Prevent, Suppress and Punish Trafficking in Persons, Especially Women and Children (2000); the Protocol Against the Smuggling of Migrants by Land, Sea and Air (2000); the Protocol Against the Illicit Manufacturing of and Trafficking in Firearms, Their Parts and Components and Ammunition (2001); and the United Nations Convention Against Corruption (UNCAC, in 2003).

¹²¹ Joint Operating Concept, *Irregular Warfare (IW)*, Version 1.0, 1; Joint Operating Concept, *Irregular Warfare: Countering Irregular Threats*, Version 2.0 (Washington, DC: The Joint Staff, May 17, 2010), 9, https://www.jcs.mil/Portals/36/Documents/Doctrine/concepts/joc_iw_v2.pdf.

¹²² Joint Operating Concept, *Irregular Warfare (IW)*, Version 1.0, 1; Joint Operating Concept, *Irregular Warfare*, Version 2.0, 9.

¹²³ Joint Operating Concept, Irregular Warfare (IW), Version 1.0, 9.

¹²⁴ Stathis N. Kalyvas, *The Logic of Violence in Civil War*, Cambridge Studies in Comparative Politics (New York: Cambridge University Press, 2006), 111–45.

¹²⁵ Marks, Maoist People's War in Post-Vietnam Asia, 41–5.

¹²⁶ Thomas A. Marks, "Counterinsurgency in the Age of Globalism," *Journal of Conflict Studies* 27, no. 1 (Summer 2007), 24–5, https://journals.lib.unb.ca/index.php/JCS/ article/view/5936/9873.

¹²⁷ Lawrence Freedman, *The Transformation of Strategic Affairs*, Adelphi Paper 379 (Abingdon, UK: Routledge, 2006), 22.

¹²⁸ David E. Apter, "Political Violence in Analytical Perspective," in *The Legitimization of Violence*, ed. David E. Apter (Basingstoke, UK: Macmillan in association with UN Research Institute for Social Development, 1997), 9.

¹²⁹ V. I. Lenin, *Selected Works [of] V. I. Lenin* (New York: International Publishers, 1968), 40, https://books.google.com/books?id=y_sNAQAAMAAJ.

¹³⁰ Nguyên Giáp Võ, *People's War, People's Army: The Viet Công Insurrection Manual for Underdeveloped Countries* (New York: Praeger, 1962), 78.

¹³¹See Akil N. Awan, "The Virtual Jihad: An Increasingly Legitimate Form of Warfare," *CTC Sentinel* 3, no. 5 (May 2010), 10–13, https://ctc.westpoint.edu/wp-content/uploads/2010/08/CTCSentinel-Vol3Iss5-art3.pdf.

¹³² Jason Straziuso, "U.S. Team Using Twitter, Facebook to Fight Militants," Associated Press/Yahoo! News, April 12, 2013, https://www.yahoo.com/news/us-teamusing-twitter-facebook-165442125.html; Charlie Winter, *Media Jihad: The Islamic State's Doctrine for Information Warfare* (London: The International Centre for the Study of Radicalisation and Political Violence, 2017), 18, https://icsr.info/wp-content/ uploads/2017/02/ICSR-Report-Media-Jihad-The-Islamic-State%E2%80%99s-Doctrinefor-Information-Warfare.pdf.

¹³³ Department of Defense, "DoD Dictionary of Military and Associated Terms" (Arlington, VA, November 2021), 76. The DoD Dictionary is no longer published online as a PDF available to all users, but the 2021 PDF is archived at https://web.archive.org/web/20220424231228/https://www.jcs.mil/Portals/36/Documents/Doctrine/pubs/dictionary.pdf.

¹³⁴ Joint Operating Concept, *Irregular Warfare (IW)*, Version 1.0, 1; Joint Operating Concept, *Irregular Warfare*, Version 2.0, 9.

¹³⁵ Howard Abadinsky, Organized Crime (Chicago: Nelson Hall, 1992), 5.

¹³⁶ Harold D. Lasswell, *Politics: Who Gets What, When, How* (New York: Meridian Books, 1958).

¹³⁷ Antulio Joseph Echevarria II, *Clausewitz and Contemporary War* (Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press, 2007), 182.

¹³⁸ Cord Schmelzle, "Evaluating Governance: Effectiveness and Legitimacy in Areas of Limited Statehood," SSRN Scholarly Paper (Rochester, NY: Social Science Research Network, January 16, 2012), 7, https://papers.ssrn.com/abstract=1986017.

¹³⁹ Seymour Martin Lipset, *Political Man: The Social Bases of Politics*, 2nd ed. (London: Heinemann, 1983), 64.

¹⁴⁰ This framing informs the official military, or "doctrinal," definition of counterinsurgency as a set of "comprehensive civilian and military efforts designed to simultaneously defeat and contain insurgency *and address its root causes*" (emphasis added). See Joint Publication 3-24, "Counterinsurgency" (Washington, DC: The Joint Staff, April 25, 2018), xiii, https://irp.fas.org/doddir/dod/jp3_24.pdf. Of course, what precisely the root causes are, and how they may be addressed, should and must elicit healthy discussion.

¹⁴¹ Criminal Intelligence Service Canada (CISC), "Strategic Early Warning for Criminal Intelligence Theoretical Framework and Sentinel Methodology" (Ottawa, Canada: CISC, 2007), 7, https://publications.gc.ca/collections/collection_2013/sp-ps/ PS64-107-2007-eng.pdf.

¹⁴² Général de Lattre, "Foch," *Revue des deux mondes*,1949 no. 4 (February 1949),588, https://www.revuedesdeuxmondes.fr/article-revue/foch/.

¹⁴³ Marquette and Peiffer, "Corruption and Transnational Organised Crime," 473.

¹⁴⁴ Matt Andrews et al., "Escaping Capability Traps Through Problem-Driven Iterative Adaptation (PDIA)," CID Working Paper (Cambridge, MA, Center for International Development at Harvard University, 2012), 237, https://www.hks.harvard. edu/sites/default/files/centers/cid/files/publications/faculty-working-papers/240_ Andrews,+Pritchett,+Woolcock_BeyondCapabilityTraps_PDIA_FINAL.pdf.

¹⁴⁵ Skaperdas, "The Political Economy of Organized Crime," 180.

¹⁴⁶ Berdal and Sherman, *The Political Economy of Civil War and UN Peace Operations*.

¹⁴⁷ Maguire, "Kenya's 'War on Poaching," 65.

¹⁴⁸ Claudio Ramos da Cruz and David H. Ucko, "Beyond the *Unidades de Polícia Pacificadora*: Countering Comando Vermelho's Criminal Insurgency," *Small Wars & Insurgencies* 29, no. 1 (January 2, 2018), 39–43, https://doi.org/10.1080/09592318.2018.14 04772. ¹⁴⁹ Donatella della Porta and Mario Diani, *Social Movements: An Introduction*, 2nd ed (Malden, MA: Blackwell Publishing, 2006), 74–88.

¹⁵⁰ Skaperdas, "The Political Economy of Organized Crime," 185.

¹⁵¹Enrique Desmond Arias, "Gang Politics in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil," in *Global Gangs: Street Violence Across the World*, ed. Jennifer M. Hazen and Dennis Rodgers (Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press, 2014); Enrique Desmond Arias, *Criminal Enterprises and Governance in Latin America and the Caribbean* (New York: Cambridge University Press, 2017).

¹⁵² Gernot Klantschnig and Ini Dele-Adedeji, "Opioid of the People: The Moral Economy of Tramadol in Lagos," *Politique africaine* 163, no. 3 (2021), 98, 103, https://doi. org/10.3917/polaf.163.0085.

¹⁵³Kelly, "Rule of Law Approaches to Countering Transnational Organized Crime in Africa," 432.

¹⁵⁴ Arthur Lykke, "Defining Military Strategy," *Military Review* 69, no. 5 (May 1989),
3. Available online from a later reprint (*Military Review* 77, no. 1 [January–February 1997]) at https://www.armyupress.army.mil/Portals/7/military-review/Archives/
English/75th-Anniversary/75th-PDF/75th-Lykke.pdf.

¹⁵⁵ Humphreys and Smith, "Militarised Responses to the Illegal Wildlife Trade," 32–7.

¹⁵⁶ Blundo and Olivier de Sardan, *Everyday Corruption and the State*; Walton, "Is All Corruption Dysfunctional?"

¹⁵⁷ James Cockayne and Daniel Pfister, "Peace Operations and Organised Crime," Geneva Papers (Geneva: Geneva Center for Security Policy, 2008), 18, https://ciaotest. cc.columbia.edu/wps/gcsp/0016992/f_0016992_14528.pdf.

¹⁵⁸ Frank G. Hoffman, "The Missing Element in Crafting National Strategy: A Theory of Success," *Joint Force Quarterly* 97, no. 2 (2020), https://inss.ndu.edu/Portals/68/ Documents/jfq/jfq-97_55-64_Hoffman.pdf.

¹⁵⁹ For example, to continue with the typology suggested by Cockayne and Pfister, symbiotic actors "may be more open to political settlements that bring favorable economic payoffs," whereas predatory actors are less likely to be interested in formal state integration and may require a heavier emphasis on criminal justice. Cockayne and Pfister, "Peace Operations and Organised Crime," 18.

¹⁶⁰ For the etiology of this approach, see, for example, Thomas A. Marks, "Counterinsurgency and Operational Art," *Low Intensity Conflict & Law Enforcement* 13, no. 3 (2005), https://doi.org/10.1080/09662840600560527; Marks, *Maoist People's War in Post-Vietnam Asia*.

¹⁶¹ John P. Sullivan, "How Illicit Networks Impact Sovereignty," in *Convergence: Illicit Networks and National Security in the Age of Globalization*, ed. Michael Miklaucic and Jacqueline Brewer (Washington, DC: NDU Press, 2013), 171–88, https://ndupress.ndu. edu/portals/68/documents/books/convergence.pdf.

¹⁶²Luke Dowdney, *Children of the Drug Trade: A Case Study of Children in Organised Armed Violence in Rio de Janeiro* (Rio de Janeiro: 7Letras, 2003), 53, https://resourcecentre.savethechildren.net/pdf/3261.pdf/.

¹⁶³ Echevarria, Clausewitz and Contemporary War, 182.

¹⁶⁴ Schmelzle, "Evaluating Governance," 7.

¹⁶⁵ U.S. Department of Defense, "DoD Dictionary of Military and Associated Terms," 54.

¹⁶⁶ Hoffman, "The Missing Element in Crafting National Strategy"; Michael J. Mooney, "A Military Assessment of the Islamic State's Evolving Theory of Victory," *War on the Rocks*, June 26, 2017, https://warontherocks.com/2017/06/a-military-assessment-of-the-islamic-states-evolving-theory-of-victory/.

¹⁶⁷ Lawrence Freedman, "Stop Looking for the Center of Gravity," *War on the Rocks*, June 24, 2014, https://warontherocks.com/2014/06/stop-looking-for-the-center-ofgravity/.

¹⁶⁸See Kelly, "Rule of Law Approaches to Countering Transnational Organized Crime in Africa."

¹⁶⁹ Ian Ralby, "Approaches to Piracy, Armed Robbery at Sea, and Other Maritime Crime in West and Central Africa," in Reitano et al., *Militarised Responses to Transnational Organised Crime*, 140.

¹⁷⁰ These onshore challenges include "local inaccessibility of public services, high youth unemployment, low public trust in institutions and a high rate of corruption perception." The reduction in piracy has coincided with increases in riverine crime, including "activities such as oil bunkering and theft." See Alan Laifer, "Piracy in the Gulf of Guinea and the Effects of Unstable Governance," *Security Outlines*, March 11, 2024, https://www.securityoutlines.cz/piracy-in-the-gulf-of-guinea-and-the-effects-of-unstable-governance/.

¹⁷¹Glen Forbes, "Replicating Success? A Military Response to Maritime Piracy, the Somalia Experience," in Reitano et al., *Militarised Responses to Transnational Organised Crime*, 119.

¹⁷² Peter Viggo Jakobsen and Troels Burchall Henningsen, "Success Defying All Expectations: How and Why Limited Use of Force Helped to End Somali Piracy," *Journal of Strategic Studies* 47, no. 2 (June 21, 2023, 12, https://doi.org/10.1080/01402390.2023.22 27356. See also Anja Shortland, "Dangers of Success: The Economics of Somali Piracy," in Reitano et al., *Militarised Responses to Transnational Organised Crime*, 178.

¹⁷³ Jakobsen and Henningsen, "Success Defying All Expectations," 20.

¹⁷⁴ Joseph Wheatley, "Transnational Organized Crime: A Survey of Laws, Policies and International Conventions," in Allum and Gilmour, *The Routledge Handbook of Transnational Organized Crime*, 2nd ed., 51–66.

¹⁷⁵ Peter Roberts, "The Militarisation of Migration: From Triton to Sofia: Assessing the Credibility of the EU's Naval Interventions Against Migrant Smuggling in the Mediterranean," in Reitano et al., *Militarised Responses to Transnational Organised Crime*, 226.

¹⁷⁶ Constantin von der Groeben, "The Conflict in Colombia and the Relationship between Humanitarian Law and Human Rights Law in Practice: Analysis of the New Operational Law of the Colombian Armed Forces," Journal of Conflict and Security Law 16, no. 1 (Spring 2011), 141–64, https://doi.org/10.1093/jcsl/krr004. As von der Groeben further explains, the status of an operation would be determined on a case-by-case basis by a Grupo Asesor and an Asesor Juridico Operacional, based on the military balance and the organizational capacity of the adversary (based on intelligence). The norms would be set up to inform several types of actions at once rather than one by one, and subsequent investigations would help to ensure dedication to the principle at hand.

¹⁷⁷ Ralby, "Approaches to Piracy, Armed Robbery at Sea, and Other Maritime Crime in West and Central Africa," 132.

¹⁷⁸ Examples include the West Africa Coast Initiative, the Sahel Judicial Platform, and the Great Lakes Judicial Cooperation Network.

¹⁷⁹ U.S. Army Training and Doctrine Command, *The Red Team Handbook: The Army's Guide to Making Better Decisions*, Version 9.0 (Fort Leavenworth, KS: University of Foreign Military and Cultural Studies, 2008).

¹⁸⁰ James A. Dewar et al., *Assumption-Based Planning: A Planning Tool for Very Uncertain Times:* (Santa Monica, CA: RAND, 1993), 9, https://www.rand.org/pubs/monograph_reports/MR114.html.

¹⁸¹ Thomas A. Marks, "Urban Insurgency," *Small Wars & Insurgencies* 14, no. 3 (September 2003), 134–5, https://doi.org/10.1080/09592310410001676925.

¹⁸²Ucko, The Insurgent's Dilemma, 167.

¹⁸³ Idris, "Political Will and Combatting Serious Organised Crime"; Malena, "Building Will for Participatory Governance," 3–30.

¹⁸⁴ David Kilcullen, *The Accidental Guerrilla: Fighting Small Wars in the Midst of a Big One* (New York: Oxford University Press, 2011), 71.

¹⁸⁵ Ben Connable, *Embracing the Fog of War: Assessment and Metrics in Counterinsurgency* (Santa Monica, CA: RAND, 2012), 93, https://www.rand.org/content/dam/rand/pubs/monographs/2012/RAND_MG1086.pdf.

¹⁸⁶Lynette M.B. Arnhart and Marvin L. King, "Are We There Yet? Implementing Best Practices in Assessments," *Military Review*, June 2018, 20–9, https://www.armyupress. army.mil/Portals/7/military-review/Archives/English/King-Arnhart-Are-We-There.pdf.

¹⁸⁷ Cf. Thomas A. Marks, "Evaluating Insurgent/Counterinsurgent Performance," Small Wars & Insurgencies 11, no.3 (Winter 2000), 21-46, https://doi. org/10.1080/09592310008423288. ¹⁸⁸ Michael J. Mazarr, "Rethinking Risk in Defense," War on the Rocks, April 13, 2015, https://warontherocks.com/2015/04/rethinking-risk-in-defense/. 189 Reitano, "Smugglers Inc.," 209. ¹⁹⁰ Erickson, "How U.S. Customs and Border Protection Became the World's Largest Militarised Police Force," 248. ¹⁹¹ Headquarters, Department of the Army, "Risk Management," ATP 5-19 (Washington, DC, September 8, 2014), 1-10, https://www.armyresilience.army.mil/ard/ images/pdf/policy/atp%205-19%20risk%20management.pdf. 192 Mazarr, "Rethinking Risk in Defense." ¹⁹³ https://publications.gc.ca/collections/collection_2013/sp-ps/PS64-107-2007-eng. pdf. ¹⁹⁴ https://portal.cops.usdoj.gov/resourcecenter/content.ashx/cops-p142-pub.pdf. 195 https://www.oecd.org/content/dam/oecd/en/publications/ reports/2011/02/supporting-statebuilding-in-situations-of-conflict-and-fragility_ g1g125a0/9789264074989-en.pdf. ¹⁹⁶ http://shq.lasdnews.net/content/uoa/shb/publications/terrorismearlywarning.pdf. 197 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/joint-analysis-of-conflict-andstability-jacs-guidance-note. ¹⁹⁸ https://sherloc.unodc.org/cld/uploads/pdf/Strategies/OC_Strategy_Toolkit_ Ebook.pdf. ¹⁹⁹ https://2009-2017.state.gov/documents/organization/187786.pdf.

²⁰⁰ https://web.archive.org/web/20190813221308/https://pdf.usaid.gov/pdf_docs/PDACS300.pdf.

²⁰¹ https://www.cvereferenceguide.org/sites/default/files/resources/Conflict%20 Assessment%20Framework%20-%20Version%202.0.pdf.

²⁰² https://web.archive.org/web/20241209100827/https://pdf.usaid.gov/pdf_docs/ PNADY740.pdf.

²⁰³ https://web.archive.org/web/20240929112047/https://www.usaid.gov/sites/ default/files/2022-05/VEI_Policy_Final.pdf.

²⁰⁴ https://loveman.sdsu.edu/supplement/docs/USAIDJanuary2005.pdf.

²⁰⁵ https://web.archive.org/web/20241223010105/https://pdf.usaid.gov/pdf_docs/ Pdacs686.pdf.

²⁰⁶ https://web.archive.org/web/20240714101913/https://2017-2020.usaid.gov/sites/ default/files/documents/1866/SSG-and-Justice-Indicators-Guide-6-2019.pdf.

²⁰⁷ https://web.archive.org/web/20170222094723/https://pdf.usaid.gov/pdf_docs/ pnaed181.pdf. ²⁰⁸ https://unsdg.un.org/sites/default/files/2017-UNDAF_Guidance_01-May-2017. pdf.

²⁰⁹ It is perhaps useful to highlight that even considering *macro, micro*, and *meso* in such order deviates from the norm, which almost universally simply considers context (*macro*), organization (*meso*), and individual (*micro*). It should be clear this is not of greatest utility to practitioners. For further treatment, see Thomas A. Marks, "Combating 'Terrorism': A Strategic Warfighting Perspective," in *The Fragility of Order: Essays in Honour of K.P.S. Gill*, ed. Ajai Sahni (New Delhi: Kautilya Books and The Institute for Conflict Management, 2019), 99–128.

²¹⁰ Within a broad academic literature devoted to empathy, it can be helpfully defined as "imagining or simulating another's experience and perspective, to better understand them. Empathy, in this sense, is rational and cognitive . . . a tool for understanding the way another person thinks, feels, or perceives. It enables us to comprehend another's mindset, driving emotions, or outlook, without requiring us to share the other's thoughts, feelings, and perceptions, or, indeed, approve of them." See Matt Waldman, "Strategic Empathy," New America Foundation, April 2014, 2, https:// static.newamerica.org/attachments/4350-strategic-empathy-2/Waldman%20Strategic%20 Empathy_2.3caa1c3d706143f1a8cae6a7d2ce70c7.pdf.

²¹¹ David H. Ucko and Thomas A. Marks, "Organised Crime as Irregular Warfare: Strategic Lessons for Assessment and Response," SOC ACE [Serious Organised Crime & Anti-Corruption Evidence] Research Programme Research Paper No. 4 (Birmingham, UK: University of Birmingham, 2022), https://www.birmingham.ac.uk/documents/ college-social-sciences/government-society/publications/organised-crime-irregularwarfare-report.pdf.

²¹² https://www.socace-research.org.uk/publications/framework-for-countering-organised-crime-rp19-nwy5t.

²¹³ https://ndupress.ndu.edu/Portals/68/Documents/strat-monograph/Crafting-Strategy-for-Irregular warfare_2ndEd.pdf.

About the Authors

Dr. David H. Ucko is the Head of Net Assessment at North Atlantic Treaty Organization (NATO) Headquarters in Brussels. In this capacity, he is responsible for leading the assessments of strategically relevant asymmetries and in briefing these products to NATO's political and military leadership. Prior to joining NATO, Dr. Ucko was a Professor in the College of International



Security Affairs (CISA) at the National Defense University in Washington, DC, where he taught irregular warfare and strategy to international military and civilian practitioners. Dr. Ucko has published widely on war-to-peace transition, strategy, and conflict analysis. His most recent books are *The Insurgent's Dilemma: A Struggle to Prevail* (Hurst/Oxford University Press, 2022) and, with Thomas A. Marks, *Crafting Strategy for Irregular Warfare: A Framework for Analysis and Action*, 2nd ed. (NDU Press, 2022). His publications also include several other works and peerreviewed articles on political violence, strategy, and irregular warfare. Dr. Ucko has previously worked for various academic and think-tank institutions, including the Department of War Studies at King's College London, the RAND Corporation in Washington, DC, the Stiftung Wissenschaft und Politik in Berlin, and the International Institute for Strategic Studies in both in Washington, DC, and in London. He obtained his Ph.D. in the Department of War Studies in 2007.

Dr. Thomas A. Marks is Distinguished Professor and MG Edward G. Lansdale Chair of Irregular Warfighting Strategy in CISA. He assumed his present rank and position on July 1, 2016, after 12 years as the founding chair of the War and Conflict Studies Department and professor of terrorism at CISA. He was asked to occupy these positions following the attacks of September 11 because of his extensive academic and field experience concerning irregular warfare strategy and operations.



